
           
CITY OF TEXAS CITY

REGULAR CALLED CITY COMMISSION MEETING

AGENDA

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 1, 2023- 5:00 P.M.
KENNETH T. NUNN COUNCIL ROOM -  CITY HALL

 1801 9th Ave. N.
Texas City, TX  77590

PLEASE NOTE: Public comments and matters from the floor are generally limited to 3 minutes in length.
If you would like to request to speak, please do so in advance of the meeting by filling out a Request To
Address Commission form. All in attendance are required to remove hats and/or sunglasses (dark
glasses) during meetings and to also silence all cell phones and electronic devices.
 

           
(1) ROLL CALL   
 

(2) INVOCATION   
 

(3) PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 

(4) REPORTS   
 

(a) Human Resources Annual Report (HR)
 

(b) Finance Quarterly Report for quarter ended September 30, 2023.
 
(5) PUBLIC COMMENTS   
 

(6) CONSENT AGENDA   
 

(a) Approve City Commission Minutes for the October 18, 2023 meeting. (City Secretary)
 

(b) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-117, approving a ARKK Engineers,
LLC. purchase order change orders for the City of Texas City's GLO Contract No.
22-119-003-D373 Community Development Block Grant Mitigation Program
Infrastructure Projects Non-Research & Development Mitigation Funding. (Public Works)

 
(c) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2013-118, approving an extension of the



(c) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2013-118, approving an extension of the
agreement for professional services with Public Consulting Group, Inc. (PCG)
to continue a program that provides additional revenue to the Fire Department EMS
program through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Ambulance
Supplemental Pay Program (ASPP). (Fire Department)

 
(d) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-119, authorizing the purchase of 462

Visa gift cards in the amount of $50.00 each to be given to the City Employees (full time
and part-time), as an incentive for continued outstanding customer service and
performance. (Human Resources)

 
(e) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-120, ratification of the submission of

the application to HUD for the PRO Housing Grant. (Community Development/Grants
Administration)

 
(f) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-121, authorizing the purchase of a

2025 International 14 yard dump truck from Santex Truck Center, LTD in San Antonio,
Texas through the HGACBuy Cooperative Purchasing Program for the total contract
price of $140,381.00. (Public Works)

 
(g) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-122, authorizing the purchase of a

Tymco model 600 sweeper from Tymco, Inc. through a BuyBoard purchasing
cooperative for the total contract amount of $358,948.20. (Public Works)

 
(h) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-123, authorizing the purchase of a

2024 F350 truck with utility bed and crane, for the Traffic Department, from Chastang
Ford via BuyBoard, a Local Government Purchasing Cooperative for the contract price
of $68,296.00. (Public Works)

 
(i) Consider and take action Resolution No. 2023-124, authorizing the purchase, delivery

and installation of a Covered Outdoor Commercial Adult Fitness Station for Carver Park
from Playpower LT Farmington, Inc through BuyBoard (Contract No.  679-22) – local
government purchasing cooperative, in the amount of $112,073.00. (Recreation and
Tourism)

 
(j) Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-125 approving the purchase of

construction services for Godard Park Buildings from Generocity Services, Inc. (Contract
No. 23/016MR-17) - local government purchasing cooperative, in the amount of
$59,732.05. (Recreation and Tourism)

 
(7) REGULAR ITEMS   
 

(a) Consider and take action on the third and final reading of Ordinance No. 2023-37,
amending the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter
151: Electricity; Section 151.080 Entitled “National Electrical Code Adopted: Conflicting
Regulations." (Legal/Building Official)

 
(b) Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-39, amending



(b) Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-39, amending
the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 150:
Building Regulations; Construction" to adopt the most current International Building
Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

 
(c) Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-40, amending

the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 152: Gas,"
to adopt the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

 
(d) Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-41, amending

the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 153:
Mechanical Regulations," to adopt the most current International Building
Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

 
(e) Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-42, amending

the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 154:
Plumbing," to adopt the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building
Official)

 
(8) COMMISSIONERS' COMMENTS   
 

(9) MAYOR'S COMMENTS   
 

(10) ADJOURNMENT   
 

NOTICE OF ANY SUBJECT APPEARING ON THIS AGENDA REGARDLESS OF HOW THE MATTER
IS STATED MAY BE ACTED UPON BY THE CITY COMMISSION.
NOTICE: The City of Texas City will furnish free transportation to handicapped individuals via a 4-door
sedan for anyone wishing to attend the City Commission meetings.  Call 948-3111, City Secretary's
Office before noon on Monday preceding the meeting to make arrangements.

I, THE UNDERSIGNED AUTHORITY, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS NOTICE OF MEETING WAS
POSTED ON THE BULLETIN BOARDS AT CITY HALL, 1801 9TH AVENUE NORTH, TEXAS CITY,
TEXAS, AT A PLACE CONVENIENT AND READILY ACCESSIBLE TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC AND
ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE ON OCTOBER 27, 2023, PRIOR TO 5:00 P.M. AND REMAINED SO
POSTED CONTINUOUSLY FOR AT LEAST 72 HOURS PRECEDING THE SCHEDULED TIME OF
SAID MEETING.

______________________
RHOMARI LEIGH
CITY SECRETARY
  



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (4) (a)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Human Resources Annual Report (HR)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Staff Report 
attachment 



HUMAN RESOURCES

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
FOR 2024



HUMAN RESOURCES

Open Enrollment for 2024
• In person November 13th-16th in the Surf Room at 

the Nessler Center.
• Employees will have until November 24th to finish 

up their elections in Employee Self Service (ESS).
• Open enrollment is your only opportunity to make 

changes to your current benefits outside of having 
a qualifying event (marriage, divorce, birth of a 
child, etc.).



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES



HUMAN RESOURCES
• Flexible Spending Account – an account for pretax contributions you can use to pay for 

qualified healthcare expenses.  $3,050 is the maximum for 2024. 

• Dependent Care Account – an account for pretax contributions you can use to pay for 
eligible dependent care expenses.  $5,000 is the maximum per family or $2,500 if you and 
your spouse file separate tax returns.

• Health Savings Account – an account for pretax contributions to pay for qualified 
healthcare expenses.  You must be enrolled and covered under a qualified high 
deductible health plan.  $4,150 is the maximum for 2024 for employee only coverage, 
$8,300 for family coverage, and you can also contribute an extra $1,000 if you are aged 
55+.
• For 2024, the City of Texas City is contributing $750 into health savings accounts for 

employee only coverage and $1,500 for family coverage.



HUMAN RESOURCES

• Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) – while you are an active 
employee, provides a benefit to your named beneficiary after your death.
• Full time employees are covered with three (3) times their annual base salary up to 

$150,000 and $250,000 for AD&D.
• Firefighters are covered by a flat $10,000 benefit per their contract.

• Long Term Disability – a benefit to replace part of your lost income when you become 
unable to work due to a covered injury or illness.
• Full time employees are eligible and benefits begin after the 180th day of disability.  

The benefit is 60% of your salary up to a maximum monthly benefit of $6,000.

• Employee Assistance Program (EAP) – a confidential program to support employees 
and their families.  The EAP can help with mental health, relationship conflicts, 
substance abuse, grief, financial or legal issues, and so much more.



HUMAN RESOURCES

• Accident – A benefit paid when there are medical expenses related to an off the job 
accident (broken bones, dislocations, concussions, etc.).

• Cancer and Critical Illness – A benefit paid when a major illness (cancer, heart attack, 
stroke, etc.) is diagnosed. 

• Hospital Indemnity – A benefit paid for expenses associated with hospital stays.
• GAP – Reimburses for copays, coinsurance, deductibles, and other out of pocket 

expenses.
• Short Term Disability – Provides you with pay when you can’t work due to an off the job 

illness or injury.  60% of your weekly earnings.  7 day waiting period and 25 weeks is 
the maximum benefit.

• Supplemental Life Insurance – Additional life insurance for yourself (up to $300,000), 
your spouse (up to $150,000) or your children (up to $10,000) up to age 26.  



HUMAN RESOURCES
New Benefit for 2024



HUMAN RESOURCES

Questions?



Benefits
Guide

2024

Health  •  Financial  •  Work-Life
January 1 - December 31, 2024

EXPLORE NOW



Inside
Medical
Voluntary Benefits
Dental
Vision
Flexible Spending Accounts 
(FSAs)
Life and AD&D
Disability
Employee Assistance Program 
(EAP)
Valuable Extras
Medical GAP Insurance
Payroll Deductions
Contact Information

Enrollment
Please complete enrollment forms 
and submit to Human Resources.

Welcome

Required Information—You will be required to enter a Social Security number (SSN) for all covered dependents when you enroll. The 
Affordable Care Act (ACA) requires the city to report this information to the IRS each year to show that you and your dependents have 
coverage. This information will be securely submitted to the IRS and will remain confidential.

Your benefits are an important part of your overall compensation. We are 
pleased to offer a comprehensive array of valuable benefits to protect your 
health, family and way of life. This guide answers some of the basic questions 
you may have about your benefits. Please read it carefully, along with any 
supplemental materials you receive.

Eligibility
You are eligible for benefits if you work 30 or more 
hours per week. You may also enroll your eligible family 
members under certain plans you choose for yourself. 
Eligible family members include:

ꢀ} Your legally married spouse

ꢀ} Your biological children, stepchildren, adopted children 
or children for whom you have legal custody (age 
restrictions may apply). Disabled children age 26 or 
older who meet certain criteria may continue on your 
health coverage.

When Coverage Begins
ꢀ} New Hires: You must complete the enrollment 

process within 30 days of your date of hire. Medical, 
Dental and Vision benefits are effective after 90 
days of employment.  Life Insurance and Long 
Term Disability are effective after 6 months of 
employment.. 

ꢀ} If you fail to enroll on time, you will NOT have 
benefits coverage (except for city-paid benefits) until 
you enroll during our next annual Open Enrollment 
period.

ꢀ} Open Enrollment: Changes made during Open 
Enrollment are effective January 1 - December 31, 
2024.

Choose Carefully!
Due to IRS regulations, you cannot change your 
elections until the next annual Open Enrollment period, 
unless you have a qualifying life event during the year. 
Following are examples of the most common qualifying 
life events: 

ꢀ} Marriage or divorce

ꢀ} Birth or adoption of a child 

ꢀ} Child reaching the maximum age limit

ꢀ} Death of a spouse or child 

ꢀ} You lose coverage under your spouse’s plan

ꢀ} You gain access to state coverage under Medicaid or 
The Children’s Health Insurance Program

Making Changes
To change your benefit elections, you must contact 
Human Resources within 30 days of the qualifying life 
event. Be prepared to show documentation of the event, 
such as a marriage license, birth certificate or a divorce 
decree. If changes are not submitted on time, you must 
wait until the next Open Enrollment period to make your 
election changes.

Click here to watch a video about qualifying life events.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 2 / 11



Medical
We are proud to offer you a choice of medical plans that provide comprehensive medical 
and prescription drug coverage. The plans also offer many resources and tools to help you 
maintain a healthy lifestyle. Following is a brief description of each plan.   

Cigna HDHP OAP IN
The HDHP OAP IN plan gives you in-network access to a wide range of physicians and 
hospitals.  Services received outside the network are not covered, except in the case of 
emergency medical care.

ꢀ} The plan pays the full cost of qualified in-network preventive health care services. 
ꢀ} You pay the full cost of non-preventive health care services until you meet the annual 

deductible. NOTE: If you enroll one or more family members, each covered family 
member is only required to meet the INDIVIDUAL deductible (up to the family limit) 
before the plan starts to pay expenses for that individual.

ꢀ} Once you meet the deductible, you pay a percentage of your health care expenses 
(coinsurance) and the plan pays the rest. 

ꢀ} Once your deductible and coinsurance add up to the out-of-pocket maximum, the plan 
pays the full cost of all qualified health care services for the rest of the year. NOTE: If you 
enroll one or more family members, each covered family member is only required to 
meet the INDIVIDUAL out-of-pocket maximum (up to the family limit) before the plan 
starts to pay covered services at 100% for that individual.

Health Savings Account
The HDHP OAP IN comes with a type of savings account called a health savings account 
(HSA). The HSA lets you set aside pre-tax dollars to help offset your annual deductible and 
pay for qualified health care expenses. 

Here’s how the HSA works:

ꢀ} You contribute pre-tax funds to the HSA through automatic payroll deductions.

ꢀ} The City of Texas City will also contribute to you HSA; city contribution amounts can be 
found on the medical overview grid. 

ꢀ} Your contributions, in addition to the city’s contributions, may not exceed the IRS limits 
listed below. 

HSA Contribution Limit 2024
Employee Only $4,150

Family (employee + 1 or more) $8,300

Catch-up (age 55+) $1,000

ꢀ} You can withdraw HSA funds, tax free, to pay for qualified health care expenses now 
or in the future. Unused funds roll over from year to year and are yours to keep, even 
if you change medical plans or leave your employer.

Important Notes:

ꢀ} You must meet certain eligibility requirements to have an HSA: You must a) be at least 18 
years old, b) be covered under a qualified HDHP, c) not be enrolled in Medicare Part A or 
Part B or TRICARE programs and d) cannot be claimed as a dependent on another person’s 
tax return. For more information, visit www.irs.gov/forms-pubs/about-publication-969. 

ꢀ} For a complete list of qualified health care expenses, visit  
***.irs.gov/forms-pubs/about-publication-502.

ꢀ} Adult children must be claimed as dependents on your tax return for their medical 
expenses to qualify for payment or reimbursement from your HSA. 

Cigna Core OAP IN
The CORE OAP IN plan works like a traditional PPO in giving you access to a wider range 
of in-network physicians and hospitals. This plan promotes copay applicable doctor visits, 
urgent care services and prescription drug benefits. Services received outside the network 
are not covered, except in the case of emergency medical care.

Cigna LocalPlus EPO
The LocalPlus EPO plan works like an HMO in that it provides access to a narrower list of 
in-network of physicians and hospitals; however, you are not required to select a Primary 
Care Physician (PCP). This plan includes copay applicable doctor visits, urgent care 
services and prescription drug benefits. Services received outside the network are not 
covered, except in the case of emergency medical care. 

ZERO Smart Shopper
What if taking care of yourself and your family cost you zero? Enrollment in the LocalPlus 
EPO or CORE OAP IN gives you access to these and more at ZERO cost.

ꢀ} Labs & Imaging 
ZERO covers common lab work and imaging including: MRIs, CT Scans, X-Rays, 
Pathology and more.

ꢀ} Surgeries 
ZERO covers Orthopedic, Spine & General Surgery such as Gallbladder and Hernia.

ꢀ} Gastro 
ZERO covers Gastroenterology procedures like Colonoscopies and Endoscopies. 

ꢀ} And More… 
ZERO also covers many other procedures like, ENT, Sleep Studies, Women’s Health, 
Pain Managememt, and more.

Visit www.zero.health to chat live and get your ZERO Member ID Card.

Call 855-816-0001 or email help@zero.health for more information.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 3 / 11



Medical (Continued)
The following is a high-level overview of the coverage available. For complete coverage details, please refer to the Summary Plan Description (SPD).

Key Medical Benefits
Cigna

HDHP OAP IN

With ZERO Smart Shopper
Only for LocalPlus EPO and Core OAP IN 

Plan Participants

Cigna
LocalPlus EPO

Cigna  
Core OAP IN

In-Network Only1 In-Network Only2 In-Network Only1 In-Network Only1

Deductible (per calendar year)

Individual / Family $3,200 / $6,000 $0 / $0 $2,000 / $4,000 $1,500 / $2,000

Out-of-Pocket Maximum (per calendar year)

Individual / Family $3,200 / $6,000 $0 / $0 $4,000 / $8,000 $3,000 / $6,000

City of Texas City Contribution to Your Health Savings Account (HSA) (per calendar year; prorated for new hires/newly eligible employees)

Individual / Family $750 / $1,500 N/A N/A N/A

Covered Services

Office Visits (physician/specialist) $0* $0 for allowable visits $30 / $60 copay; No PCP charge for 
dependents under 19 years old $30 / $50 copay

Virtual Visits $0* N/A $30 copay $10 copay

Routine Preventive Care No charge N/A No charge No charge

Outpatient Diagnostic (lab/X-ray) $0* $0 for allowable diagnostics 20%* 20%*

Complex Imaging $0* $0 for allowable diagnostics 20%* 20%*

 Airrosti Physical Therapy3 $0* $0 for allowable visits $20 copay $20 copay

Ambulance $0* N/A 20%* 20%*

Emergency Room $0* N/A $300 copay; waived if admitted $250 copay, then $500 copay thereafter; 
waived if admitted

Urgent Care Facility $0* N/A $50 copay $35 copay

Inpatient Hospital Stay $0* N/A 20%* 20%*

Outpatient Surgery $0* $0 for allowable surgery 20%* 20%*

Prescription Drugs (Generic / Brand / Non-Formulary / Specialty)

Retail Pharmacy (30-day supply) $0* N/A $10 / $40 / $80 / NA $10 / $40 / $80 / NA

Mail Order (90-day supply) $0* N/A $20 / $80 / $160 / $125 $20 / $80 / $160 / $125

Coinsurance percentages and copay amounts shown in the above chart represent what the member is responsible for paying.
*Benefits with an asterisk ( * ) require that the deductible be met before the Plan begins to pay. 
1. Only In-Network services and discounts are available.  You will be responsible for 100% of the cost if you visit an out-of-network provider.
2. $0 cost services are available when coordinating care through one of ZERO’s Personal Health Assistants.
3. All plans provide a 60-visits Therapy Visit Limitation with an in-network provider. Other in-network providers may charge a specialty fee or copay.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 4 / 11



1. Why health insurance is important: Protection from high medical costs. HealthCare.gov
2. Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries by type in the USA, December 2019. National Library of Medicine.
3. MetLife Accident and Critical Illness Impact Study.
4. Cancer Facts & Figures, 2021. American Cancer Society.

Voluntary Benefits
Our benefit plans are here to help you and your family live well—and stay well. But did you know that you can strengthen your coverage even further? It’s true! Our voluntary benefits 
through Cigna are designed to complement your health care coverage and allow you to customize our benefits to you and your family’s needs. The best part? Benefits from these 
plans are paid directly to you! Coverage is also available for your spouse and dependents. 

You can enroll in these plans during Open Enrollment—they’re completely voluntary, which means you are responsible for paying for coverage at affordable group rates. 

Accident Insurance
Accident insurance can soften the financial impact of an accidental injury by paying a 
benefit to you to help cover the unexpected out-of-pocket costs related to treating your 
injuries. Some accidents, like breaking your leg, may seem straightforward: You visit the 
doctor, take an X-ray, put on a cast and rest up until you’re healed. But in reality, treating 
a broken leg can cost up to $7,5001. And it’s not only broken limbs—an average non-fatal 
injury could cost you $6,620 in medical bills2. When your medical bill arrives, you’ll be 
relieved you have accident insurance on your side. 

Click here to watch a video about how an accident plan works.

Cancer & Critical Illness
Most of us don’t have an extra $7,000 ready to spend—and even if we do, we don’t want to 
spend it on medical expenses. Unfortunately, the average cost to treat a critical illness is just 
that: $7,0003. But with critical illness insurance, you’ll receive a lump-sum benefit if you are 
diagnosed with a covered condition. You can use this benefit however you like, including to 
help pay for: treatments, prescriptions, travel, increased living expenses and more. 

Click here to watch a video about how a critical illness plan works.

Cancer may not feel like a priority you need to worry about right now, but with almost 2 
million new cases of cancer occurring in 20214, it can (literally) pay to be prepared. The 
cancer indemnity plan pays a flat dollar amount to you when a covered person is diagnosed 
with internal cancer. Other benefits include payments made directly to you for hospital 
confinement, medical imaging, radiation, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, transportation and 
lodging. The plan also includes a cancer screening wellness benefit. 

Click here to watch a video about how a critical illness plan works.

Hospital Indemnity Insurance
When you or a dependent need to be hospitalized, your family deserves to focus on their 
well-being, not the stress of the average three-day hospital stay, which can cost you 
$30,0001. Hospital indemnity insurance can help reduce costs by paying you or a covered 
dependent a benefit to help cover your deductible, coinsurance and other out-of-pocket 
costs due to a covered hospitalization. 

Click here to watch a video about how a hospital indemnity plan works.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 5 / 11



Vision

MetLife
This plan gives you the freedom to seek care from the provider of your choice. However, 
you will maximize your benefits and lower your out-of-pocket costs if you choose a 
provider who participates in the MetLife network.

The following is a high-level overview of the coverage available.

Key Vision Benefits
Vision

In-Network Out-of-Network 
Reimbursement

Exam (once every 12 months) $10 copay Up to $45

Materials Copay $25 copay N/A

Lenses (once every 12 months)

Single Vision

$25 copay

Up to $30

Bifocal Up to $50

Trifocal Up to $65

Frames (once every 24 months) $175 allowance + 20% Up to $70

Contact Lenses (once every 12 
months; in lieu of glasses) $175 allowance Elective, up to $105; 

Necessary, up to $210

Dental
We are proud to offer you a dental and vision plan.

MetLife DPPO 
This plan offers you the freedom and flexibility to use the dentist of your choice. However, 
you will maximize your benefits and lower your out-of-pocket costs if you choose a dentist 
who participates in the MetLife network. 

The following is a high-level overview of the coverage available. 

Key Dental Benefits
DPPO

In-Network Out-of-Network1

Deductible (per calendar year)

Individual / Family $50 2 / $150 2 $50 2 / $150 2

Benefit Maximum (per calendar year; preventive, basic and major services combined)

Per Individual $2,000 $2,000

Covered Services

Preventive Services No charge 100% of MAC covered

Basic Services 20%* 20%* of MAC

Major Services 50%* 50%* of MAC

Orthodontia (Child Only) 50%; $750 lifetime maximum 50% of MAC

Coinsurance percentages shown in the above chart represent what the member is responsible  
for paying.

*Benefits with an asterisk ( * ) require that the deductible be met before the Plan begins to pay.

1. If you use an out of network provider, you will be responsible for any charges above the maximum 
allowed charges (MAC).

2. Applies to basic and major services only.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 6 / 11



Flexible Spending 
Accounts
We provide you with an opportunity to participate in our 
flexible spending accounts (FSAs) administered by Wex 
(Discovery Benefits). FSAs allow you to set aside a portion 
of your income, before taxes, to pay for qualified health 
care and/or dependent care expenses. Because that 
portion of your income is not taxed, you pay less in federal 
income, Social Security and Medicare taxes. 

Health Care FSA
For 2024, you may contribute up to $3,050 to cover qualified health 
care expenses incurred by you, your spouse and your children up to 
age 26. Some qualified expenses include:

ꢀ} Coinsurance
ꢀ} Copayments
ꢀ} Deductibles
ꢀ} Prescriptions and  

Over-the-Counter Drugs

ꢀ} Menstrual Care Products
ꢀ} Dental Treatment
ꢀ} Orthodontia 
ꢀ} Eye Exams, Materials, LASIK

NOTE: If you enroll in the HSA medical plan, you may not 
participate in a health care FSA.

Dependent Care FSA
For 2024, you may contribute up to $5,000 (per family) to cover 
eligible dependent care expenses ($2,500 if you and your spouse 
file separate tax returns). Some eligible expenses include:
ꢀ} Care of a dependent child under the age of 13 by babysitters, 

nursery schools, pre-school or daycare centers
ꢀ} Care of a household member who is physically or mentally 

incapable of caring for themselves and qualifies as your federal 
tax dependent

For a complete list of eligible expenses, visit  
***.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p503.pdf.

Life and AD&D
Life insurance provides your named beneficiary(ies) with a 
benefit after your death. 

Accidental death and dismemberment (AD&D) insurance 
provides specified benefits to you in the event of a 
covered accidental bodily injury that directly causes 
dismemberment (i.e., the loss of a hand, foot or eye). In the 
event that your death occurs due to a covered accident, 
both the life and the AD&D benefit would be payable.

Basic Life/AD&D (Employer-paid)
This benefit is provided at NO COST to you through Voya. 

Benefit Amount

Employee
3 times your base salary up to $150,000; 
accidental death benefit is $250,000. Firefighters 
get a flat $10,000 in life insurance.

Supplemental Life/AD&D (Employee-paid)
If you determine you need more than the basic coverage, 
you may purchase additional coverage through Voya for 
yourself and your eligible family members. 

Benefit Option Guaran-
teed Issue1

Employee $10,000 increments; minimum of 
$10,000 up to $300,000 $110,000

Spouse $5,000 increments; minimum 
$5,000 up to $150,000 $30,000

Child(ren) $2,500 increments; minimum of 
$2,500 up to $10,000 $10,000

1. During your initial eligibility period only, you can receive 
coverage up to the Guaranteed Issue amounts without having to 
provide Evidence of Insurability (EOI, or information about your 
health). Coverage amounts that require EOI will not be effective 
unless approved by the insurance carrier. 

Click here to watch a video about how life insurance works.

FSA Rules
YOU MUST ENROLL EACH YEAR TO PARTICIPATE. 
Because FSAs can give you a significant tax advantage, they must be administered according to 
specific IRS rules:

Health Care FSA: Unused funds of up to $610 from one year can carry over to the following year. 
Carryover funds will not count against or offset the amount that you can contribute annually. Unused 
funds over $610 will NOT be returned to you or carried over to the following year. 

Dependent Care FSA: Unused funds will NOT be returned to you or carried over to the following year. 
The IRS and your employer establish the maximum amount you may contribute each year. See the plan 
documents for details. 

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 7 / 11



Disability
Disability insurance provides benefits that replace part of your lost income when you 
become unable to work due to a covered injury or illness. 

Voluntary Short-Term Disability
Provided at an affordable group rate through Voya

Benefit Percentage 60%

Weekly Benefit Maximum $1,500

When Benefits Begin After 7th day of disability

Maximum Benefit Duration 25 weeks

Long-Term Disability
Provided at an affordable group rate through Voya. The city contributes 50% towards the cost of coverage.

Benefit Percentage 60%

Monthly Benefit Maximum $6,000

When Benefits Begin After 180th day of disability

Maximum Benefit Duration Social Security Normal Retirement Age

Click here to watch a video about how disability insurance works.

Employee Assistance Program
Life is full of challenges, and sometimes balancing them all can be difficult. We are proud 
to provide a confidential program dedicated to supporting the emotional health and 
well-being of our employees and their families. The EAP is provided at NO COST to you 
through Voya.

The EAP can help with the following issues, among others:

ꢀ} Mental health

ꢀ} Relationships or marital conflicts

ꢀ} Child and eldercare

ꢀ} Substance abuse

ꢀ} Grief and loss

ꢀ} Legal or financial issues 

EAP Benefits
ꢀ} Assistance for you and your household members

ꢀ} Up to three (3) Telephonic sessions with a counselor per issue, per year, per individual

ꢀ} Unlimited toll-free phone access and online resources

Medical GAP Insurance
Medical GAP Insurance can provide benefits in tandem with your major medical plan, 
reimbursing you for a portion of the costs associated with your health plan’s deductibles, 
coinsurance, and copayments. This coverage is a guaranteed issue. Separate GAP 
insurance options are available for the HDHP vs. the Core Plan.

Valuable Extras
We also offer the following additional benefits:

ꢀ} Funeral Planning, Will Prep, and 
Concierge Services

ꢀ} Travel Assistance Program

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 8 / 11



Medical
Coverage Tier City Contribution Employee (No Discount) Employee (Level 1 Discount) Employee (Level 2 Discount)

Cigna HDHP OAP IN
Employee Only $650.48 $70.00 $50.00 $30.00

Employee + Spouse $889.36 $623.64 $523.64 $423.64

Employee + Child(ren) $785.61 $583.29 $483.29 $383.29

Family $1,461.43 $700.00 $600.00 $500.00

Cigna LocalPlus EPO 

Employee Only $708.37 $55.00 $45.00 $35.00

Employee + Spouse $1,136.07 $625.00 $525.00 $425.00

Employee + Child(ren) $1,027.40 $585.00 $485.00 $385.00

Family $1,745.11 $685.00 $585.00 $485.00

Cigna Core OAP IN

Employee Only $683.27 $120.00 $100.00 $80.00

Employee + Spouse $963.93 $722.93 $622.93 $522.93

Employee + Child(ren) $853.08 $673.13 $573.13 $473.13

Family $1,584.80 $825.00 $725.00 $625.00

Payroll Deductions
The City of Texas City offers a generous discount on your monthly medical premium, by following just a few simple steps:

ꢀ} Level One Discount can be earned by completing an annual preventive physical screening

ꢀ} Level Two Discount can be earned by then completing the online Health Risk Assessment at MyCigna.com and emailing your proof of biometric screening and preventive exam to 
aschmidt@texascitytx.gov before December 31, 2023.

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 9 / 11



 
Supplemental Life/AD&D
Deductions for supplemental Life/AD&D are taken from your paycheck after taxes. Rates are available during enrollment.

Dental
Coverage Tier Total Rate City Contribution Employee Contribution

MetLife DPPO

Employee Only $23.04 $23.04 $0.00

Family $67.95 $49.80 $18.15

Vision
Coverage Tier Total Rate City Contribution Employee Contribution

MetLife Vision

Employee Only $7.68 $7.68 $0.00

Family $18.01 $14.25 $3.76

Payroll Deductions (Cont’d)

Retiree
Coverage Tier Cigna HDHP OAP IN Cigna LocalPlus EPO Cigna Core OAP IN Dental Vision

Cigna HDHP OAP IN

Employee Only $707.77 $789.10 $743.37 $23.04 $7.68 

Employee + Spouse $1,486.32 $1,657.11 $1,561.07 - -

Employee + Child(ren) $1,344.76 $1,499.29 $1,412.40 - -

Family $2,123.31 $2,367.30 $2,230.11 $67.95 $18.01 

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 10 / 11



Coverage Carrier Phone #  Website/Email

Medical Cigna 1-800-244-6224 www.mycigna.com

ZERO Smart Shopper ZERO 1-855-816-0001 www.thezerocard.com  
Email: help@zero.health

Medical GAP Allstate Benefits /  
The Loomis Company 1-855-521-9355 www.loomislive.com

Prescription Drug Coverage Express Scripts 1-800-711-0917 www.express-script.com

Voluntary Benefits Cigna 1-800-754-3207 www.cigna.com/supphealthclaims

Dental MetLife 1-800-275-4638 www.metlife.com/mybenefits

Vision MetLife 1-855-638-3931 www.metlife.com/mybenefits

Health Savings Account (HSA) &  
Flexible Spending Accounts (FSAs) Discovery Benefits 1-866-451-3399 www.discoverybenefits.com

Life/AD&D Voya 1-800-955-7736 www.voya.com/claims

Disability Voya 1-800-955-7736 www.voya.com/claims

Employee Assistance Program (EAP) ComPsych Guidance Resources 1-877-533-2363 www.guidanceresources.com

Questions?
If you have additional questions, you may also contact:
Anete Schmidt at 1-409-643-5912 | aschmidt@texascitytx.gov

DISCLAIMER: The material in this benefits brochure is for informational purposes only and is neither an offer of coverage or medical or legal advice. It contains only a partial description of plan or program benefits and 
does not constitute a contract. Please refer to the Summary Plan Description (SPD) for complete plan details. In case of a conflict between your plan documents and this information, the plan documents will always govern. 
Annual Notices: ERISA and various other state and federal laws require that employers provide disclosure and annual notices to their plan participants. The city will distribute all required notices annually.

Contact Information

ON/OFF FULL SCREEN PRINT CONTENTS CONTACT LIST BACK TRACK FIRST LAST 11 / 11



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (4) (b)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Finance Quarterly Report
Submitted For: Laura Boyd, Finance  Submitted By: Laura Boyd, Finance
Department: Finance

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Finance Quarterly Report for quarter ended September 30, 2023.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
Report on the City's investment activity for the quarter July 1, 2023 through September 30,
2023.

 

RECOMMENDATION
No City Commission action is needed.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Staff Report 



CITY OF TEXAS CITY

INVESTMENT REPORT

FOR THE QUARTER ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

The City's Investment Policy  requires the Director of Finance to submit quarterly 

reports to the City Commission.

A summary of the transactions in the portfolio for the quarter ending September 30, 2023

are as follows:

BOOK VALUE MARKET VALUE

INVESTMENTS-BEG. OF PERIOD 104,879,965$        101,753,570$        

INVESTMENT PURCHASES/ADDITIONS/TRANSFERS IN 5,175,000 5,175,000

INVESTMENT MATURITIES/DELETIONS/TRANSFERS OUT (10,491,716) (10,653,065)

AMORTIZATION(PREMIUM/DISCOUNT) (7)                              -                                

CHANGE IN FAIR MARKET VALUE -                                847,642                   

INVESTMENTS-END OF PERIOD 99,563,242$           97,123,147$           

Interest received quarter ending 09-30-23 424,369$                424,369$                

INVESTMENTS-END OF PERIOD PLUS

INTEREST 99,987,611$           97,547,516$           



CITY OF TEXAS CITY

INVESTMENT REPORT

FOR THE QUARTER ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

Portfolio Composition:

Certificates of Deposit (CDARS) 6.176%

Bank Deposits 9.259%

Treasury Securities 9.024%

Agency Securities 75.542%

Benchmark Rate of Return:

@ 09/30/2023 @ 06/30/2023 @ 03/31/2023 @ 12/31/2022 @ 09/30/2022

1 Year Treasury Rate 5.46 5.40 4.64 4.73 4.05

6 Month T-Bill Rate 5.32 5.24 4.72 4.60 3.82

3 Month T-Bill Rate 5.32 5.17 4.68 4.30 3.22

City's Portfolio 3.61 3.57 2.10 1.49 1.32

Weighted Average Maturity of Portfolio:

218.72 days



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (a)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve City Commission Minutes for the October 18, 2023 meeting. (City Secretary)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Minutes 



REGULAR CALLED CITY COMMISSION MEETING

M I N U T E S 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2023 – 5:00 P.M.
KENNETH T. NUNN COUNCIL ROOM – CITY HALL

 
A Regular Called Meeting of the City Commission was held on Wednesday, OCTOBER 18, 2023, at
5:00 P.M. in the Kenneth T. Nunn Council Room in City Hall, Texas City, Texas. A quorum having been
met, the meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m. by Mayor Dedrick D. Johnson.
 

               
1. ROLL CALL

Present: Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor   
Thelma Bowie, Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem   
Abel Garza, Jr. , Commissioner At-Large   
DeAndre' Knoxson, Commissioner District 1   
Jami Clark, Commissioner District 4   

Absent: Felix Herrera, Commissioner District 2
  Dorthea Jones Pointer, Commissioner District 3

2. INVOCATION

Led by Pastor A. Berry of New Life Church of Texas.
 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Led by Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr.
 
4. PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS
 

a. Service Awards    
Justin Moseley Water Distribution 10/21/2013 10 years
Christopher Rice Water Distribution 10/07/2013 10 years
Andre Roberts Parks & Recreation 10/05/2013 10 years
Rudolph Montoya Public Works 10/23/2003 20 years
Edward Guerrero Water Distribution 10/29/1998 25 years
Carolyn Golden Library 10/13/1993 30 years

  

 
b. Medal of Valor

Detective Larry Williamson

Life Saving Award
Officer Irvin Cornejo
Officer Adrian Martinez
Officer Michael Turner
Officer Logan Kelley

  



Officer Logan Kelley

Detective Larry Williamson received the Medal of Valor for his swift action, which saved the life
of a hostage. Officers Michael Turner, Logan Kelley, and Adrian Martinez received the Life
Saving Award for rescuing a person from a burning vehicle. Officer Irvin Cornejo received the
Life Saving Award for resuscitating a person by performing CPR.

 
c. Proclaiming October as National Physical Therapy Month.

Mayor Dedrick D. Johnson presented a proclamation to Sharon Deshotel, Physical
Therapist at HCA Mainland, naming October as National Physical Therapy Month in Texas
City.

 
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS

There were none. 
 
6. CONSENT AGENDA

Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie motioned to approve Consent Agenda items a, b, c. d. and e.
The motion was seconded by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark.

 
a. Approve City Commission Minutes for the October 4, 2023 meeting. (City Secretary) 

 
  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
b. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-113, authorizing the Mayor to execute an

agreement with Public Consulting Group for services related to the federally legislated ground
ambulance collections data report. (Fire Department)

  

 
  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
c. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-114, authorizing the purchase of two (2)

ancillary vehicles for use in the Fire Department and Neighborhood Improvement Services.
(Fire Department)

  

 
  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
d. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-115, authorizing the purchase of thirteen

(13) vehicles, for an approximate total of $909,863.97, to be utilized by various departments
within the Texas City Police Department. (Police)

  

 
  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
e. Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-116, authorizing the Mayor to enter into a

contract with CFG Industries, LLC., for Bid No. 2023-438 Lift Stations 21 and 25 Rehabilitation
Project. (Public Works)

  

 



  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
7. REGULAR ITEMS
 

a. Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-37, amending the
Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 151: Electricity;
Section 151.080 Entitled “National Electrical Code Adopted: Conflicting Regulations."
(Legal/Building Official)

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr., Seconded by Commissioner District 1

DeAndre' Knoxson 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
b. Consider and take action on Ordinance No. 2023-38, amending the Code of Ordinances, City

of Texas City, Texas, Title III “Administration”, Chapter 32 “Law Enforcement and Fire
Department”, Section 32.009 “Fire Department; Classes of Positions.” by increasing the
number of positions within the classification of Captain by five (5), increasing the number of
positions within the classification of Engineers by six (6) and decreasing the number of
positions within the classification of Firefighters by ten (10); prescribing the number of positions
within each classification of the classified service of the Fire Department. (Fire Department)

David Zacherl, Fire Chief, stated that previously, the number of positions within the
classification of Firefighter was increased by eighteen (18) in anticipation of the construction
and opening of Fire Station 4, the number of positions within the classification of Captain was
decreased to ten (10) with the assignment of an Engineer to Fire Marshal, a position formerly
held by a Captain, and the recently approved budget for FY 23/24 authorized a Training
Officer within the classification of Captain. Since then, a recent Captain Examination resulted
in the Fire Marshal scoring within the top five (5). Therefore, the fire department requests to
classify the Fire Marshal position as a Captain. The increase in the number within the
classification of Engineers by six (6) and the three (3) additional Captains are in conjunction
with the anticipated opening of Fire Station 4.

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark, Seconded by Commissioner At-Large,

Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
c. Consider and take action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 2023-39, amending the Texas

City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 150: Building
Regulations; Construction" to adopt the most current International Building
Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr., Seconded by Commissioner District 4

Jami Clark 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
d. Consider and take action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 2023-40, amending the Texas

City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 152: Gas," to adopt the most
current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

  

 



  Motion by Commissioner District 4 Jami Clark, Seconded by Commissioner District 1
DeAndre' Knoxson 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
e. Consider and take action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 2023-41, amending the Texas

City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 153: Mechanical
Regulations," to adopt the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr., Seconded by Commissioner At-Large,

Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
f. Consider and take action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 2023-42, amending the Texas

City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 154: Plumbing," to adopt the
most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

  

 
  Motion by Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie, Seconded by

Commissioner District 1 DeAndre' Knoxson 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
8. EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

a. Convene for Executive Session pursuant to the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551, Texas
Government Code to discuss the following:

§551.072 Deliberation Regarding Real Property

Convened for Executive Session at 5:29 p.m.
 

b. Reconvene from Executive Session

Reconvened for Executive Session at 5:47 p.m.
 

c. Consideration and Possible Action: To take any and all action necessary deriving from the
Executive Session(s).

 
  Motion by Commissioner At-Large, Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie, Seconded by

Commissioner District 1 DeAndre' Knoxson to enter into a Lease Agreement for property
located at Shoal Point, as discussed in Executive Session. 

  Vote: 5 - 0 CARRIED

 
9. ADJOURNMENT
 
Having no further business, Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr. made a MOTION to ADJOURN at



Having no further business, Commissioner At-Large Abel Garza, Jr. made a MOTION to ADJOURN at
5:53 p.m.; the motion was SECONDED by Mayor Pro Tem Thelma Bowie. All present voted AYE.
MOTION CARRIED.

  
 ______________________________
 DEDRICK D. JOHNSON, MAYOR

ATTEST:

_________________________________
Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Date Approved:



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (b)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
GLO Contract No. 22-1199-003-D373 ARKK Engineers Purchase Order Change Orders
Submitted For: Mike McKinley, Public Works  Submitted By: Mike McKinley, Public

Works
Department: Public Works

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approval of ARKK Engineers, LLC. purchase order change orders for the City of Texas City's
GLO Contract No. 22-119-003-D373 Community Development Block Grant Mitigation
Program Infrastructure Projects Non-Research & Development Mitigation Funding.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
As the overall amount of the grant funding did not change, the contract amendment needed
only to be signed by the Mayor and Director of Finance. However, in order to make each of
the four (4) engineering purchase orders match the revision requested by the GLO in their
Texas Integrated Grant Reporting (TIGR) system, all four (4) individual purchase order
amounts must be changed via Change Order. One of these changes is in excess of 25% of
the original approved amount, and therefore, it must go before the City Commission.

Contract Amendment No. 1 with a full break down of all the changes requested, and change
order is attached for your review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Public Works Department that these changes be approved.

Thank you.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Exhibit A 
Resolution 















  

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-117 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING ARKK ENGINEERS, LLC. PURCHASE ORDER 

CHANGE ORDERS FOR THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY'S GLO CONTRACT NO. 22-

119-003-D373 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT MITIGATION 

PROGRAM INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS NON-RESEARCH & 

DEVELOPMENT MITIGATION FUNDING; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 

EXECUTE SAID CHANGE ORDER NO. 2; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS 

RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE 

AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, on July 6, 20122, Resolution No. 2022-058 was approved, Engineering 

Services Agreement with ARKK Engineers, LLC, to provide engineering and construction phase 

services for Hazard Mitigation Grant Program: Supplemental Program - CDBG-MIT Contract No. 

22-119-003-D373, in the amount of $2,072,041.00; 

 

WHEREAS, Contract Amendment No. 1 with a full breakdown of all the changes requested, 

and change order is attached for your review; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department recommends that these changes be approved.   
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF 

THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 
 

SECTION 1: That Change Order No. 1 to the agreement with ARKK Engineers, LLC, to 

provide engineering and construction phase services for Hazard Mitigation Grant Program: 

Supplemental Program - CDBG-MIT Contract No. 22-119-003-D373. 

 

SECTION 2: That the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute Change Order No. 1. 

 

SECTION 3: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

  PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

             

      _______________________________ 

      Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor   

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 



-------------------------------------------------------------------- 

L: Res 11-059 Change Order No.2-DMS Painting Water Tnnk  2  

ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

___________________________    ____________________________  

Rhomari D. Leigh      Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary       City Attorney 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (c)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Ambulance Supplemental Pay Program
Submitted For: David Zacherl, Fire Department 
Submitted By: David Zacherl, Fire Department
Department: Fire Department

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on Resolution No. 23-118, approving an extension of the agreement for professional
services with Public Consulting Group, Inc. (PCG) to continue a program that provides additional revenue to the
Fire Department EMS program through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Ambulance
Supplemental Pay Program (ASPP).
 

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The City initially contracted with PCG in 2015 to assist the City with its participation in the ASPP and since then
the City has received in excess of two million dollars in supplemental income to the EMS program. 

On October 21, 2020, the City Commission authorized the Mayor to enter into a second agreement with Public
Consulting Group, Inc. to continue providing professional services related to the ASPP through Medicare and
Medicaid Services.

The 2020 three-year agreement permits an extension of the agreement for two additional twelve-month
periods. This request covers the first twelve-month extension period.  
 

RECOMMENDATION
PCG's assistance with the City's participation in the Ambulance Supplemental Pay Program
has been very helpful and financially beneficial to the City. Therefore, the Fire Chief
recommends approval of the one-year extension provided for in the 2020 Agreement. 

Fiscal Impact
Funds Available Y/N: Y
Amount Requested: 0
Source of Funds: Ambulance Supplemental Pay Program
Account #:
Fiscal Impact:
The agreement is for PCG to receive 15% of the monies collected through the Ambulance
Supplemental Pay Program and is paid from amount received from the ASPP. A copy of the
Original Agreement is attached as Exhibit B.

Attachments
Resolution 



Exhibit A 
Exhibit B 
Resolution 



RESOLUTION 23- 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXTEND THE 

AGREEMENT WITH PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP, INC FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATED TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF 

THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AMBULANCE SUPPLEMENTAL PAY 

PROGRAM DESIGNED TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO THE 

FIRE DEPARTMENT EMS PROGRAM; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS 

RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS 

PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

 
WHEREAS, The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) allows states to establish 

alternative payment methodologies (Supplemental Payments) for certain classes of providers 

pursuant to 42 CFR 447.321, section 1902(a)(30) of the Social Security Act, and  

  

WHEREAS, The alternative payment methodologies would supplement current Medicaid 

payments received by CITY, and would be based on cost reimbursement for Medicaid-eligible 

costs, and  

 

WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR possesses professional skills that can assist CITY in analyzing and 

reporting costs to secure supplemental CMS payments, and  

 

WHEREAS, CITY previously engaged CONTRACTOR as an independent contractor to perform 

certain professional services in connection with this initiative in October, 2020, and 

 

WHEREAS, the agreement permits two extensions of one year each by mutual consent of the 

Party’s following the initial three year agreement, and  

 

WHEREAS, this is the first extension requested.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 
SECTION 1:  That the City Commission of the City of Texas City hereby authorizes the Mayor 

to extend the Agreement with Public Consulting Group, Inc. in substantially the same form attached 

hereto as Exhibit “A” and made part thereof. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November, 2023. 

 

_______________________________ 

Dedrick D Johnson, Mayor    

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

___________________________   ____________________________    

Rhomari Leigh       Kyle L Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



AMENDMENT NO. 1 
TO THE  

SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

This Amendment No. 1 (the “Amendment”) to the Services Agreement entered by and 

between City of Texas City (“Client”) and Public Consulting Group, Inc., successor in interest to 

Public Consulting Group LLC (“PCG”), as of October 21, 2020 (the “Agreement”), is made 

effective as of _____________, 2023 (“Effective Date”).  
 

WHEREAS, the parties wish to amend the Agreement pursuant to Section 17 for the 

purpose of extending the cost report cycle;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the promises and mutual 

covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:  
 

1. The parties agree that all references to “Public Consulting Group, Inc.” are deleted and 

replaced with “Public Consulting Group LLC.” 

 

2. The parties agree that pursuant to the second paragraph of Attachment B under 

“Supplemental Payment Services,” the Agreement is extended for one (1) additional 12 

month period.  PCG will provide Supplemental Payment Services for a further cost 

reporting period for Federal Fiscal Year 2023 (October 1, 2022- September 30, 2023). 

PCG will provide these services through the completion and issuance of payment from 

the State of Texas to CLIENT for the Federal Fiscal Year 2023 cost report, estimated to 

occur on or before September 30, 2024, and may be extended one (1) additional 12 

month periods. 

 

3. Conflict in Terms.  Except as amended and/or modified by this Amendment, the 

Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed and all other terms of the Agreement shall 

remain in full force and effect, unaltered and unchanged by this Amendment.  Whether or 

not specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the 

Agreement are hereby amended to the extent necessary to give effect to the purpose and 

intent of this Amendment.   

 

4. Severability.  If any provision in this Amendment is found by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions in this Amendment 

shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

5. Waiver.  The failure of a party to enforce a provision of this Amendment shall not 

constitute a waiver with respect to that provision or any other provision of this 

Amendment. 

 

6. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original and all of which counterparts together shall constitute 

the same instrument which may be sufficiently evidenced by one counterpart. 



 

2 
 

7. Entire Agreement; Non-Reliance.  The Agreement, as amended by this Amendment and 

by any other prior Amendments still in force, constitutes the entire understanding and 

agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any and 

all prior agreements, understandings or representations with respect thereto.  Neither 

Party is relying upon any agreement or representation by the other Party except as set 

forth in the Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.   

 

8. Applicable Law, Jurisdiction, and Venue.  This Amendment is to be construed, 

interpreted, and enforced under and in accordance with the same governing law as set 

forth in the Agreement, without regard to choice of law provisions.  The parties consent 

to personal jurisdiction in that state’s or district’s courts and waive any objection to 

venue.   

 

9. Voluntary Act/Authorship: Each party acknowledges that they been provided with the 

opportunity to consult with and be represented by independent counsel in negotiating this 

Amendment.  Each party represents that they have read and understand this Amendment 

and that they are freely and voluntarily entering into this Amendment in exchange for the 

consideration described herein.  This Amendment shall not be construed in favor of or 

against either party by reason of authorship 

 

10. Authority. Each individual signing below on behalf of a party hereby represents and 

warrants that they have full power and authority to enter into this Amendment on behalf 

of such party.  Each party to this Amendment hereby represents and warrants that it has 

full power and authority to enter into this Amendment, that the execution, delivery, and 

performance of this Amendment has been fully authorized and approved, and that no 

further approvals or consents are required to bind such party. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement by the signatures of their 

respective authorized representatives. 
 

PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP LLC      CITY OF TEXAS CITY 
 

 

____________________________________ ____________________________________ 

By:  By: Dedrick D. Johnson  
Title:  Title: Mayor  
Date:  Date:  
 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-103 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AN 
AGREEMENT WITH PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP, INC FOR 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATED TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF 
THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AMBULANCE SUPPLEMENTAL PAY 
PROGRAM DESIGNED TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO THE 
FIRE DEPARTMENT EMS PROGRAM; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS 
RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE AND ADOPTION. 

WHEREAS, The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) allows 
states to establish alternative payment methodologies (Supplemental Payments) for 
certain classes of providers pursuant to 42 CFR 44 7.321, section 1902( a)(30) of the 
Social Security Act, and 

WHEREAS, The alternative payment methodologies would supplement 
current Medicaid payments received by CITY, and would be based on cost 
reimbursement for Medicaid-eligible costs, and 

WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR possesses professional skills that can assist 
CITY in analyzing and reporting costs to secure supplemental CMS payments, and 

WHEREAS, CITY wishes to engage CONTRACTOR as an independent 
contractor to perform certain professional services in connection with this initiative. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City hereby 
authorizes the Mayor to execute the Agreement with Public Consulting Group, Inc. in 
substantially the same form attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and made part thereof. 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage and adoption. 



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of October 2020. 

ATTEST: 

2 

Kyle L. Dickson 
City Attorney 



SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Services Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into by and between Public 
Consulting Group, Inc. ("PCG") and City of Texas City, Texas ("CLIENT") as of October 21, 
2020. ("Effective Date"). 

WHEREAS, CLIENT is seeking Supplemental Payment Program and Other Consulting 
Services for Emergency Medical Services, and 

WHEREAS, PCG possesses professional skills that can assist CLIENT; and 

WHEREAS, CLIENT wishes to engage PCG as an independent contractor to perform 
certain professional services for CLIENT; 

THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which 
is acknowledged, PCG and CLIENT hereby agree as follows: 

1. Description of Services. PCG will provide the professional services assigned by 
CLIENT and more fully described in Attachment A (the "Contracted Services"). PCG 
acknowledges and agrees that time is of the essence in the value of the Contracted 
Services, and shall render such Contracted Services in a prompt and diligent manner. 

2. Term. This Agreement will be effective from the Effective Date until additional 
Medicaid revenues are generated and received for the service periods outlined in 
Attachment A and Attachment B, unless this Agreement is terminated earlier pursuant to 
Section 4 or extended by written agreement of the parties. Unless otherwise specified by 
CLIENT in writing, PCG will provide the Contracted Services for the full duration of this 
Agreement. 

3. Compensation. CLIENT will compensate PCG pursuant to the provisions contained in 
Attachment B and this Section 3, and unless the parties agree otherwise in writing, will 
not pay PCG any other benefits, expenses, or compensation. 

a. CLIENT will compensate PCG within thirty (30) days following the receipt of 
itemized billing statements from PCG that satisfactorily describe the hours and 
dates that PCG performed the Contracted Services, the services performed, and 
any expenses incurred. 

b. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, other than termination for 
cause, PCG will be entitled to receive compensation for Contracted Services 
satisfactorily provided prior to the effective date of termination. 

4. Termination. The term of this Agreement is set forth in Section 2. The Agreement may 
be terminated before the end of the term pursuant to the following subsections of this 
Section 4. Termination of this Agreement will not discharge the obligations of the parties 
with respect to the protection of Proprietary or Confidential Information. 



a. Termination for Cause: This Agreement may be terminated immediately by either 
party: 

i. Following a material breach ofthis Agreement and a failure to cure such 
breach within a reasonable period after written notice, not to exceed ten (10) 
business days. 

ii. If either party files a petition under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Act, 11 
U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq., an involuntary petition under that Act is filed against 
either party, a party commences an action in any country under laws providing 
for the relief of winding up of insolvent or liquidating persons or entities, or 
files for the appointment of a .receiver or becomes insolvent, and such matters 
are not discharged or relieved within sixty ( 60) days; or 

iii. Debarment or suspension of either party by competent authority, if such 
debarment or suspension precludes the participation by such party in pursuing 
this Agreement, or indictment of either party in any criminal proceeding 
related to doing business with a public entity as a prime contractor or 
subcontractor. 

b. Termination for Convenience: This Agreement may be terminated for convenience 
by either party at any time upon sixty (60) days' written notice to the other. If 
CLIENT terminates this Agreement for convenience prior to the completion or 
submission of a cost report, PCG shall invoice CLIENT, and CLIENT shall 
compensate PCG, at an hourly rate of $250 for the time PCG expended in preparing 
such cost report. If CLIENT terminates this Agreement for convenience after the 
submission of a cost report, but prior to payment being received, the parties agree that 
the compensation provisions, including those in Attachment B, shall survive 
termination of the Agreement, and CLIENT shall timely compensate PCG pursuant to 
those provisions. 

S. Notices and Contact Persons. Any notices, requests, consents and other 
communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be effective either when 
delivered personally to the party for whom intended, e-mailed with an acknowledgment 
of receipt, or five days following deposit of the same into the United States mail (certified 
mail, return receipt requested, or first class postage prepaid), addressed to such party at 
the address set forth below, who shall serve as Contact Persons unless replaced by a party 
by written notice to the other party: 

ForPCG: 
Public Consulting Group, Inc. 
148 State Street, lOth Floor 
Boston, MA 02109 
Attn: James Dachos (jdachos@pcgus.com) 

Page 2 



For CLIENT: 
City of Texas City, Texas 
1725 25'h St. N. 
Texas City, TX 77590 
Attn: Wendell Wiley (wwiley@texascitytx.gov) 

David Zacherl ( dzacherl@texascitytx.gov) 

6. PCG Representation. PCG represents that it is not presently debarred, suspended, 
proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in 
transactions by any federal, state, or local governmental authority. PCG shall 
immediately notifY CLIENT regarding the circumstances if this representation becomes 
no longer accurate during the term of this Agreement. 

7. Standards of Conduct. PCG shall comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
and standards of ethical conduct in the performance of this Agreement. 

8. Relationship of the Parties 

a. The parties agree that PCG is an independent contractor, and that neither it nor 
any of its employees is an employee, agent, partner, or joint-venturer of CLIENT. 

b. PCG shall secure. and maintain all insurartce, licenses, and/or permits necessary to 
perform the Contracted Services. PCG shall be responsible for paying its 
employees, and for paying all applicable state and federal taxes including 
unemployment insurance, social security taxes, an\f state and federal withholding 
taxes. PCG understands that neither it nor its employees will be eligible for 
benefits or privileges provided by CLIENT to its employees. CLIENT will 
deliver to PCG statements of income at the end of each tax year consistent with its 
independent contractor status. 

c. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, PCG has complete and 
exclusive authority over the means and methods ofperforming the Contracted 
Services, need not adhere to policies and procedures applicable to CLIENT 
employees, and may perform the Contracted Services according to its own 
schedule at its own offices or at any other location. PCG shall hire its own 
employees, use its own tools and equipment, and purchase its own supplies. 

d. PCG has. no authority to and shall not purport to bind, represent, or speak for 
CLIENT or otherwise incur any obligation on behalf of CLIENT for any purpose 
unless expressly authorized by CLIENT. 

e. At CLIENT's written request, PCG shall provide to CLIENT: (i) its federal 
employer tax identification number; and (ii) copies of any applicable business 
licenses. 

Page 3 



9. Record Maintenance. With respect to all records of any kind that PCG acquires or 
creates for purposes of perfonning the Contracted Services, PCG shall not knowingly 
destroy records that are required to be preserved by law and shall maintain project 
records in an orderly manner. 

10. Insurance. PCG shall maintain during the tenn of this Agreement such insurance, 
including general liability and worker's compensation insurance, as will fully protect 
both CLlliNT and PCG from claims that may arise from PCG's perfonnance of the 
Contracted Services. 

11. Assignment. This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior 
written consent of the other party, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be assigned by either party: 
(i) to one of its affiliates or subsidiaries; or (ii) in connection with a merger, 
consolidation, sale of all of the equity interests of the party, or a sale of all or 
substantially all of the assets of the party to which this Agreement relates. 

12. Proprietary or Confidential Information. For purposes of fulfilling its obligations 
under this Agreement, one party (the "Disclosing Party") may convey to the other party 
(the "Receiving Party") infonnation that is considered proprietary and confidential to the 
Disclosing Party. 

a. ''Proprietary or Confidential Infonnation" is defined as infonnation - including 
but not limited to trade secrets, strategies, financial infonnation, sales 
infonnation, pricing infonn!ltion, strategies, pTQCesses, policies, procedures, 
operational techniques, software, and intellectual property -- that (i) has not 
previously been published or otherwise disclosed by the Disclosing Party to the 
general public, (ii) has not previously been available to the Receiving Party or 
others without confidentiality restrictions, or (iii) is not nonnally furnished to 
others without compensation, and which the Disclosing Party wishes to protect 
against unrestricted disclosure or competitive use. Proprietary or Confidential 
Infonnation does not include infonnation that, without a breach of this 
Agreement, is developed independently by the Receiving Party, or that is lawfully 
known by the Receiving Party and received from a source that was entitled to 
have the infonnation and was not bound to the Disclosing Party by any 
confidentiality requirement. 

b. The Receiving Party shall hold Proprietary or Confidential Infonnation in strict 
confidence, in perpetuity, and shall use and disclose such infonnation to its 
employees only for purposes of this Agreement and the Contracted Services. 

c. The Receiving Party shall not divulge any such Proprietary or Confidential 
lnfonnation to any employee who is not working on matters relating to this 
Agreement and the Contracted Services, without the prior written consent of the 
Disclosing Party. 

Page 4 



d. The Receiving Party shall use at least the same standard of care for protecting 
Proprietary or Confidential Information that it uses to prevent disclosure of its 
own proprietary or confidential information, but in no case less than reasonable 
care. 

e. Nothing in this Agreement prohibits the Receiving Party from disclosing 
Proprietary or Confidential Information pursuant to a lawful order of a court or 
government agency, but only to the extent of such order, and only if the Receiving 
Party gives immediate notice of such order to the Disclosing Party in order that 
the Disclosing Party may seek a protective order or take other action to protect the 
information that was ordered to be disclosed. 

f. Rights and obligations under this Agreement shall take precedence over specific 
legends or statements that may be associated with Proprietary or Confidential 
Information when received. 

g. The parties agree that the Disclosing Party would suffer irreparable harm hereunder 
if Proprietary or Confidential Information were improperly released, conveyed, or 
transferred by a Receiving Party, and that in such situation the Disclosing Party shall 
be entitled to, in addition of any other remedies, the entry of injunctive relief and 
specific performance. 

h. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, each party shall cease use of 
Proprietary or Confidential Information received from the other party. At the 
request of the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party shall promptly destroy all 
physical copies of such information in its possession, custody, or control and shall 
furnish the Disclosing Party with written certification of such destruction within 
thirty (30) days of such request. Alternatively, if the Disclosing Party fails to 
provide such a written request to the Receiving Party within ten (1 0) days of the 
termination or expiration of this Agreement, the Receiving Party shall return all 
such physical copies of such information to the Disclosing Party. If return is not 
practicable, the Receiving Party shall so notify the Disclosing Party and shall 
keep such information secure and confidential in perpetuity. 

13. Intellectual Property. Neither party makes any representation or warranty as to the 
accuracy or completeness of its Proprietary or Confidential Information disclosed under 
this Agreement. PCG guarantees that its use or creation of any intellectual property 
under this Agreement does not infringe upon the intellectual property rights of any third 
party. 

14. Conflicts of Interest. The parties understand that PCG is not required to perform the 
Contracted Services on a full-time basis for CLIENT and may perform services for other 
individuals and organizations consistent with the limitations in this Agreement. 

15. Waiver. The failure of a party to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall not 
constitute a waiver with respect to that provision or any other provision of this 
Agreement. 

Page 5 



16. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the attachments) constitutes the entire 
agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of the Contracted 
Services, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any separate written agreement between the parties 
regarding the confidentiality and security of information exchanged or used by the parties 
for purposes of this Agreement shall be effective unless and until it is specifically 
terminated. 

17. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
parties, signed by authorized representatives and referencing this Agreement. 

18. Severability. If any provision in this Agreement is found by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions in this Agreement 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

19. Applicable Law and Venue. This Agreement, and all other aspects of the business 
relationship between the parties, is construed, interpreted, and enforced under and in 
accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without regard to 
choice of law provisions. The parties also consent to the personal jurisdiction in its 
courts, and agree that the state and federal courts of Suffolk County, Massachusetts shall 
have exclusive jurisdiction over the enforcement of this Agreement. 

20. Miscellaneous 

a. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, PCG DOES 
NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE CONTRACTED 
SERVICES, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AND SPECIFICALLY 
DISCLAIMS ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES, WHETHER OF 
MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE, OR OTHERWISE FOR SAID CONTRACTED SERVICES. 

b. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER ANY INCIDENTAL, 
INDIRECT, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, SUCH DAMAGES ARISING FROM 
ANY TYPE OR MANNER OF COMMERCIAL, BUSINESS, OR FINANCIAL 
LOSS, EVEN IF THE OTHER PARTY HAD ACTUAL OR CONSTRUCTIVE 
KNOWLEDGE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES AND 
REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE FORESEEABLE. 
OTHER THAN A CLAIM BY PCG THAT CLIENT HAS NOT PAID 
COMPENSATION UNDER SECTION 3, UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES 
SHALL EITHER PARTY'S AGGREGATE LIABILITY TO THE OTHER 
PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT EXCEED AN AMOUNT EQUAL TO 
THE TOTAL FEES PAID BY CLIENT TO PCG PURSUANT TO SECTION 3 
OF THIS AGREEMENT DURING THE PRIOR TWELVE (12) MONTH 

Page 6 



PERIOD. 

c. The parties agree that the terms of this Agreement result from negotiations 
between them. This Agreement will not be construed in favor of or against either 
party by reason of authorship. 

d. Neither party shall be responsible for delays or failures in performance resulting 
from acts of God, acts of civil or military authority, terrorism, fire, flood, strikes, 
war, epidemics, pandemics, shortage of power, or other acts or causes reasonably 
beyond the control of that party. The party experiencing the force majeure event 
agrees to give the other party notice promptly following the occurrence of a force 
majeure event, and to use diligent efforts to re-commence performance as 
promptly as commercially practicable. 

e. The captions and headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not 
intended to, and shall not be construed to, limit, enlarge, or affect the scope or 
intent of this Agreement. nor the meaning of any provisions hereof. 

f. Each party represents that: (i) it has the authority to enter into this Agreement; and 
(ii) that the individual signing this Agreement on its behalf is authorized. to do so. 

[signature page follows] 

Page 7 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed tbis Agreement as of the Effective 
Date written above. 

PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP, INC. CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS 

BY: ~~ BY: 

NAME: Marc Staubley NAME: 

TITLE: Practice Area Director TITLE: 

DATE: 10/6/2020 DATE: 

Page 8 



ATTACHMENT A 
CONTRACTED SERVICES 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, PCG shall provide the following 
Contracted Services: 

Cost Report Ambulance Supplemental Payment Program Services 

PCG will work with CLIENT to analyze and report costs for Medicaid, Uninsured, and Charity 
Care, that will help CLIENT realize revenue related to an Ambulance Services Supplemental 
Payment Program as administered by the State of Texas Health and Human Services 
Commission (HHSC). 

PCG's services will include: 

• Conducting a thorough review of operational and administrative costs to determine 2 CFR 
Part 200 allowable costs to report on a cost report approved by HHSC. 

• Conducting comprehensive analysis of the billing reports, ensuring that key data elements 
such as dates of service, procedure codes, charges and payments related to Medicaid, 
Uninsured, and Charity Care are screened and accurately accounted for in the cost report. 

• Developing and applying appropriate cost allocation methodologies using the utilization 
data produced by CLIENT's Computer Aided-Dispatch (CAD) system. 

• Submitting annual cost reports approved by HHSC, on behalf of CLIENT to HHSC that will 
allow CLIENT to realize incremental revenue under the Ambulance Supplemental Payment 
Program. 

• Refining the cost reports and/or other items of cost based on the review from HHSC and/or 
CMS. 

• Providing Medicaid subject matter expertise and representation during the HHSC review 
and approval of the submitted cost reports. 

• Drafting responses, providing supporting documentation, and conducting comprehensive 
billing reconciliations as required during HHSC desk review process. 

• Working with CLIENT to present updates and status reports to client's administrative body 
or other interested parties within the community, as necessary, to help educate and inform 
them on the progress of this initiative. 

• Acting as a liaison between HHSC and CLIENT to address any questions and keep CLIENT 
informed on changes in state and federal regulations. 

Page 9 



Medicaid Average Commercial Rate Supplemental Payment Program Services 

PCG will work with CLIENT to analyze and calculate average commercial rate data that will 
help CLIENT receive funds related to the Enhanced Reimbursements for Qualityiog Publicly 
Owned Ground Emergency Ambulance Service Providers, as administered by HHSC. Upon 
approval, this program will allow for Average Commercial Rate reimbursement for Medicaid fee 
for service and Medicaid managed care transports. 

PCG will perform the following services to ensure that CLIENT will maximize reimbursement 
while mitigating audit risk. 

• Working on behalf of CLIENT to receive approval of the program by HHSC and the Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), including: 
o Drafting Medicaid state plan and Medicaid preprint forms to facilitate HHSC and CMS 

approval. 
o Reviewiog Medicaid state plan amendment materials and changes to the Texas 

Administrative Code to ensure program requirements are developed in the best interests 
of CLIENT. 

o Drafting responses to requests for additional information from HHSC and CMS. 
o Providing representation in meetings with HHSC leadership on behalf of CLIENT to 

obtain program approval. 

• Completing the application to enroll CLIENT in the program. 

• Preparing fiscal impact analysis and presenting results to CLIENT to demonstrate the 
benefits of the program. 

• Providing support and education to CLIENT's leadership on intergovernmental transfer 
(IGT) funding requirements. 

• Preparing draft contract documents to facilitate average commercial rate reimbursement 
with Medicaid managed care organizations. 

• Assisting with contracting efforts with Medicaid managed care organizations. 

• Collecting average commercial billing data to complete payment calculations, including: 
o VerifYing commercial carrier data to ensure appropriate inclusion of payment rates. 
o Determining which payment model is most advantageous to CLIENT, for example an 

overall payment per transport or per procedure code payment model. 
o Analyzing claims data to determine the total payment per transport. 
o Excluding certain transports that are not emergent in nature. 

• Completing the rebasing of the average commercial rate survey. 

• Analyzing and verifYing commercial rate data to validate payment receipts, includiog 
pulling remits from commercial payments to validate payment levels. 

Page 10 



• Conducting comparative analysis to identify significant quarter to quarter trends in billing 
and financial data. 

• Providing comprehensive audit support, including but not limited to conducting reviews of 
all average commercial rate calculations, performing detailed analysis of billing reports 
generated by HHSC to ensure that all allowable charges and payments are encompassed in 
the calculation of the supplemental payment, and drafting letters and providing supporting 
documentation to meet Medicaid requirements and expedite supplemental payments. 

• Providing ongoing technical assistance on programmatic and policy issues related to the 
Ambulance Supplemental Payment Program. 

Other Consulting Services 

At request of CLIENT, and agreement on scope of services and pricing, PCG will provide other 
consulting services, including the following: 

• Medicare Ground Ambulance Cost Data Collection Consulting Services 
o Standard: Training and Help Desk Supoort 

• Medicare Cost Survey training via secure web-based portal with access to 
individual training modules for each survey component; 

• Data compilation guidance and automated tools to facilitate data collection and cost 
survey preparation; and 

• Dedicated help desk support, up to five scheduled hours. 

o Professional: Training, Help Desk Support, and Detailed Desk Review 
• Medicare Cost Survey training via secure web-based portal with access to 

individual training modules for each survey component; 
• Data compilation guidance and automated tools to facilitate data collection and cost 

survey preparation; 
• Dedicated help desk support, up to five scheduled hours; 
• Detailed desk review of the Medicare Cost Survey and supporting documentation 

with summary of findings; 
• Analysis of costs in comparison to "like-sized" departments; 
• Written report of findings with recommendations, areas of concern, and 

considerations; and 
• Scheduled conference call to walk through desk review results, cost analysis, and 

recommendations. 
• EMS Consulting Services 

o Conducting fire/EMS department management and operational efficiency studies. 
o Performing EMS system studies. 
o Developing fire department and EMS feasibility stuclies. 
o Completing cost of service and rate analysis studies for EMS systems. 

Page 11 



• Emergency Triage, Treat, and Transport (ET3) Consulting Services 
o Guiding the ET3 application and submission process. 
o Developing the ET3 strategy and formulating ET3-like multi-payer model. 
o Developing, tracking and reporting quality metrics to CMS 
o Providing ongoing project management for successful ET3 participation. 

Page 12 



ATTACHMENT B 
COMPENSATION 

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, CLIENT shall compensate PCG as 
follows: 

SUPPLEMENTAL PAYMENT SERVICES 

AJI revenue due to CLIENT from the Ambulance Supplemental Payment Program shaJI be paid 
in full directly to CLIENT from the STATE OF TEXAS ("payer"). Within 30 days after 
CLIENT receives payment from payer, PCG will invoice CLIENT in full for all professional 
services performed by PCG for the client to realize revenue from the Ambulance Supplemental 
Payment Program. In consideration of the professional services to be performed by PCG, 
CLIENT shaJI pay PCG for services performed a fee of fifteen (1 S) percent of aJI revenues 
realized by CLIENT as a result of the services performed under this Agreement. 

The term for services to be performed by PCG under this 3 year Agreement will include the cost 
reporting cycle, including cost report preparation and subsequent payment from the State of 
Texas, for the cost reporting period for Federal Fiscal Year 2020 (October I, 2019- September 
30, 2020), Federal Fiscal Year 2021 (October I, 2020- September 30, 2021), and Federal Fiscal 
Year 2022 (October I, 2021 - September 30, 2022). PCG will provide contracted services 
through the completion and issuance of payment from the State of Texas to clients for the 
Federal Fiscal Year 2022 cost report, estimated to occur on or before September 30, 2023, and 
maybe extended two (2) additional12 month periods. 

MEDICARE GROUND AMBULANCE COST DATA COLLECTION SERVICES 

If CLIENT chooses to retain PCG for Medicare Ground Ambulance Cost Data CoJiection 
Services, CLIENT shall compensate PCG for the Medicare Ground Ambulance Data CoJiection 
Contracted Services set forth in Attachment A as foJiows: 

• If CLIENT selects Standard level support, the fee will be $2,500. 
• If CLIENT selects Professional level support, the fee will be $10,000. 

EMS CONSULTING SERVICES 

Compensation and Term to be negotiated and agreed upon with CLIENT. 

ET3 CONSULTING SERVICES 

Compensation and Term to be negotiated and agreed upon with CLIENT. 

Page 13 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-118 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXTEND THE 

AGREEMENT WITH PUBLIC CONSULTING GROUP, INC FOR 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATED TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE 

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AMBULANCE SUPPLEMENTAL PAY PROGRAM 

DESIGNED TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO THE FIRE 

DEPARTMENT EMS PROGRAM; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS 

RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS 

PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) allows states to 

establish alternative payment methodologies (Supplemental Payments) for certain classes of 

providers pursuant to 42 CFR 447.321, section 1902(a)(30) of the Social Security Act, and  

  

WHEREAS, The alternative payment methodologies would supplement current Medicaid 

payments received by CITY, and would be based on cost reimbursement for Medicaid-eligible 

costs, and  

 

WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR possesses professional skills that can assist CITY in 

analyzing and reporting costs to secure supplemental CMS payments, and  

 

WHEREAS, CITY previously engaged CONTRACTOR as an independent contractor to 

perform certain professional services in connection with this initiative in October, 2020, and 

 

WHEREAS, the agreement permits two extensions of one year each by mutual consent of 

the Party’s following the initial three year agreement, and  

 

WHEREAS, this is the first extension requested.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1:  That the City Commission of the City of Texas City hereby authorizes the 

Mayor to extend the Agreement with Public Consulting Group, Inc. in substantially the same form 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made part thereof. 

 

 SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 

passage and adoption. 

 

  



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Mayor    

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

___________________________   ____________________________    

Rhomari D. Leigh      Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (d)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
2023 Employee Christmas Gift Cards
Submitted For: Jennifer Price, Human Resources 
Submitted By: Susan Sensat, Human Resources
Department: Human Resources

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approving the purchase of 462 Visa gift cards in the amount of $50.00 each to be given to the
City Employees (full time and part-time), as an incentive for continued outstanding customer
service and performance. (Human Resources)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The total cost for the cards is $23,100.00 which includes 462 cards at $50.00 each, plus a
$1.50 per card activation charge of $693.00.  Shipping cost is unknown.  This is an annual
item and is budgeted.  The cards are given prior to Christmas to all full time and
part-time employees with over a year of service.

RECOMMENDATION
Consider approving.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-119 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 462 VISA GIFT CARDS IN 

THE AMOUNT OF $50.00 EACH, TO BE GIVEN TO CITY EMPLOYEES 

(FULL AND PART-TIME), AS AN INCENTIVE FOR CONTINUED 

OUTSTANDING CUSTOMER SERVICE AND PERFORMANCE; AND 

PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION. 

 

WHEREAS, the City requests approval of the purchase of 462 Visa Gift Cards in the 

amount of $50.00 each, to be given to City Employees (full and part-time), as an incentive for 

continued outstanding customer service and performance. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the purchase of 462 Visa Gift Cards in the amount of $50.00 each, to be given to City Employees 

(full and part-time), as an incentive for continued outstanding customer service and performance. 

 

 SECTION 2: The cost for the cards is $23,100.00, which includes 462 cards at $50.00 each, 

plus a $1.50 per card activation charge and additional shipping fees. 

  

 SECTION 3:  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 
 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

__________________________  

     Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor 

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

__________________________    __________________________  

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (e)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Ratify submission of PRO Housing Grant Application to HUD
Submitted For: Titilayo Smith, Community Development/ Grant Admin 
Submitted By: Titilayo Smith, Community Development/ Grant Admin
Department: Community Development/ Grant Admin

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Ratify the submission of the application to HUD for the PRO Housing Grant.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
HUD will provide PRO Housing grants to identify and remove barriers to affordable housing
production and preservation. Grantees may use awards to further develop, evaluate, and
implement housing policy plans, improve housing strategies, and facilitate affordable housing
production and preservation. Eligible applicants are local and state governments, metropolitan
planning organizations (MPOs), and multijurisdictional entities.

HUD has six goals for this competition:
• Fairly and effectively award the PRO Housing grant funding
• Elevate and enable promising practices dedicated to identifying and removing barriers to
affordable housing production and preservation, while preventing displacement
• Institutionalize state and local analysis and implementation of effective, equitable, and
resilient approaches to affordable housing production and preservation
• Provide technical assistance to help communities better fulfill the Consolidated Plan’s
requirement of identifying barriers to affordable housing and implementing solutions to
address those barriers
• Affirmatively further fair housing by addressing and removing barriers that perpetuate
segregation, barriers that inhibit access to well-resourced areas of opportunity for protected
class groups and vulnerable populations, and barriers that concentrate affordable housing in
under-resourced areas.

Applicable Goals and Objectives from HUD’s Strategic Plan

1. Strategic Goal 1: Support Underserved Communities
Fortify support for underserved communities and support equitable community development
for all people.
2. 1A: Advance Housing Justice
Fortify support for vulnerable populations, underserved communities, and Fair Housing
enforcement.
3. 1B: Reduce Homelessness
Strengthen Federal, State, Tribal, and community implementation of the Housing First
approach to reducing the prevalence of homelessness, with the ultimate goal of ending
homelessness.
4. 1C: Invest in the Success of Communities
Promote equitable community development that generates wealth-building for underserved



communities, particularly for communities of color.
5. Strategic Goal 2: Ensure Access to and Increase the Production of Affordable Housing
Ensure housing demand is matched by adequate production of new homes and equitable
access to housing opportunities for all people.
6. 2A: Increase the Supply of Housing
Enhance HUD's programs that increase the production and supply of housing across the
country.
7. Strategic Goal 3: Promote Homeownership
Promote Homeownership opportunities, equitable access to credit for purchase and
improvements, and wealth-building in underserved communities.
8. 3A: Advance Sustainable Homeownership
Advance the deployment of tools and capital that put sustainable homeownership within reach.
9. Strategic Goal 4: Advance Sustainable Communities
Advance sustainable communities by strengthening climate resilience and energy efficiency,
promoting environmental justice, and recognizing housing's role as essential to health.
10. 4A: Guide Investment in Climate Resilience
Invest in climate resilience, energy efficiency, and renewable energy across HUD programs.
11. 4B: Strengthen Environmental Justice
Reduce exposure to health risks, environmental hazards, and substandard housing,
especially for low-income households and communities of color.

Applicable goals from the City of Texas City's 2023 Action Plan

1. Improve Presentation of Low- to Mod-Areas
2. Improve Condition of Housing Stock
3. Provide Housing Assistance
4. Administration/Planning

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Director of Community Development & Grants Administration
that the Commission ratify the submission of this application on behalf the City of Texas City
to further the City's mission to provide decent and affordable housing to low and
moderate-income citizens.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Notice of Funding Opportunity 
Resolution 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
 

Community Planning and Development  
 

Pathways to Removing Obstacles to Housing (PRO Housing) 
FR-6700-N-98 

10/30/2023 



 

  Page 1 of 80 
 

Table of Contents 
OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................3 

I. FUNDING OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION .........................................................................3 

A. Program Description ...............................................................................................................3 

B. Authority ...............................................................................................................................11 

II. AWARD INFORMATION ...................................................................................................12 

A. Available Funds ....................................................................................................................12 

B. Number of Awards ................................................................................................................12 

C. Minimum/Maximum Award Information .............................................................................12 

D. Period of Performance ...........................................................................................................12 

E. Type of Funding Instrument ..................................................................................................12 

III. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION .........................................................................................12 

A. Eligible Applicants ................................................................................................................12 

B. Ineligible Applicants .............................................................................................................13 

C. Cost Sharing or Matching ......................................................................................................13 

D. Threshold Eligibility Requirements ......................................................................................13 

E. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting Eligibility ..............................................15 

F. Program-Specific Requirements ............................................................................................15 

G. Criteria for Beneficiaries. ......................................................................................................20 

IV. APPLICATION AND SUBMISSION INFORMATION ...................................................21 

A. Obtain an Application Package .............................................................................................21 

B. Content and Form of Application Submission ......................................................................21 

C.  System for Award Management (SAM) and Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) ......................25 

D. Application Submission Dates and Times ............................................................................25 

E. Intergovernmental Review ....................................................................................................28 

F. Funding Restrictions ..............................................................................................................29 

G. Other Submission Requirements ...........................................................................................30 

V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION .......................................................................33 

A. Review Criteria .....................................................................................................................33 

B. Review and Selection Process ...............................................................................................43 

VI. AWARD ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION ..............................................................45 

A. Award Notices .......................................................................................................................45 

B. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements and Terms for HUD 
Applicants and Recipients of Financial Assistance Awards ......................................................46 



 

  Page 2 of 80 
 

C. Reporting ...............................................................................................................................48 

D. Debriefing .............................................................................................................................49 

VII. AGENCY CONTACT(S) ...................................................................................................66 

VIII. OTHER INFORMATION ................................................................................................67 

APPENDIX ................................................................................................................................68 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Program Office: 



 

  Page 3 of 80 
 

Community Planning and Development  
Funding Opportunity Title: 
Pathways to Removing Obstacles to Housing (PRO Housing) 
Funding Opportunity Number: 
FR-6700-N-98 
Assistance Listing Number (formerly CFDA Number): 
14.023 
Due Date for Applications: 
10/30/2023 
OVERVIEW 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) issues this Notice of Funding 
Opportunity (NOFO) to invite applications from eligible applicants for the program and purpose 
described within this NOFO. You, as a prospective applicant, should carefully read all 
instructions in all sections to avoid sending an incomplete or ineligible application. HUD funding 
is highly competitive. Failure to respond accurately to any submission requirement could result 
in an incomplete or noncompetitive proposal. 

In accordance with Title 24 part 4, subpart B of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), during 
the selection process (which includes HUD’s NOFO development and publication and concludes 
with the award of assistance), HUD is prohibited from disclosing covered selection information. 
Examples of impermissible disclosures include: 1) information regarding any applicant’s relative 
standing; 2) the amount of assistance requested by any applicant; and 3) any information 
contained in the application. Prior to the application deadline, HUD may not disclose the identity 
of any applicant or the number of applicants that have applied for assistance. 

For further information regarding this NOFO, direct questions regarding the specific 
requirements of this NOFO to the agency contact identified in section VII. 
 
Paperwork Reduction Act Statement. In accordance with the Paperwork Reduction Act of 
1995 (44 U.S.C. 3501- 3520) (PRA), the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) approved 
the information collection requirements in this NOFO. HUD may not conduct or sponsor, and a 
person is not required to respond to a collection of information unless the collection displays a 
valid OMB control number. This NOFO identifies its applicable OMB control number, unless its 
collection of information is excluded from these requirements under 5 CFR part 1320. 

OMB Approval Number(s): 
2506-0220 
I. FUNDING OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION 
A. Program Description 
1. Purpose 

Communities nationwide are suffering from a lack of affordable housing, and housing 
production is not meeting the increasing demand for accessible and available units in many urban 
and rural areas, particularly areas of high opportunity. Pathways to Removing Obstacles to 
Housing (PRO Housing) empowers communities that are actively taking steps to remove barriers 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4/subpart-B
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-5/chapter-III/subchapter-B/part-1320?toc=1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-5/chapter-III/subchapter-B/part-1320?toc=1


 

  Page 4 of 80 
 

to affordable housing and seeking to increase housing production and lower housing costs for 
families over the long term. 

Barriers to affordable housing can be caused by zoning decisions, land use policies, or 
regulations; inefficient procedures; gaps in available resources for development; deteriorating or 
inadequate infrastructure; lack of neighborhood amenities; or challenges to preserving existing 
housing stock such as increasing threats from natural hazards, redevelopment that reduces the 
number of affordable units, or expiration of affordability requirements. 

Across the United States, regulatory and other barriers have made it difficult to produce, 
preserve, and access affordable housing. Constrained supply drives up housing costs and this 
reduces affordability over the long term. According to American Community Survey estimates in 
2021, 39.3 million households (20.9 million renters and 18.4 million homeowners) have been 
classified as “cost-burdened,” spending more than 30 percent of their income on housing. When 
broken down by race, Black families face affordability challenges as homeowners and renters 
more than any other race/ethnic group, spending between 30 to 50 percent of their income on 
housing. In Puerto Rico, cost-burdened households face severe affordability challenges, spending 
between 50 to 90 percent of their income on housing. Limited access to housing has long-term 
effects on access to opportunity and ability to build generational wealth, especially for 
underserved communities of color and low-income people. Affordability challenges and the lack 
of affordable housing supply further increase eviction pressures and likelihood of homelessness 
for low-income people. 

HUD is issuing this NOFO under the authority of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023 
(Public Law 117-328, approved December 29, 2022) (Appropriations Act), which appropriates 
$85 million for competitive grant funding for the identification and removal of barriers to 
affordable housing production and preservation. Congress has directed HUD to undertake a 
competition using the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) statutory and regulatory 
framework. Under this NOFO, HUD will provide PRO Housing grants to identify and remove 
barriers to affordable housing production and preservation. Grantees may use awards to further 
develop, evaluate, and implement housing policy plans, improve housing strategies, and facilitate 
affordable housing production and preservation. Eligible applicants are local and state 
governments, metropolitan planning organizations (MPOs), and multijurisdictional entities. 

HUD has six goals for this competition: 

• Fairly and effectively award the PRO Housing grant funding 
• Elevate and enable promising practices dedicated to identifying and removing barriers to 

affordable housing production and preservation, while preventing displacement 
• Institutionalize state and local analysis and implementation of effective, equitable, and 

resilient approaches to affordable housing production and preservation 
• Provide technical assistance to help communities better fulfill the Consolidated Plan’s 

requirement of identifying barriers to affordable housing and implementing solutions to 
address those barriers 

• Affirmatively further fair housing by addressing and removing barriers that perpetuate 
segregation, barriers that inhibit access to well-resourced areas of opportunity for 
protected class groups and vulnerable populations, and barriers that concentrate 
affordable housing in under-resourced areas. 



 

  Page 5 of 80 
 

• Facilitate collaboration and harness innovative approaches from jurisdictions, 
researchers, advocates, and stakeholders. 

HUD will prioritize applicants that demonstrate: (1) progress and a commitment to overcoming 
local barriers to facilitate the increase in affordable housing production and preservation; and (2) 
an acute demand for housing affordable to households with incomes below 100 percent of the 
area median income. If applicable, proposals should also explain how the funds would be used to 
identify and remove barriers to affordable housing in a manner that affirmatively furthers fair 
housing by expanding access to housing opportunities in well-resourced areas for protected class 
groups. HUD will also prioritize applicants that demonstrate a commitment and ability to 
identify and remove barriers to (1) expanding affordable housing in a manner that would 
promote desegregation; (2) expanding affordable housing in well-resourced areas of opportunity 
for protected class groups that have systematically been denied equitable access to such areas; or 
(3) deconcentrating affordable housing and increasing housing choice. HUD encourages 
applications that incorporate a discussion of key barriers related to land-use regulations, 
permitting, or related procedural issues. HUD further encourages applicants to outline and 
discuss how their proposed activities will advance equity, locate affordable accessible housing 
near transit and bolster access to services and opportunities, increase community resilience and 
mitigate the effects of natural and environmental hazards, and develop and preserve affordable 
housing in accordance with input from community members and other stakeholders. 

As with all CDBG assistance, the priority is to serve low- and moderate-income people. 

PRO Housing grantees must administer the PRO Housing grant in a manner that affirmatively 
furthers fair housing, which means taking meaningful actions, in addition to combating 
discrimination, to overcome patterns of segregation and foster inclusive communities free from 
barriers that restrict access to opportunity based on protected characteristics. Specifically, 
affirmatively furthering fair housing means taking meaningful actions that, taken together, 
address significant disparities in housing needs and in access to opportunities, replacing 
segregated living patterns with truly integrated and balanced living patterns, transforming 
racially and ethnically concentrated areas of poverty into areas of opportunity, and fostering and 
maintaining compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws. 

2. HUD and Program-Specific Goals and Objectives 

This NOFO supports HUD’s Strategic Plan for Fiscal Years (FY) 2022-2026 to accomplish 
HUD’s mission and vision. Each of the five goals in the Strategic Plan include what HUD hopes 
to accomplish, the strategies to accomplish those objectives, and the indicators of success. 
However, of the five goals only those applicable to this NOFO are identified below. 

You are expected to align your application to the applicable strategic goals and objectives below. 
Use the information in this section to describe in your application the specific goals, objectives, 
and measures that your project is expected to help accomplish. If your project is selected for 
funding, you are also expected to establish a plan to track progress related to those goals, 
objectives, and measures. HUD will monitor compliance with the goals, objectives, and 
measures in your project. 

Applicable Goals and Objectives from HUD’s Strategic Plan 
1. Strategic Goal 1: Support Underserved Communities 
Fortify support for underserved communities and support equitable community development for 

https://www.hud.gov/HUD-FY22-26-Strategic-Plan-Focus-Areas
https://www.hud.gov/HUD-FY22-26-Strategic-Plan-Focus-Areas


 

  Page 6 of 80 
 

all people. 
2. 1A: Advance Housing Justice 
Fortify support for vulnerable populations, underserved communities, and Fair Housing 
enforcement. 
3. 1B: Reduce Homelessness 
Strengthen Federal, State, Tribal, and community implementation of the Housing First approach 
to reducing the prevalence of homelessness, with the ultimate goal of ending homelessness. 
4. 1C: Invest in the Success of Communities 
Promote equitable community development that generates wealth-building for underserved 
communities, particularly for communities of color. 
5. Strategic Goal 2: Ensure Access to and Increase the Production of Affordable Housing 
Ensure housing demand is matched by adequate production of new homes and equitable access 
to housing opportunities for all people. 
6. 2A: Increase the Supply of Housing 
Enhance HUD's programs that increase the production and supply of housing across the country. 
7. Strategic Goal 3: Promote Homeownership 
Promote homeownership opportunities, equitable access to credit for purchase and 
improvements, and wealth-building in underserved communities. 
8. 3A: Advance Sustainable Homeownership 
Advance the deployment of tools and capital that put sustainable homeownership within reach. 
9. Strategic Goal 4: Advance Sustainable Communities 
Advance sustainable communities by strengthening climate resilience and energy efficiency, 
promoting environmental justice, and recognizing housing's role as essential to health. 
10. 4A: Guide Investment in Climate Resilience 
Invest in climate resilience, energy efficiency, and renewable energy across HUD programs. 
11. 4B: Strengthen Environmental Justice 
Reduce exposure to health risks, environmental hazards, and substandard housing, especially for 
low-income households and communities of color. 
 
3. Changes from Previous NOFO 

Not applicable 

4. Definitions 

a. Standard Definitions 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) means taking meaningful actions, in addition 
to combating discrimination to overcome patterns of segregation and foster inclusive 
communities free from barriers that restrict access to opportunity based on protected 
characteristics. Specifically, affirmatively furthering fair housing means taking meaningful 
actions that, taken together, address significant disparities in housing needs and in access to 
opportunities, replacing segregated living patterns with truly integrated and balanced living 
patterns, transforming racially and ethnically concentrated areas of poverty into areas of 
opportunity, and fostering and maintaining compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws. 
The duty to affirmatively further fair housing extends to all program participant’s activities and 
programs relating to housing and urban development. 



 

  Page 7 of 80 
 

Assistance Listing number refers to the unique number assigned to each Federal assistance 
program publicly available in the Assistance Listing, which is managed and administered by the 
General Services Administration. The Assistance Listing number was formerly known as the 
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number. 

Authorized Organization Representative (AOR) is a person authorized to legally bind your 
organization and submit applications via Grants.gov. The AOR is authorized by the E-Business 
Point of Contact (E-Biz POC) in the System for Award Management (see E-Biz POC definition). 
An AOR may include an Expanded AOR and/or a Standard AOR. 

Expanded Authorized Organization Representative is a user in Grants.gov who is 
authorized by the E-Biz POC to perform the functions of a Standard AOR, initiate and 
submit applications on behalf of your organization, and is allowed to modify organization-
level settings and certifications in Grants.gov. 

Standard Authorized Organization Representative is a user in Grants.gov who is authorized 
by the E-Biz POC to initiate and submit applications in Grants.gov. A Grants.gov user with 
the Standard AOR role can only submit applications when they are a Participant for that 
workspace. 

Consolidated Plan is the document submitted to HUD that serves as the comprehensive housing 
affordability strategy, community development plan, and submission for funding under any of 
the Community Planning and Development formula grant programs (e.g., CDBG, ESG, HOME, 
and HOPWA). This Plan is prepared in accordance with the process described in 24 CFR part 91. 
This plan is completed by engaging in a participatory process to assess their affordable housing 
and community development needs and market conditions, and to make data-driven, place-based 
investment decisions with funding from formula grant programs. (See 24 CFR part 91 for HUD’s 
requirements regarding the Consolidated Plan and related Action Plan). 

Contract means, for the purpose of Federal financial assistance, a legal instrument by which a 
recipient or subrecipient purchases property or services needed to carry out the project or 
program under a federal award. For additional information on contractor and subrecipient 
determinations, see 2 CFR 200.331. 

Contractor means an entity that receives a contract as defined above and in 2 CFR 200.1. 

Cooperative agreement has the same meaning defined at 2 CFR 200.1. 

Deficiency, with respect to the making of an application for funding, is information missing or 
omitted within a submitted application. Examples of deficiencies include missing documents, 
missing or incomplete information on a form, or some other type of unsatisfied information 
requirement. Depending on specific criteria, a deficiency may be either Curable or Non-Curable. 

A Curable Deficiency is missing or incomplete application information that may be 
corrected by the applicant with timely action. To be curable, the deficiency must: 

• Not be a threshold requirement, except for documentation of applicant eligibility; 
• Not influence how an applicant is ranked or scored versus other applicants; and 
• Be remedied within the time frame specified in the notice of deficiency. 

A Non-Curable Deficiency is missing or incomplete application information that cannot be 
corrected by an applicant after the submission deadline. A non-curable deficiency is a 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-91
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-91
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR031321e29ac5bbd/section-200.331
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200


 

  Page 8 of 80 
 

deficiency that is a threshold requirement, or a deficiency that, if corrected, would change an 
applicant’s score or rank versus other applicants. If an application includes a non-curable 
deficiency, the application may receive an ineligible determination, or the non-curable 
deficiency may otherwise adversely affect the application’s score and final funding 
determination. 

E-Business Point of Contact (E-Biz POC) is an organization applicant who is responsible for 
the administration and management of grant activities for his or her organization. The E-Biz 
POC is likely to be an organization's chief financial officer or authorizing official. The E-Biz 
POC authorizes representatives of their organization to apply on behalf of the organization (see 
Authorized Organization Representative definition). There can only be one E-Biz POC per 
unique entity identifier (see definition of Unique Entity Identifier below). 

Eligibility requirements are mandatory requirements for an application to be eligible for 
funding. 

Environmental Justice means investing in environmental improvements, remedying past 
environmental inequities, and otherwise developing, implementing, and enforcing laws and 
policies in a manner that advances environmental equity and provides meaningful involvement 
for people and communities that have been environmentally underserved or overburdened, such 
as Black and Brown communities, indigenous groups, and individuals with disabilities. This 
definition does not alter the requirements under HUD’s regulations at 24 CFR 58.5(j) and 24 
CFR 50.4(l) implementing Executive Order 12898. E.O. 12898 requires a consideration of how 
federally assisted projects may have disproportionately high and adverse human health or 
environmental effects on minority and/or low-income populations. For additional information on 
environmental review compliance, refer to: 
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/environment_energy/regulations. 

Equity has the meaning given to that term in Section 2(a) of Executive Order 13985 and means 
the consistent and systematic fair, just, and impartial treatment of all individuals, including 
individuals who belong to underserved communities that have been denied such treatment, such 
as Black, Latino, and Indigenous and Native American persons, Asian Americans and Pacific 
Islanders and other persons of color; members of religious minorities; lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
transgender, and queer (LGBTQ+) persons; persons with disabilities; persons who live in rural 
areas; and persons otherwise adversely affected by persistent poverty or inequality. 

Federal Award, has the meaning, depending on the context, in either paragraphs (1) or (2) of 
this definition: 

(1) 

(a) The Federal financial assistance that a recipient receives directly from a Federal 
awarding agency or a subrecipient receives indirectly from a pass-through entity, as 
described in 2 CFR 200.101; or 

(b) The cost-reimbursement contract under the Federal Acquisition Regulations that a 
non- Federal entity receives directly from a federal awarding agency or indirectly from a 
pass- through entity, as described in 2 CFR 200.101. 

(2) The instrument setting forth the terms and conditions. The instrument is the grant 
agreement, cooperative agreement, other agreement for assistance covered in paragraph (2) 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-58/subpart-A/section-58.5
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50/subpart-A/section-50.4
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50/subpart-A/section-50.4
https://www.archives.gov/files/federal-register/executive-orders/pdf/12898.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/environment_energy/regulations
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/25/2021-01753/advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200


 

  Page 9 of 80 
 

of the definitions of Federal financial assistance in 2 CFR 200.1, and this NOFO, or the cost-
reimbursement contract awarded under the Federal Acquisition Regulations. 

(3) Federal award does not include other contracts that a Federal agency uses to buy goods or 
services from a contractor or a contract to operate Federal Government owned, contractor 
operated facilities (GOCOs). 

(4) See also definitions of Federal financial assistance, grant agreement, and cooperative 
agreement in 2 CFR 200.1. 

Federal Financial Assistance has the same meaning defined at 2 CFR 200.1. 
Grants.gov is the website serving as the Federal government’s central portal for searching and 
applying for Federal financial assistance throughout the Federal government. Registration on 
Grants.gov is required for submission of applications to prospective agencies unless otherwise 
specified in this NOFO. 

Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs) are any historically Black college or 
university that was established prior to 1964, whose principal mission was, and is, the education 
of Black Americans, and that is accredited by a nationally recognized accrediting agency or 
association determined by the Secretary of Education to be a reliable authority as to the quality 
of training offered or is, according to such an agency or association, making reasonable progress 
toward accreditation. A list of accredited HBCUs can be found at the U.S. Department of 
Education’s website. 

Minority-Serving Institutions (MSIs) are 

(1) a part B institution (as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1061); 

(2) a Hispanic-serving institution (as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1101(a)(5)); 

(3) a Tribal College or University (as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1059c); 

(4) an Alaska Native-serving institution or a Native Hawaiian-serving institution (as defined in 
20 U.S.C. 1059d(b)); 

(5) a Predominantly Black Institution (as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1059e); 

(6) an Asian American and Native American Pacific Islander-serving institution (as defined in 20 
U.S.C. 1059g); or 

(7) a Native American-serving nontribal institution (as defined in 20 U.S.C. 1059f). 

Non-Federal Entity (NFE) means a state, local government, Indian tribe, Institution of Higher 
Education (IHE), or non-profit organization that carries out a federal award as a recipient or 
subrecipient. 

Primary Point of Contact (PPOC) is the person who may be contacted with questions about 
the application submitted by the AOR. The PPOC is listed in item 8F on the SF-424. 

Racial Equity is the elimination of racial disparities, and is achieved when race can no longer 
predict opportunities, distribution of resources, or outcomes – particularly for Black and Brown 
persons, which includes Black, Latino, indigenous, Native American, Asian, Pacific Islander, 
and other persons of color. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200
https://sites.ed.gov/whhbcu/one-hundred-and-five-historically-black-colleges-and-universities/
https://sites.ed.gov/whhbcu/one-hundred-and-five-historically-black-colleges-and-universities/
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partB-sec1061.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapV-partA-sec1101a.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2015-title20/pdf/USCODE-2015-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059c.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2015-title20/pdf/USCODE-2015-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059d.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059e.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059g.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059g.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title20/pdf/USCODE-2020-title20-chap28-subchapIII-partA-sec1059f.pdf


 

  Page 10 of 80 
 

Recipient means an entity, usually but not limited to non-Federal entities, that receives a federal 
award directly from HUD. The term recipient does not include subrecipients or individuals that 
are beneficiaries of the award. 

Resilience is a community’s ability to minimize damage and recover quickly from extreme 
events and changing conditions. 

Small business is defined as a privately-owned corporation, partnership, or sole proprietorship 
that has fewer employees and less annual revenue than regular-sized business. The definition of 
“small”—in terms of being able to apply for government support and qualify for preferential tax 
policy—varies by country and industry. The U.S. Small Business Administration defines a small 
business according to a set of standards based on specific industries. See 13 CFR Part 121. 

Subaward means an award provided by a pass-through entity to a subrecipient for the 
subrecipient to carry out part of a federal award received by the pass-through entity. It does not 
include payments to a contractor or payments to an individual that is a beneficiary of a Federal 
program. A subaward may be provided through any form of legal agreement, including an 
agreement that the pass-through entity considers a contract. 

Subrecipient means an entity, usually but not limited to non-Federal entities, that receives a 
subaward from a pass-through entity to carry out part of a federal award but does not include an 
individual that is a beneficiary of such award. A subrecipient may also be a recipient of other 
federal awards directly from a federal awarding agency. 

System for Award Management (SAM) is the Federal Repository into which an entity must 
provide information required for the conduct of business as a recipient. Registration with SAM is 
required for submission of applications via Grants.gov. You can access the website at 
https://www.sam.gov/SAM/. There is no cost to use SAM. 

Threshold Requirements are eligibility requirements that must be met for an application to be 
reviewed, rated, and ranked. Threshold requirements are not curable, except for documentation 
of applicant eligibility, which are listed in Section III.D., Threshold Eligibility Requirements. 
Similarly, there are eligibility requirements under Section III.E., Statutory and Regulatory 
Requirements Affecting Eligibility. 

Underserved Communities has the meaning given to that term in Section 2(b) of Executive 
Order 13985 and refers to populations sharing a particular characteristic, as well as geographic 
communities, that have been systematically denied a full opportunity to participate in aspects of 
economic, social, and civic life, as exemplified by the list in the definition of “equity” above. 

Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) means the identifier assigned by SAM to uniquely identify 
business entities. As of April 4, 2022, the Federal government has transitioned from the use of 
the DUNS Number to the use of UEI, as the primary means of entity identification for Federal 
awards government-wide. 

b. Program Definitions. 

For the purposes of the PRO Housing program, the following definitions of key terms apply. As 
needed, other definitions related to specific thresholds and rating factors will be provided in 
those sections of the NOFO. All definitions in Section 102 of the Housing and Community 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-13/chapter-I/part-121?toc=1
https://www.sam.gov/SAM/
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/25/2021-01753/advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government


 

  Page 11 of 80 
 

Development Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5302) and in 24 CFR 570.3 apply except as indicated 
below. 

Affordable Housing. HUD recognizes that Federal, state, local, and nonprofit housing financial 
assistance programs apply a range of specific affordable housing definitions. Further, the CDBG 
program regulations and the Consolidated Plan regulations do not define affordable housing; 
grantees must meet affordability requirements applicable to specific programs. Also, CDBG-
assisted housing activities must demonstrate benefit to income-qualified households to meet the 
CDBG low- and moderate-income national objective. However, for the purposes of this PRO 
Housing competition, consistent use of one definition may assist applicants and reviewers, so 
HUD will expect that any rating factor responses relying on a definition of affordable housing 
will apply, at a minimum, the HOME program standards to affordable housing as defined in 24 
CFR 92.252(a), (e), and (f) for rental housing and 24 CFR 92.254 (a)(1)-(4) for homeownership. 

CDBG means the annual Community Development Block Grant program as authorized by the 
Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended (42 U.S.C. 5301 et seq.), and 
its regulations as codified in 24 CFR Part 570. 

Local government shall have the same meaning as “unit of general local government” in section 
102(a)(1) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974: This term “local 
government” includes entitlement CDBG grantees and non-entitlement communities. 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) shall have the same meaning as defined in 
Section 8 of the Federal Transit Act of 1991 at 23 U.S.C. 134(b). 

Multijurisdictional entity refers to any association of local governments or public agencies 
which are bound by collective agreement (such as a memorandum of understanding, joint powers 
authority, interstate compact, or the like), such that HUD determines that the entity is authorized 
and has administrative capability to carry out the activities under this NOFO on behalf of its 
member jurisdiction(s). 

State government shall have the same meaning as “State” in section 102(a)(1) of the Housing 
and Community Development Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5302). 

Transit-oriented development (TOD) creates dense, walkable, and mixed-use spaces near 
transit that support vibrant, sustainable, and equitable communities. TOD projects include a mix 
of commercial, residential, office, and entertainment land uses. Equitable TOD includes a 
strategy for both preserving existing affordable housing and ensuring an adequate supply of new 
affordable housing. 

B. Authority 
The funding for PRO Housing under this NOFO is provided by the Consolidated Appropriations 
Act, 2023 (Public Law 117-328, approved December 29, 2022) (Appropriations Act). The 
program authority for PRO Housing is Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act 
of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5301 et seq.) and the Appropriations Act. 

  



 

  Page 12 of 80 
 

II. AWARD INFORMATION 
A. Available Funds 
 Funding of approximately $85,000,000 is available through this NOFO. 

Additional funds may become available for award under this NOFO consistent with Section 
VI.A.2.e., Adjustments to Funding. Use of these funds is subject to statutory constraints. All 
awards are subject to the funding restrictions contained in this NOFO. 

B. Number of Awards 
HUD expects to make approximately 20 awards from the funds available under this NOFO.  

C. Minimum/Maximum Award Information 
Estimated Total Funding: 
$85,000,000 
Minimum Award Amount: 
$1,000,000 
Per Project Period 

Maximum Award Amount: 
$10,000,000 
Per Project Period 

D. Period of Performance 
 Estimated Project Start Date: 
01/31/2024 
Estimated Project End Date: 
09/30/2029 
Length of Project Periods: 
Other 

Length of Periods Explanation of Other: 
6 year period of performance 

E. Type of Funding Instrument 
Funding Instrument Type: 
G (Grant) 
III. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION 
A. Eligible Applicants 
00 (State governments) 

01 (County governments) 

02 (City or township governments) 

25 (Others (see text field entitled "Additional Information on Eligibility" for clarification)) 

Additional Information on Eligibility 



 

  Page 13 of 80 
 

Other eligible applicants include Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) and 
Multijurisdictional Entities. Refer to the Program Definitions in Section I.A to review how these 
terms are defined in the PRO Housing program. 

B. Ineligible Applicants 
HUD will not award grants to individuals or any entity that does not meet the criteria above.  

HUD will not evaluate applications from ineligible applicants. 

C. Cost Sharing or Matching 
This Program does not require cost sharing or matching, but provides points based on leverage as 
described below.  

HUD will award points under Rating Factor d. (Leverage) for applications that propose qualified 
financial leverage and provide the required firm commitments and/or supporting documentation 
to support each source of financial leverage. Applicants must secure and use all financial 
leverage by the end of the period of performance. Grantees may use other Federal sources as 
financial leverage only if a program’s authorizing statute permits such use. Recipients will also 
report on any leveraged funds received and used in association with this application. 

D. Threshold Eligibility Requirements 
Applicants who fail to meet any of the following threshold eligibility requirements are deemed 
ineligible. Applications from ineligible applicants are not rated or ranked and will not receive 
HUD funding. 
 
1. Resolution of Civil Rights Matters  

Outstanding civil rights matters must be resolved before the application submission deadline. 
Applicants with unresolved civil rights matters at the application deadline are deemed ineligible. 
Applications from ineligible applicants are not rated or ranked and will not receive HUD 
funding. 

a. An applicant is ineligible for funding if the applicant has any of the charges, cause 
determinations, lawsuits, or letters of findings referenced in subparagraphs (1) – (5) that are 
not resolved to HUD’s satisfaction before or on the application deadline date for this NOFO. 

(1) Charges from HUD concerning a systemic violation of the Fair Housing Act or 
receipt of a cause determination from a substantially equivalent state or local fair housing 
agency concerning a systemic violation of a substantially equivalent state or local fair 
housing law proscribing discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex (including 
sexual orientation and gender identity), national origin, disability or familial status; 
(2) Status as a defendant in a Fair Housing Act lawsuit filed by the United States alleging 
a pattern or practice of discrimination or denial of rights to a group of persons raising an 
issue of general public importance under 42 U.S.C. 3614(a); 
(3) Status as a defendant in any other lawsuit filed or joined by the Department of Justice, 
or in which the Department of Justice has intervened, or filed an amicus brief or 
statement of interest, alleging a pattern or practice or systemic violation of Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 109 of 
the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, the Americans with Disabilities 



 

  Page 14 of 80 
 

Act, Violence Against Women Act, or a claim under the False Claims Act related to fair 
housing, non-discrimination, or civil rights generally including an alleged failure to 
affirmatively further fair housing; 
(4) Receipt of a letter of findings identifying systemic non-compliance with Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 109 
of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974; Violence Against Women 
Act; or the Americans with Disabilities Act; or 
(5) Receipt of a cause determination from a substantially equivalent state or local fair 
housing agency concerning a systemic violation of provisions of a state or local law 
prohibiting discrimination in housing based on sexual orientation, gender identity, or 
lawful source of income. 

b. HUD will determine if actions to resolve the charge, cause determination, lawsuit, or letter 
of findings taken before the application deadline date will resolve the matter. Examples of 
actions that may be sufficient to resolve the matter include, but are not limited to: 

(1) Current compliance with a voluntary compliance agreement signed by all the parties; 
(2) Current compliance with a HUD-approved conciliation agreement signed by all the 
parties; 
(3) Current compliance with a conciliation agreement signed by all the parties and 
approved by the state governmental or local administrative agency with jurisdiction over 
the matter; 
(4) Current compliance with a consent order or consent decree; 
(5) Current compliance with a final judicial ruling or administrative ruling or decision; or 
(6) Dismissal of charges. 

2. Timely Submission of Applications  

Applications submitted after the deadline stated within this NOFO that do not meet the 
requirements of the grace period policy are marked late. Late applications are ineligible and are 
not considered for funding. See Section IV. D. Application Submission Dates and Times. 

3. Eligible Applicant 

Applicants must be an eligible applicant in accordance with Section III.A of this NOFO and must 
identify which type of eligible applicant they are in their application. 

Multijurisdictional entities must demonstrate partnership among all parties. The parties may 
demonstrate a partnership by attaching relevant documentation, such as a memorandum of 
understanding or another foundational document (such as a CDBG joint agreement between an 
urban county and a metropolitan city or a HOME consortium agreement), to an application. 

4. Number of Applications 

a. An eligible applicant may submit only one application. 

b. If HUD receives electronically multiple versions of an application, HUD will review the 
last version of the application received by Grants.gov that meets the timely receipt 
requirements. All other applications (i.e., prior versions) will not be considered eligible. If 
applicants find, after submitting an application, that they want to amend or adjust their 



 

  Page 15 of 80 
 

application and it is prior to the deadline date, applicants must resubmit the entire 
application to ensure that HUD gets a complete application. 

E. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting Eligibility 
Eligibility Requirements for Applicants of HUD’s Financial Assistance Programs 
The following requirements affect applicant eligibility. Detailed information on each 
requirement is found in the “Eligibility Requirements for Applicants of HUD’s Financial 
Assistance Programs” document on HUD’s Funding Opportunities page. 

• Universal Identifier and System for Award Management (SAM.gov) Requirements 
• Outstanding Delinquent Federal Debts 
• Debarments or Suspensions, or both 
• Mandatory Disclosure Requirement 
• Pre-selection Review of Performance 
• Sufficiency of Financial Management System 
• False Statements 
• Prohibition Against Lobbying Activities 

In addition, each applicant under this NOFO must have the necessary processes and systems in 
place to comply with the Award Term in Appendix A of 24 CFR part 170 if the applicant 
receives an award, unless an exception applies as provided in 2 CFR170.110. 

F. Program-Specific Requirements 
1. National objectives. Each activity, other than general administration and planning, 

proposed to be carried out with PRO Housing assistance must meet a CDBG national 
objective pursuant to section 101(c) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 
1974: 
a. Benefiting low- and moderate-income persons, 
b. Preventing or eliminating slums or blight, or 
c. Meeting other community development needs having a particular urgency because 
existing conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or welfare of the 
community and other financial resources are not available to meet such needs 

 
2. Eligible activities. 

a. Each proposed activity must be eligible pursuant to section 105(a) of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974 and applicable program regulations at 24 CFR 
part 570, as applied and modified by this NOFO, or receive an eligibility waiver for the 
activity, requested in the application. Applicants may submit a waiver request pursuant to 
Appendix A (Waiver Requests) of this NOFO. HUD does not guarantee that it will grant 
such waivers, but it will evaluate any request prior to determining whether to award 
funds for an application. Please note that PRO Housing funds can be used for new 
construction of affordable accessible housing. HUD is waiving 42 U.S.C. 5305(a) and 24 
CFR 570.207(b)(3) and adopting alternative requirements to the extent necessary to 
permit new construction of housing, subject to the same requirements that apply to 

https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-25/chapter-I/subchapter-H/part-170
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170/subpart-A/section-170.110


 

  Page 16 of 80 
 

rehabilitation activities under the provisions at section 105(a)(4) of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5305(a)(4)) and 24 CFR 570.202(b). 

b. Eligible activities must identify and seek to remove one or more barriers to affordable 
housing production and preservation. Additionally, each proposed activity must do one 
or more of the following: 

i. Further develop, evaluate, and implement housing policy plans 
ii. Improve housing strategies 
iii. Facilitate affordable housing production and preservation 

c. Eligible activities may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

i. Planning and policy activities supporting affordable housing. Grantees may use 
PRO Housing funds to develop proposals for planning and policy activities that 
support affordable housing production and preservation. Grantees may not fund the 
general conduct of government, as described in Section III.F.3.e. Examples include 
but are not limited to: 

A. Developing or updating housing plans, community development strategies, and 
zoning and land use policies such as overlays to encourage multifamily and mixed-
use development or access to affordable housing, floating zones (such as 
redevelopment, workforce housing, or live/work zones in high opportunity areas), 
incentive zoning, transit-oriented development zones, or ordinances to encourage 
housing development or preservation 
B. Developing or updating housing plans, community development strategies, and 
zoning and land use policies to simplify, streamline, or change overlays that create a 
barrier to affordable housing development or preservation, such as architectural 
review or historic preservation overlays 
C. Developing proposals for new by-right permitting procedures to streamline 
affordable housing development and reduce discretionary approvals 
D. Developing new incentive programs for affordable housing development  
E. Expanding existing affordable housing incentive programs to wider geographies, 
including high-opportunity neighborhoods 
F. Developing proposals to reduce or eliminate requirements related to parking, 
building height, lot coverage, setbacks, minimum unit size, minimum lot size, floor 
area ratio, and other common land use controls  
G. Establishing incentive programs or flexibilities to enable and promote the adaptive 
reuse of vacant or underutilized properties for housing or mixed-use development 
H. Developing proposals to streamline and modernize local permit processing, such 
as by enabling one-stop or parallel-process permitting  
I. Developing proposals to streamline or eliminate requirements that unduly delay the 
permitting process or establish unreasonable thresholds for approvals, such as 
duplicative and burdensome hearings and documentation for variances, rezonings, or 
similar planning approvals  
J. Developing proposals to rezone to allow multifamily or mixed-use development 
including housing in office, commercial, and light industrial zones  
K. Developing proposals to expedite approvals for affordable housing development 
that meets certain criteria 



 

  Page 17 of 80 
 

L. Developing proposals for higher-density zoning for current single-family and 
multi-family zones, including rezones to allow duplexes, triplexes, or fourplexes by-
right in all areas zoned primarily for single-family homes and encourage property 
owners to ensure that any infill development improves or maintains walkability 
M. Establishing incentive programs, designing pre-approved floorplans, or 
introducing more flexible zoning to enable and promote accessory dwelling units 
N. Developing proposals to replace discretionary design review procedures with 
objective design and development standards 
O. Developing proposals to eliminate restrictions on lower-cost housing types such 
as prefabricated or manufactured homes 
P. Developing proposals to update zoning or incentives to facilitate affordable 
housing on land owned by faith-based organizations 
Q. Developing proposals to restructure fee schedules to eliminate burdensome costs 
for affordable housing development 
R. Creating affordable housing planning resources for member jurisdictions 
S. Developing regional planning models that enhance location efficiency by focusing 
on connecting housing, transportation, and economic growth 
T. Providing affordable housing developers a first look at tax sale properties and 
other government properties 
U. Developing proposals to eliminate, subsidize, waive, or otherwise reduce fees or 
other costs of property subdivision that may discourage the construction of affordable 
housing 
V. Developing proposals for policies that incentivize mixed-income development, 
such as the inclusion of affordable units in market rate properties 
W. Developing proposals to reform building codes, including through adopting or 
modifying model codes or consensus standards, to facilitate more affordable housing 
or otherwise reduce construction costs 
X. Developing proposals to harmonize land-use policies or building codes among 
adjoining municipalities and facilitate consistent regional development standards that 
streamline housing development 

ii. Development activities. Examples include: 

A. Financing the construction or rehabilitation of affordable housing 
B. Acquisition or disposition of land or real property for the development of 
affordable housing 
C. Facilitating the conversion of commercial or other properties to new housing 
D. Establishing or assisting a community development financial institution (CDFI) to 
carry out financing strategies 
E. Providing large-scale technical assistance to affordable or non-profit developers, 
community land trusts, or other entities which leads to the development of affordable 
housing 

iii. Infrastructure activities. Examples include: 

A. Installing new utilities and/or infrastructure improvements necessary for the 
development or preservation of affordable housing 
B. Upgrading existing utilities or improvements to increase an area’s overall capacity 



 

  Page 18 of 80 
 

for new housing   
C. Establishing tax-increment financing districts to fund infrastructure  
improvements or affordable housing development, especially those that incentivize 
affordable housing development 
D. Increasing community resilience by investing in infrastructure improvements and 
nature-based solutions to mitigate the impacts of disasters, natural hazards, and 
extreme weather (such as flood walls, green stormwater management systems, 
landscaping to reduce heat islands, and elevating existing structures), for the 
preservation of affordable housing and to make areas suitable for new affordable 
housing investment. 
E. Investing in neighborhood amenities that benefit low-and-moderate income 
residents such as parks, community centers, bike lanes and improvements to the 
physical environment that increase public safety such as streetlights or sidewalks  

iv. Preservation activities. Examples include: 

A. Acquisition or subsidization of at-risk housing for the purpose of preserving 
affordability 
B. Establishing loan or grant programs with affordability requirements or other 
mechanisms for rehabilitation of existing affordable housing units  
C. Creating anti-displacement policies and prevention measures, such as limitations 
on property tax increases for low-income homeowners near new development, 
ensuring the affordability of new developments, and relocation assistance 
D. Creating a right of first refusal and creating associated resources for tenants at risk 
of displacement 
E. Incentivizing replacement of affordable units for new construction 
F. Capacity building for non-profit entities seeking to pool resources, engage 
landlords regionally, work more cooperatively, undertake joint housing rehabilitation 
programs, or merge operations 
G. Establishing an affordable housing preservation seed fund  
H. Adaptive reuse of historic or commercial properties with minimum affordable 
housing requirements/set-asides. 
I. Supporting shared housing through actions such as revising local occupancy 
regulations, rehabilitating units, establishing resident-matching programs, or similar 
activities 
J. Creating an implementation plan to freeze property tax assessments for LMI 
homeowners (except that the grant may not be used to pay the balance) 
K. Providing technical assistance to community land trusts or other entities which 
leads to the preservation of affordable housing 
L. Providing homebuyer education, assistance, appraisal programs, and other 
educational programs for LMI residents 
M. Preserving affordable housing in segregated, high poverty neighborhoods as part 
of a larger revitalization plan which improves conditions and eliminates disparities in 
access to opportunity between residents 

d. Scope of impact. Competitive proposals will seek to remove the most significant 
barriers to unlocking affordable housing production and pursue area-wide benefits across 
a neighborhood, zoning district, station area, city, region, State, or similar geographic 



 

  Page 19 of 80 
 

area, rather than smaller reforms or changes that may be limited in scope or geography. 
HUD encourages applications that will demonstrate scope of impact through 
incorporating a focus on barrier elimination related to land-use regulations, permitting, or 
related procedural issues. 

3. Ineligible activities. Activities that are ineligible for PRO Housing funding include: 

a. Any activity that does not meet a national objective, as applicable. 
b. Any activity that is not eligible under section 105(a) of the Housing and Community 
Development Act of 1974, applicable implementing regulations, and this NOFO unless a 
waiver is obtained from HUD. 
c. Any activity that is not in compliance with applicable fair housing, nondiscrimination, 
labor standards, and environmental review requirements. 
d. Any activity carried out on or before the date of the letter announcing the award of the 
grant, except that you may use grant funds, should you receive an award, to reimburse 
PRO Housing eligible costs of grant application preparation, including planning and 
public outreach activities. Note that a CDBG grantee may choose to use annual CDBG 
funds to assist in applying for other federal grant programs if the grantee certifies that the 
program would meet local community development objectives, including under this 
NOFO. 
e. Any activity to carry out the regular responsibilities of the unit of general local 
government or for buildings or portions thereof used for the general conduct of 
government. Applicants should plan their approaches accordingly to ensure that PRO 
Housing award funds are not used for such costs. Grantees may and are encouraged to 
use leverage funding for such unallowable costs. 
f. Any activity that results in a net decrease in allowable or actual housing construction. 
Rezoning efforts and development activities must ensure a net increase in zoned capacity 
or number of homes, respectively, to be considered for funding. HUD will not consider 
upzoning efforts which are accompanied by downzoning elsewhere, or managed retreat 
projects or development activities if they will not result in an increase in affordable 
housing units. HUD may make an exception to this requirement for a relocation or 
buyout program that is identified as a strategy for mitigation from an environmental or 
natural hazard (e.g., flood prevention, remediation from contaminants). 

4. Waivers. For information about all waivers HUD is providing for the PRO Housing 
competition, applicants should refer to Section VI.E of this NOFO. For information about 
how to request additional waivers, refer to Appendix A of this NOFO. 

5. Amendments. Post-award, all requests for amendments to the application must be 
submitted to HUD. HUD will review and approve or disapprove any requested amendment 
that is a substantial amendment. Substantial amendments are changes that affect the 
responses to the rating factors and include but are not limited to a change in program benefit, 
beneficiaries, or eligibility criteria; the allocation or re-allocation of more than ten percent of 
the award; or the addition or deletion of an activity. Subsequent to HUD’s review and 
approval, a grantee may substantially amend the Application if it follows the same public 
participation requirements in this NOFO for the preparation and submission of an 
Application and HUD agrees in writing that the amended Application would still score in the 
fundable range for the competition. Prior to preparation and submission of any post-award 



 

  Page 20 of 80 
 

amendment, the grantee is encouraged to work with its HUD representative to ensure the 
proposed change is consistent with this NOFO, and all applicable regulations and Federal 
law. 

Advancing Racial Equity 
In accordance with Executive Order 13985, Executive Order On Advancing Racial Equity and 
Support for Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government, and federal fair 
housing and civil rights laws, you must submit a narrative demonstrating the following: 

▪ You analyzed the racial composition of the persons or households who are expected to 
benefit from your proposed grant activities; 

▪ You identified any potential barriers to persons or communities of color equitably 
benefiting from your proposed grant activities; 

▪ You detailed the steps you will take to prevent, reduce or eliminate these barriers; and 
▪ You have measures in place to track your progress and evaluate the effectiveness of your 

efforts to advance racial equity in your grant activities. 

Note that any actions taken in furtherance of this section must be consistent with federal 
nondiscrimination requirements. 

Applicants should provide this narrative in the Soundness of Approach factor, section V.A.1.b.iv. 

Affirmative Marketing  
You must submit a narrative demonstrating that the housing, services, or other benefits provided 
under this grant will be affirmatively marketed broadly throughout the local area and nearby 
areas to any demographic groups that would be unlikely or least likely to apply absent such 
efforts. Such demographic groups may include, for example, Black and Brown persons or 
communities, individuals with limited English proficiency, individuals with disabilities, or 
families with children. Such activities may include outreach through community contacts or 
service providers or at community centers serving the target population; and marketing on 
websites, social media channels, television, radio, and print media serving local members of the 
targeted group. Documentation for this factor consists of a narrative describing the activities that 
will fulfill the factor requirements. 

Applicants who propose to use PRO Housing grant resources to fund activities directly 
producing or preserving housing units should provide this narrative in the Soundness of 
Approach factor, section V.A.1.b.iv. 

G. Criteria for Beneficiaries. 
Except as described in this NOFO and its appendices, statutory and regulatory provisions 
governing the CDBG program, including Title I of the Housing and Community Development 
Act of 1974 and 24 CFR part 570, shall apply to the use of these funds. For CDBG entitlement 
communities, multijurisdictional entities, and metropolitan planning organizations, regulatory 
provisions at 24 CFR part 570 subparts A, C, D, J, K, and O apply, as appropriate. For states, 24 
CFR part 570 subpart I applies; however, Section VI.E of this NOFO waives the requirement for 
states to distribute funds through a method of distribution as is required for annual State CDBG 
funds. 

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/25/2021-01753/advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government


 

  Page 21 of 80 
 

IV. APPLICATION AND SUBMISSION INFORMATION 
A. Obtain an Application Package 
Instructions for Applicants 
All application materials, including the Application Instructions and Application Package, are 
available through Grants.gov. You must access and review all available application materials. 
You must submit your application electronically via Grants.gov under the Funding Opportunity 
Number cited within this NOFO. Your application must list the applicable Funding Opportunity 
Number. 
You can request a waiver from the requirement for electronic submission, if you demonstrate 
good cause. An example of good cause may include: a lack of available Internet access in the 
geographic area in which your business offices are located. However, lack of SAM registration 
or valid UEI is not a good cause. If you cannot submit your application electronically, you must 
ask in writing for a waiver of the electronic grant submission requirements. HUD will not grant a 
waiver if you fail to submit to HUD in writing or via email a request for a waiver at least 15 
calendar days before the application deadline. If HUD grants a waiver, a paper application must 
be received before the deadline for this NOFO. To request a waiver, you must contact: 
Name: 
Jessie H. Kome 
Email: 
CDBG-PROHousing@hud.gov 
HUD Organization: 
CPD 
Street: 
451 7th Street SW, Room 7282 
City: 
Washington 
State: 
DC DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
Zip: 
20410 
B. Content and Form of Application Submission 
You must verify that boxes 11, 12, and 13 on the SF-424 match the NOFO for which you are 
applying. If they do not match, you have downloaded the wrong Application Instruction and 
Application Package.  
Submission of an application that is otherwise sufficient, under the wrong Assistance Listing and 
Funding Opportunity Number is a Non-Curable Deficiency, unless otherwise stated under the 
Threshold requirements section. 

1. Content 



 

  Page 22 of 80 
 

Forms/Assurances/Certifications Submission 
Requirement Notes/Description 

Application for Federal Assistance 
(SF-424) 

Review 
section IV.G.  
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

 

Applicant and Recipient 
Assurances and Certifications 
(HUD 424-B) 

Review 
section IV.G. 
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

 

Applicant/Recipient 
Disclosure/Update Report (HUD 
2880) 

Review 
section IV.G. 
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements 

 

Disclosure of Lobbying Activities 
(SF-LLL) 

Review 
section IV.G. 
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

Federally recognized Indian tribes and 
tribally designated housing entities 
(TDHEs) established by federally 
recognized Indian tribes as a result of the 
exercise of the tribe’s sovereign power 
are excluded from coverage of the Byrd 
Amendment, but state-recognized Indian 
tribes and TDHEs established only under 
state law shall comply with this 
requirement. 

Certification Regarding Lobbying 
(Lobbying Form) 

Review 
section IV.G. 
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

 

Federal Assistance Assurances Review 
section IV.G. 

 



 

  Page 23 of 80 
 

Forms/Assurances/Certifications Submission 
Requirement Notes/Description 

of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

Grant Application Detailed Budget 
Worksheet (424-CBW) 

Review 
section IV.G. 
of this NOFO 
for detailed 
submission 
requirements. 

 

PRO Housing Certifications 

Refer to 
Appendix B 
of this 
NOFO. 

 

 
Additionally, your complete application must include the following narratives and non-form 
attachments. 

2. Format and Form 
Narratives and other attachments to your application must follow the following format 
guidelines. Do not submit password protected or encrypted files. 

40 Pages maximum length of narratives 

Other  

The narrative shall be 12-point (minimum) Times New Roman font on letter sized paper (8 ½ x 
11 inches) with at least 1-inch margins on all sides 

Instructions on Application Organization and Content.  The following provides instructions 
on the organization and content of your application. All narrative exhibits, attachments, and 
forms are required to be submitted in your application unless otherwise indicated. Review the 
Threshold Eligibility Requirements in Section III.D, Other Submission Requirements in Section 
IV.G, and the Review Criteria in Section V.A for details about what should be submitted. Please 
be advised that not providing information clearly and consistently, and/or not providing exhibits 
and attachments in accordance with the instructions and documentation requirements in this 
NOFO, may negatively impact HUD's ability to determine if your application meets threshold 
requirements or to score your application. This could result in your application not being able to 
be scored and ranked or a lower score.  Please also only submit documents that are required to 
respond to a threshold requirement and/or rating factor. HUD forms required by this NOFO are 
provided in the application package download at http://www.grants.gov/. The list of narrative 
exhibits and attachments is provided below, along with instructions for each. 

http://www.grants.gov/applicants/apply_for_grants.jsp


 

  Page 24 of 80 
 

 
 (1) Table of Contents.  Provide a table of contents matching the submission requirements of 
this section. 
 (2) Narrative Exhibits.  The narrative exhibits required in your applications are as follows: 

Exhibit A Executive Summary.   
Exhibit B Threshold Requirements and Other Submission Requirements.  Review 
and provide a narrative response, as necessary, to the Threshold Eligibility Requirements 
in Section III.D and Other Submission Requirements in Section IV.G 
Exhibit C Need.  Review and provide a narrative response to V.A.1.a 
Exhibit D Soundness of Approach. Review and provide a narrative response to V.A.1.b 
Exhibit E Capacity. Review and provide a narrative response to V.A.1.c  
Exhibit F Leverage. Review and provide a narrative response to V.A.1.d 
Exhibit G Long-term Effect. Review and provide a narrative response to V.A.1.e 

(3) Attachments. 

Attachment A Summary of comments received on published Application and list of 
commenters by name/organization 

Narratives and other attachments to your application must follow the following format 
guidelines. Do not submit password protected or encrypted files. 

a. Application Layout. 
i.  The first part of an application is comprised of narrative exhibits. The narratives respond 
to requirements, rating factors, and other criteria in the NOFO, as indicated below. 
ii. Any pages marked as sub-pages (e.g., with numbers and letters such as 25A, 25B, 25C), 
will be treated as separate pages; 
iii.  If a section is not applicable, indicate 'N/A' as a clear indication to HUD (do not leave the 
section blank); 
iv.  No more than one page of text may be placed on one sheet of paper (i.e., you may not 
shrink pages to get two or more on a page).  Shrunken pages, or pages where a minimized or 
reduced font are used, will be counted as multiple pages; 
v. Do not format the narrative exhibits in columns. Pages with text in columns will be 
counted as two pages; 
vi. All pages should be numbered. 

 
 b. Format and Title Instructions.  Each narrative exhibit should be uploaded as its own 
separate file, with a title page based on the organization instruction in the section above. Do 
not upload an application that has multiple exhibits or attachments in the same file.  HUD 
will use title pages as tabs when it downloads the application. Each title page should only 
contain the name of the narrative exhibit or attachment (e.g., “Exhibit A Executive 
Summary”) and the name of the Applicant. WARNING: The file name should be fewer than 
50 characters and not include spaces or special characters. Also, please note that Grants.gov 
is a system used by the entire Federal government and its structure does not necessarily 
reflect this NOFO (i.e. its Attachment 1 does not refer to PRO Housing Attachment 1).  
Applicants should zip together the multiple attachment files (in one or more zip files, 



 

  Page 25 of 80 
 

depending on the size) they have prepared in accordance with this NOFO and enter them into 
the slots provided by Grants.gov. 

 
 c. Application Page Count. 
 i. Each PRO Housing application must contain no more than 40 pages of narrative exhibits 
and attachments. Any pages beyond this limit will not be reviewed. HUD will not consider 
the information on any excess pages, potentially resulting in a lower score. 
 ii. Exceptions to page limits. The documents listed below constitute the only exceptions and 
are not counted in the page limit listed above. Extraneous information not requested in the 
NOFO that is provided in these attachments will be counted toward the page limit. 

• Table of Contents 
• Eligible Applicants documentation 
• Evidence of partnership letters  
• Leverage documentation  
• Application Certifications and Standard forms 
• Summary of comments received on published Application and list of commenters by 
name/organization (Attachment A) 
• Tabs/title pages that are blank or display a title/header/'n/a' indication 
  

C.  System for Award Management (SAM) and Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) 
1. SAM Registration Requirement 
You must register with https://www.sam.gov/before submitting their application. You must 
maintain current information in SAM on immediate and highest-level owner and subsidiaries, as 
well as on all predecessors that have been awarded a federal contract or grant within the last 
three years, if applicable. Information in SAM must be current for all times during which you 
have an active Federal award or an application or plan under consideration by HUD. 
 
2. UEI Requirement 
As of April 4, 2022, entities doing business with the federal government must use the UEI 
created in SAM.gov. Also, you must provide a valid UEI, registered and active at www.sam.gov/ 
in the application. For more information, see: https://www.gsa.gov/about-
us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-
environment-iae/iae-systems- information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update. 
 
3. Requirement to Register with Grants.gov 
Anyone planning to submit applications on behalf of an organization must register at Grants.gov 
and be approved by the E-Biz POC in SAM to submit applications for the organization. 
Registration for SAM and Grants.gov is a multi-step process and can take four (4) weeks or 
longer to complete if data issues arise. Applicants without a valid registration cannot apply 
through Grants.gov. Complete registration instructions and guidance are provided on Grants.gov. 
D. Application Submission Dates and Times 
1. Application Due Date Explanation 
The application deadline is 11:59:59 PM Eastern time on 

https://www.sam.gov/
http://www.sam.gov/
https://www.gsa.gov/about-us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-environment-iae/iae-systems-information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update
https://www.gsa.gov/about-us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-environment-iae/iae-systems-information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update
https://www.gsa.gov/about-us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-environment-iae/iae-systems-information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update
https://www.gsa.gov/about-us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-environment-iae/iae-systems-information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update


 

  Page 26 of 80 
 

10/30/2023 
Submit your application to Grants.gov unless a waiver has been issued allowing you to submit a 
paper application. Instructions for submitting your paper application will be contained in the 
waiver of electronic submission. 

“Received by Grants.gov” means the applicant received a confirmation of receipt and an 
application tracking number from Grants.gov. Grants.gov then assigns an application tracking 
number and date-and timestamp each application upon successful receipt by the Grants.gov 
system. A submission attempt not resulting in confirmation of receipt and an application tracking 
number is not considered received by Grants.gov. 

Applications received by Grants.gov must be validated by Grants.gov to be received by HUD. 

“Validated by Grants.gov” means the application has been accepted and was not rejected with 
errors. You can track the status of your application by logging into Grants.gov, selecting 
“Applicants” from the top navigation, and selecting “Track my application” from the dropdown 
list. If the application status is “rejected with errors,” you must correct the error(s) and resubmit 
the application before the 24-hour grace period ends. Applications in “rejected with errors” status 
after the 24-hour grace period expires will not be received by HUD. Visit Grants.gov for a 
complete description of processing steps after applying. 

HUD strongly recommends you submit your applications at least 48 hours before the deadline 
and during regular business hours to allow enough time to correct errors or overcome other 
problems. 

2.   Grants.gov Customer Support  

Grants.gov provides customer support information on its website at 
https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/support.html. If you have difficulty accessing the application 
and instructions or have technical problems, contact Grants.gov customer support center by 
calling (800) 518-GRANTS (this is a toll-free number) or by sending an email to 
support@grants.gov.The customer support center is open 24 hours a day, seven days per week, 
except Federal holidays. Individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing, or who have speech and 
other communication disabilities may use a relay service to reach Grants.gov Customer Support. 
To learn more about how to make an accessible telephone call, visit the webpage for Federal 
Communications Commission. 

3.   Grants.gov Application Submission  

You can verify the contents of your submitted application to confirm Grants.gov received 
everything you intended to submit. To verify the contents of your submitted application: 

• Log in to Grants.gov. 
• Click the Check Application Status link, which appears under the Grant Applications 

heading in the Applicant Center page. This will take you to the Check Application Status 
page. 

• Enter search criteria and a date range to narrow your search results. 
• Click the Search button. To review your search results in Microsoft Excel, click the 

Export Data button. 

https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/support.html
mailto:support@grants.gov.
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs


 

  Page 27 of 80 
 

• Review the Status column. To view more detailed submission information, click the 
Details link in the Actions column. 

• To download the submitted application, click the Download link in the Actions column. 

Take note of the Grants.gov tracking number, as it is needed by the Grants.gov customer support 
center should you seek their assistance. 

HUD may extend the application deadline for any program if Grants.gov is offline or not 
available to applicants for at least 24 hours immediately prior to the deadline date, or the system 
is down for 24 hours or longer and impacts the ability of applicants to cure a submission 
deficiency within the grace period. 

HUD may also extend the application deadline upon request if there is a presidentially declared 
disaster in the applicant’s area. 

If these events occur, HUD will post a notice on its website establishing the new, extended 
deadline for the affected applicants. HUD will also publish the extension on Grants.gov. 

In determining whether to grant a request for an extension based on a presidentially declared 
disaster, HUD will consider the totality of the circumstances including the date of an applicant’s 
extension request (how closely it followed the basis for the extension), whether other applicants 
in the geographic area are similarly affected by the disaster, and how quickly power or services 
are restored to enable the applicant to submit its application. 

NOTE: Busy servers, slow processing, large file sizes, improper registration 

or password issues are not valid circumstances to extend the deadline dates or the grace period. 

4.   Amending or Resubmitting an Application  

Before the submission deadline, you may amend a validated application through Grants.gov by 
resubmitting a revised application containing the new or changed material. The resubmitted 
application must be received and validated by Grants.gov by the applicable deadline. 

If HUD receives an original and a revised application for a single proposal, HUD will evaluate 
only the last submission received by Grants.gov before the deadline. 

5.   Grace Period for Grants.gov Submissions 

If your application is received by Grants.gov before the deadline, but is rejected with errors, you 
have a grace period of 24 hours after the application deadline to submit a corrected, received, and 
validated application through Grants.gov. The date and time stamp on the Grants.gov system 
determines the application receipt time. Any application submitted during the grace period but 
not received and validated by Grants.gov will not be considered for funding. There is no grace 
period for paper applications. 

6.   Late Applications 

An application received after the NOFO deadline date that does not meet the Grace Period 
requirements will be marked late and will not be reviewed by HUD for funding 

consideration. Improper or expired registration and password issues are not sufficient causes to 
allow HUD to accept applications after the deadline date. 



 

  Page 28 of 80 
 

7.   Corrections to Deficient Applications 

HUD will not consider information from applicants after the application deadline except for 
curable deficiencies. 

HUD will uniformly notify applicants of each curable deficiency. See curable deficiency 
definition in section I.A of this NOFO. Examples of curable (correctable) deficiencies include 
inconsistencies in the funding request and failure to submit required certifications. These 
examples are non-exhaustive. 

When HUD identifies a curable deficiency, HUD will notify the authorized organization 
representative identified on the SF-424 Application for Federal Assistance via email. This email 
is the official notification of a curable deficiency. 

You must email corrections of Curable Deficiencies to applicationsupport@hud.gov within the 
time limits specified in the notification. The time allowed to correct deficiencies will be no less 
than 48 hours and no more than 14 calendar days from the date of the email notification. The 
start of the cure period will be the date stamp on the email sent from HUD. If the deficiency cure 
deadline date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, Federal holiday, or on a day when HUD’s 
Headquarters are closed, then the applicant’s correction must be received on the next business 
day HUD Headquarters offices in Washington, DC are open. 

The subject line of the email sent to applicationsupport@hud.gov must state: Technical Cure and 
include the Grants.gov application tracking number or the GrantSolutions application number 
(e.g., Subject: Technical Cure - GRANT123456 or Technical Cure - XXXXXXXXXXX). If this 
information is not included, HUD cannot match the response with the application under review 
and the application may be rejected due to the deficiency. 

Corrections to a paper application must be sent in accordance with and to the address indicated in 
the notification of deficiency. HUD will treat a paper application submitted in accordance with a 
waiver of electronic application containing the wrong UEI as having a curable deficiency. 
Failure to correct the deficiency and meet the requirement to have a UEI and active registration 
in SAM will render the application ineligible for funding. 

8.   Authoritative Versions of HUD NOFOs 

The version of this NOFO posted on Grants.gov includes the official documents HUD uses to 
solicit applications. 

9.   Exemptions 

Parties that believe the requirements of the NOFO would impose a substantial burden on the 
exercise of their religion should seek an exemption under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act 
(RFRA). 

E. Intergovernmental Review 
This program is subject to Executive Order 12372, Intergovernmental Review of Federal 
Programs. Executive Order 12372 allows each state to designate an entity to perform a state 
review function. To determine if your state has designated a State Point of Contact (SPOC), 
please see the SPOC List at OMB. States not listed on the website have chosen not to participate 
in the intergovernmental review process and, therefore, do not have a SPOC. If your state has a 

mailto:applicationsupport@hud.gov
mailto:applicationsupport@hud.gov
https://www.congress.gov/103/statute/STATUTE-107/STATUTE-107-Pg1488.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/policy/library/rgeo12372.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/policy/library/rgeo12372.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/policy/library/rgeo12372.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/SPOC-4-13-20.pdf


 

  Page 29 of 80 
 

SPOC, you should contact the SPOC to see if that person/office is interested in reviewing your 
application before you submit it to HUD. 

F. Funding Restrictions 
1. Statutory Time Limits. 

   a. Required Obligation Date.  HUD must obligate funds appropriated for the PRO 
Housing program for FY 2023 on or before September 30, 2026. Any funds not obligated 
by that date will not be available for obligation for any purpose. 
   b. Required Expenditure Date.  Grantees must expend all PRO Housing funds by the 
end of FY 2029. 

2. Cost Control Standards. 
   a. Cost estimates must represent an economically viable preliminary plan for designing, 
planning, and carrying out the proposed activities, in accordance with local costs of labor, 
materials, and services. 
   b. Projected costs must be reasonable and comparable to industry standards and in 
accordance with the applicable policy, statute and/or regulations. 
   c. Grantees must provide a budget identifying the specific use of all grant funds at the 
CDBG activity level. 

3. Budget Deductions.  HUD may delete any unallowable items from the proposed budget 
and may reduce the grant amount accordingly. HUD will not fund any portion of an 
application that: (a) is not eligible for funding under specific HUD program statutory or 
regulatory requirements; (b) does not meet the requirements of this NOFO; or (c) is 
duplicative of other funded programs or activities from prior awards or other selected 
applicants. Only the eligible portions of an application (excluding duplicative portions) 
may be funded. 

4. Grant Reduction, Recapture, or Withdrawal of Grant Amounts. HUD reserves the 
right to amend an award and reduce the amount or recapture the grant. Additionally, 
HUD reserves the right to withdraw any grant funds a grantee has not obligated under its 
award, or any funds that a grantee has not accepted after being awarded. Prior to a 
reduction, withdrawal, or adjustment of a grant, the grantee shall be notified of such 
proposed action and given an opportunity within a prescribed time period for an informal 
consultation. HUD may redistribute any amounts to one or more other applicants eligible 
for PRO Housing funding. 

5. Ineligible Use of Grant Funds.  See Section III.F.3 of this NOFO regarding ineligible 
uses of program funds.  

Indirect Cost Rate 
Normal indirect cost rules under 2 CFR part 200, subpart E apply. If you intend to charge 
indirect costs to your award, your application must clearly state the rate and distribution base you 
intend to use. If you have a Federally negotiated indirect cost rate, your application must also 
include a letter or other documentation from the cognizant agency showing the approved rate. 
Successful applicants whose rate changes after the application deadline must submit the new rate 
and documentation to assure the award agreement incorporates the applicable rate. 

Applicants other than state and local governments. If you have a Federally negotiated indirect 
cost rate, your application must clearly state the approved rate and distribution base and must 
include a letter or other documentation from the cognizant agency showing the approved rate. If 

http://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-E


 

  Page 30 of 80 
 

your organization does not have a current negotiated rate (including provisional rate) and elects 
to use the de minimis rate, your application must clearly state you intend to use the de minimis 
rate of 10% of Modified Total Direct Costs (MTDC), as defined at 2 CFR 200.1. Costs must be 
consistently charged as either indirect or direct costs but may not be double charged or 
inconsistently charged as both, as described in 2 CFR 200.403. Once elected, the de minimis rate 
must be applied consistently for all Federal awards until the organization chooses to negotiate a 
rate, which the organization may apply to do at any time. Documentation of the decision to use 
the de minimis rate must be retained on file for audit. 

G. Other Submission Requirements 
1. Standard Application, Assurances, Certifications and Disclosures 

Standard Form 424 (SF-424) Application for Federal Assistance 

The SF-424 is the government-wide form required to apply for Federal assistance programs, 
discretionary Federal grants, and other forms of financial assistance programs. You must 
complete and submit the form with the other required forms and information as directed in this 
NOFO. 

By signing the forms in the SF-424 either through electronic submission or in paper copy 
submission (for those granted a waiver), you and the signing authorized organization 
representative affirm that you both have reviewed the certifications and assurances associated 
with the application for Federal assistance and (1) are aware the submission of the SF-424 is an 
assertion that the relevant certifications and assurances are established and (2) acknowledge that 
the truthfulness of the certifications and assurances are material representations upon which 
HUD will rely when making an award to the applicant. If it is later determined the signing 
authorized organization representative to the application made a false certification or assurance, 
caused the submission of a false certification or assurance, or did not have the authority to make 
a legally binding commitment for the applicant, the applicant and the individual who signed the 
application may be subject to administrative, civil, or criminal action. Additionally, HUD may 
terminate the award to the applicant organization or pursue other available remedies. Each 
applicant is responsible for including the correct certifications and assurances with its application 
submission, including those applicable to all applicants, those applicable only to Federally 
recognized Indian tribes, or Alaskan native villages and those applicable to applicants other than 
Federally recognized Indian tribes, or Alaskan native villages. 

Assurances (HUD 424-B) 

By submitting your application, you provide assurances that, if selected to receive an award, you 
will comply with U.S. statutory and other requirements, including, but not limited to civil rights 
requirements. All recipients and subrecipients of the award are required to submit assurances of 
compliance with federal civil rights requirements. See, e.g., Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973, Violence Against Women Act, and the Age Discrimination Act of 1975; see also 24 
C.F.R. §§ 1.5; 3.115; 8.50; and 146.25. HUD accepts these assurances in the form of the HUD 
424-B, which also require compliance with HUD Reform Act requirements and all general 
federal nondiscrimination requirements in the administration of the federal assistance award. 

Applicant Disclosure Report Form 2880 (HUD 2880) 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-A/subject-group-ECFR2a6a0087862fd2c/section-200.1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-E/subject-group-ECFRea20080eff2ea53/section-200.403
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-1/section-1.5
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-1/section-1.5
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-3/subpart-A/section-3.115#p-3.115
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-8/subpart-D/section-8.50
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-B/chapter-I/part-146


 

  Page 31 of 80 
 

The form HUD 2880 is required if you are applying for assistance within the jurisdiction of HUD 
to any project subject to Section 102(d) of the HUD Reform Act. Assistance is provided directly 
by HUD to any person or entity, but not to subrecipients. It includes assistance for the 
acquisition, rehabilitation, operation, conversion, modernization, renovation, or demolition of 
any property containing five or more dwelling units that is to be used primarily for residential 
purposes. It includes assistance to independent group residences, board and care facilities, group 
homes and transitional housing but does not include primarily nonresidential facilities such as 
intermediate care facilities, nursing homes and hospitals. It also includes any change requested 
by a recipient in the amount of assistance previously provided, except changes resulting from 
annual adjustments in Section 8 rents under Section 8(c)(2)(A) of the United States Housing Act 
of 1937 (42 U.S.C. 1437f). See HUD Reform Act regulation for additional information. 

Code of Conduct 

Both you, as the award recipient, and all subrecipients must have a code of conduct (or written 
standards of conduct). The code of conduct must comply with the requirements included in the 
“Conducting Business in Accordance with Ethical Standards” section of the Administrative, 
National and Department Policy Requirements and Terms for HUD Financial Assistance 
Awards, as well as any program-specific requirements. These requirements include ethical 
standards related to conflicts of interest for procurements in 2 CFR 200.318(c) and 2 CFR 
200.317, as well as HUD-specific conflict of interest standards. HUD maintains a list of 
organizations that have previously submitted written standards of conduct on its Code of 
Conduct for HUD Grant Programs webpage. But it is your responsibility to ensure that the 
standards are compliant with the noted requirements and that HUD has the latest version of the 
written standards. Updated written standards should be submitted with the application. Any 
updates to your written standards, after the application period, should be submitted as directed by 
the HUD program contact for this NOFO. 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 
With some exceptions for Federally recognized Indian tribes and their instrumentalities, the 
application must discuss how the applicant will carry out the proposed activities in a manner that 
affirmatively furthers fair housing in compliance with the Fair Housing Act and its implementing 
regulations, and how applicants will meet the requirements of the definition of AFFH at 24 CFR 
5.151. Applicants may propose activities that are consistent with their jurisdiction’s Analysis of 
Impediments (AI), an Assessment of Fair Housing (AFH), or other means of fair housing 
planning that meaningfully supports their AFFH certification. 

If the applicant will carry out proposed activities in a jurisdiction with an AFH, the proposed 
activities should be consistent with the AFH’s fair housing goals and with fair housing strategies 
specified in the jurisdiction’s Consolidated Plan or Public Housing Agency Plan. 

An applicant will respond to this requirement (Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing) under the 
Soundness of Approach Rating Factor, section V.A.1.b.iv. 

If the applicant is a CDBG, HOME, ESG, and/or HOPWA grantee, it may note the date of its 
most recent certification and a summary of the actions reported in its most recent CAPER; 
however, applicants still need to describe how their proposed NOFO activities are aligned with 
AFFH requirements in response to Rating Factor, section V.A.1.b.iv (Soundness of Approach). 

2. Other Program-Specific Requirements 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/42/1437f
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4
https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.318
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.317
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR45ddd4419ad436d/section-200.317
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/conductgrants
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/conductgrants


 

  Page 32 of 80 
 

a. Limited English Proficiency (LEP). For assistance in ensuring that information regarding the 
planning process and this application is available to LEP populations, recipients should consult 
the Final Guidance to Federal Financial Assistance Recipients Regarding Title VI, Prohibition 
Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English Proficient Persons published 
on January 22, 2007, in the Federal Register (72 FR 2732). 

b. Physical Accessibility. Note that all meetings that are held in person must be held in facilities 
that are physically accessible to persons with disabilities. Where physical accessibility is not 
achievable, Applicants and partners must give priority to alternative methods of product or 
information delivery that offer programs and activities to qualified individuals with disabilities in 
the most integrated setting appropriate in accordance with HUD’s implementing regulations for 
section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C.§ 794) at 24 CFR Part 8 and all 
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, all notices of and communications during all 
training sessions and public meetings shall be provided in a manner that is effective for persons 
with hearing, visual, and other communication-related disabilities or provide other means of 
accommodation for persons with disabilities consistent with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973 and HUD’s section 504 regulations. See 24 CFR section 8.6. 

c. Environmental review. All PRO Housing grantees must comply with applicable 
environmental requirements related to any awarded funds. This includes complying with 
environmental justice requirements as set forth in HUD’s regulations at 24 CFR parts 50 and 58, 
which implement the policies of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and other 
environmental requirements. Grantees who are States or units of general local government 
(UGLGs) are considered the Responsible Entity under 24 CFR part 58 and are responsible for 
completing their own environmental review. The Responsible Entity must conduct an 
environmental review to determine whether each activity funded under this NOFO is exempt or 
categorically excluded from NEPA and other environmental review requirements or requires 
further environmental review. For grantees who are not States or units of general local 
government (UGLGs) or are not recipients of funding under Title I of the Housing and 
Community Development Act of 1974 and HUD’s regulations at 24 CFR 58.2(a)(5), HUD will 
perform the environmental review in accordance with 24 CFR part 50. The recipient, its project 
partners, and their contractors may not acquire, rehabilitate, convert, lease, repair, dispose of, 
demolish, or construct property for a project under this NOFO, or commit or expend HUD or 
non-HUD funds for such activities under this NOFO, until the responsible entity has completed 
the environmental review procedures required by 24 CFR part 58 and the environmental 
certification and Request for Release of Funds (RROF) have been approved or HUD has 
performed an environmental review under 24 CFR part 50 and the recipient has received HUD 
approval of the project. HUD will not release grant funds if the recipient or any other party takes 
choice limiting actions or commits grant funds (i.e., incurs any costs or expenditures to be paid 
or reimbursed with such funds) before the recipient submits and HUD approves its RROF (where 
such submission is required). For more information about environmental review requirements, 
please see Section VI.E of this NOFO. 

d. Federal Assistance Assurances. To assure compliance with statutory requirements for non-
construction grant programs, you must complete the Federal Assistance Representations and 
Certifications section of your sam.gov registration. HUD and OMB use information reported 
within sam.gov for general management of Federal assistance awards programs. For more 
information on how to update your sam.gov registration, visit SAM.gov or the Federal Service 



 

  Page 33 of 80 
 

Desk, FSD.gov. You can search for help at FSD any time or request help from an FSD agent 
Monday-Friday 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. ET. 

e. 424-CBW budget form. Applicants must complete the 424-CBW budget form. Provide a 
breakdown of the aggregate numbers detailing the funding allocation to each activity.  The form 
is accessible online at https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/424-CBW.xls.  
Instructions on how to complete the form are also available at 
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/424-CBW-I.xlsx. Both the form and 
instructions are also available in the grants.gov Application Package for this NOFO. 

f. Certification Regarding Lobbying. All applicants except Federally recognized Indian tribes 
must submit this certification with their application. Download this form as part of the 
Application Package for this NOFO.  

g. Disclosure of Lobbying Activities (SF-LLL). Download this form as part of the Application 
Package for this NOFO. If this form does not apply, indicate on the form (e.g., writing ‘N/A’) 
and submit it with your application. 

V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION 
A. Review Criteria 
1. Rating Factors 
HUD will use the following rating factor criteria to evaluate applications under this NOFO. 
Applicants must respond to the rating factor criteria as the basis to be scored and ranked. Failure 
to respond to the rating factor criteria will result in an incomplete application. 

  Factor Prompt Potential points 

a. Need   35 

i   Describe your efforts so far to 
identify, address, mitigate, or 
remove barriers to affordable 
housing production and 
preservation. 

12 

ii   Do you have acute demand for 
affordable housing? What are 
your remaining affordable 
housing needs and how do you 
know? 

13 

iii   What key barriers still exist and 
need to be addressed to produce 
and preserve more affordable 
accessible housing? 

10 

b. Soundness of 
Approach 

  35 

https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/424-CBW.xls.
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCHCO/documents/424-CBW-I.xlsx.


 

  Page 34 of 80 
 

i   What is your vision? 15 

ii   What is your geographic scope? 5 

iii   Who are your key stakeholders? 
How are you engaging them? 

5 

iv   How does your proposal align 
with requirements to 
affirmatively further fair 
housing? 

5 

v   What are your budget and 
timeline proposals? 

5 

c. Capacity   10 

i   What capacity do you and your 
Partner(s) have? What is your 
staffing plan? 

10 

d. Leverage   10 

i   Are you leveraging other 
funding or non-financial 
contributions? 

10 

e. Long-Term Effect   10 

i   What permanent, long-term 
effects will your proposal have? 
What outcomes do you expect? 

10 

Total     100 

a. NEED (Maximum 35 points) 

HUD is prioritizing applications that demonstrate: (1) progress and a commitment to 
overcoming local barriers to facilitate the increase in affordable housing production and 
preservation; and (2) acute demand for housing affordable to households with incomes 
below 100 percent of the area median income. A thorough response identifies a need for 
affordable housing, names barriers to affordable housing production and preservation in 
your jurisdiction(s) and describes the extent of such barriers. HUD encourages 
applications that will discuss key barriers related to land-use regulations, permitting, or 
related procedural issues. HUD will rate applicants based on clear, well supported, 
demonstrated need. 



 

  Page 35 of 80 
 

i. Describe your efforts so far to identify, address, mitigate, or remove barriers to 
affordable housing production and preservation. (12 points) Please address the 
timeframe for these efforts; how these efforts were adopted, established, or otherwise 
made permanent; and the measurable impact thus far. Be sure to describe recent policy 
changes or community planning strategies that you have adopted to increase housing 
production for low- and moderate-income populations, as well as recent initiatives to 
preserve affordability, increase access to affordable accessible housing in high 
opportunity areas, and invest in underserved communities. HUD will rate applicants more 
highly if they demonstrate that they have successfully taken actions to remove local 
barriers to increasing affordable housing production and preservation. 

ii. Do you have acute demand for affordable housing? What are your remaining 
affordable housing needs and how do you know? (13 points) 

HUD is prioritizing applicants with acute demand for housing affordable to households 
with incomes below 100 percent of the area median income and seeks to ensure that 
awards under this NOFO are directed to applicants with certain objective measures of 
acute demand for affordable housing. 

You will be awarded ten (10) points if your application primarily serves a priority 
geography that has an affordable housing need greater than a threshold calculation for 
one of three measures. The threshold calculation is determined by the need of the 90th-
percentile jurisdiction (top 10%) for each factor as computed comparing only 
jurisdictions with greater than 50,000 population. Threshold calculations are done at the 
county and place level and applied respectively to county and place applicants. An 
application can also quality as a priority geography if it serves a geography that scores in 
the top 5% of its State for the same three measures. Applications that primarily serve 
locations outside these priority geographies will not be awarded any of these ten points. 

 The measures are as follows: 

• Affordable housing not keeping pace, measured as (change in population 2019-
2009 divided by 2009 population) – (change in number of units affordable and 
available to households at 80% HUD Area Median Family Income (HAMFI) 2019-
2009 divided by units affordable and available at 80% HAMFI 2009). 
• Insufficient affordable housing, measured as number of households at 80% 
HAMFI divided by number of affordable and available units for households at 80% 
HAMFI. 
• Widespread housing cost burden or substandard housing, measured as number 
of households with housing problems at 100% HAMFI divided by number of 
households at 100% HAMFI.  Housing problems is defined as: cost burden of at least 
50%, overcrowding, or substandard housing.  

HUD has provided a spreadsheet identifying each of these geographies on its website. To 
see whether you meet the criteria to receive points, visit the PRO Housing website and 
view the spreadsheet. 

You may be awarded up to three (3) additional points for providing compelling 
information about your affordable housing needs. This information should demonstrate 
acute demand for affordable housing in your jurisdiction(s) to households with incomes 

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/pro_housing


 

  Page 36 of 80 
 

below 100 percent of the area median income. In your narrative, you are encouraged to 
provide local knowledge that is not already captured by the above measures. Topics that 
may indicate acute demand for affordable housing include displacement pressures, 
housing stock condition, age of housing stock, homelessness, ratio of median home price 
to area median income, and more. 

iii. What key barriers still exist and need to be addressed to produce and preserve more 
affordable housing? (10 points) Please describe in detail the leading barriers to affordable 
housing production and preservation in your jurisdiction(s). A complete response will 
identify why the identified barriers are key barriers. You may wish to address topics such as 
the following: 

• Permitting procedures and approval timing and predictability 
• Fees and taxes (excluding impact and nexus fees for affordable housing) 
• Zoning and land use controls 
• Infrastructure constraints 
• Prohibitive building codes 
• Availability of financing and subsidies for affordable housing 
• Capacity to conduct meaningful community engagement, procedural delays associated 
with soliciting engagement or community review, and/or opposition to new and or 
affordable housing 
• Capacity of local affordable housing developers and managers 
• Local laws that penalize individuals for reporting or seeking protection from violence 
• Other relevant barriers unique to your community 

If you are not aware of the extent of barriers to affordable housing production and 
preservation, please describe how the proposed activities will identify barriers and 
facilitate removal of such barriers. 

b. SOUNDNESS OF APPROACH (Maximum 35 points) 

i. What is your vision? (15 points) A sound proposal will seek to enable increased 
production and preservation of affordable housing across a broad geographic area over a 
sustained timeframe. While proposals generally must ensure that 51 percent of produced 
or preserved units directly benefit LMI individuals, except for certain new construction of 
housing activities wherein no less than 20 percent of the units must directly benefit LMI 
individuals, proposals may also wish to discuss the degree to which barrier reductions 
will also improve the production of market rate housing (and the potential indirect 
improvements in affordability generated through increased supply of market rate 
housing). HUD expects your response to be clear, complete, specific, and fully analyzed. 
HUD will rate more highly approaches that most directly address the barriers identified in 
Need [Factor (a)(iii)] and relieve the acute demand. A complete response should address 
the following: 

• Describe your proposed activities and why they are appropriate, given identified 
Need and applicant Capacity. Show how each proposed activity meets a national 
objective and constitutes an eligible activity consistent with Sections III.F.1 & 2 of 
this NOFO. What is the timeframe of the expected benefit? 
• Explain how your proposal addresses key barriers to affordable housing production 



 

  Page 37 of 80 
 

and preservation. What is the connection between your proposed activities and the 
key barrier(s) you seek to address? Is your proposed activity addressing barriers 
identified in your earlier response [Prompt (a)(iii)]? If your proposal targets only one 
barrier, justify this strategy and explain why this individual barrier requires the 
resources and focus of the entire grant. Provide evidence showing why the proposed 
approach is expected to succeed in removing the identified barrier(s) and will lead to 
significant increases in the production and preservation of affordable housing. If 
applicable, please describe how your proposal will create new housing opportunities 
without inviting displacement. 
• Explain how your proposal compares to similar efforts and how lessons learned 
from those efforts have shaped your proposal. Describe the successes of previous 
efforts to undertake similar proposals, whether in your jurisdiction(s) or in another 
locality. What pieces of those previous efforts succeeded, and how will your proposal 
emulate them? What pieces of those efforts were not successful, and how will your 
proposal ensure success while avoiding those pitfalls? If you are proposing activities 
which have not been tested before, describe why you think the innovative nature of 
your proposed activity is appropriate. 
• You may also wish to discuss how your proposal aligns with existing planning 
initiatives, services, other community assets (e.g., transportation planning, climate 
resilience and mitigation plans, public or supportive housing services, economic 
development opportunities, healthcare or school systems, etc.). For example, does 
your plan account for expected population change? How does the proposal align with 
local or regional transportation plans in your jurisdiction(s)? Does your plan improve 
simplification and harmonization of land-use regulations across multiple 
municipalities or entities? Do your proposals for transit-oriented development 
include anti-displacement strategies to ensure that the benefits of station-area 
investments accrue to all, especially long-time residents of the neighborhood? Does 
your proposal target new housing opportunities in areas that allow current and future 
residents to access public transit, jobs, public services, or other amenities? Does your 
plan support job creation and retention efforts, including consideration for 
individuals who may work in your jurisdiction(s) but live in another?  

ii. What is your geographic scope? (5 points) Explain your proposal’s anticipated effects 
on targeted locations, neighborhoods, cities, or other geographies. Describe how your 
proposal preserves and creates housing units in high-opportunity areas and expands 
opportunity in underserved communities.  HUD will rate more highly proposals that address 
a larger geographic scope. Maps, drawings, renderings, and other graphical representations 
are optional but encouraged. 

iii. Who are your key stakeholders? How are you engaging them? (5 points) Potential 
stakeholders may include, but are not limited to, persons with unmet housing needs; residents 
of public or other affordable housing units; persons from all protected class groups under the 
Fair Housing Act; local and regional public agencies that provide funding or technical 
assistance for housing, transportation, and social services; community organizations, 
especially those that represent protected classes; private and non-profit housing developers; 
community land trusts; advocacy organizations and legal groups; business and civic leaders; 
and others. Applicants subject to Consolidated Plan requirements (States and units of general 



 

  Page 38 of 80 
 

local government) can describe their actions as required by 24 CFR part 91 and as related to 
the prompts below. Applicants not subject to Consolidated Plan requirements (Metropolitan 
Planning Organizations and Multijurisdictional entities) can describe their actions as related 
to the prompts below. 

• Describe your key stakeholders and how you conducted outreach in developing this 
proposal. Please also describe your strategy for continued outreach during the grant’s 
period of performance. 
• Describe the specific actions you have taken to solicit input from and collaborate 
with stakeholders in developing this application, including how input from 
stakeholders and community members has shaped your proposal. In particular, 
describe input from the housing industry in your area, including affordable housing 
developers, builders/general contractors, and unions as well as persons in need of 
affordable housing 
• Describe how you incorporated input from stakeholders into your proposal 
• Describe your strategies to encourage public participation, build support, and 
engage community members, including those most likely to benefit from your 
proposed activity. 
  

iv. How does your proposal align with requirements to affirmatively further fair 
housing? (5 points) Please respond to each of the following: 

• Describe your plans to remove barriers to the development of affordable housing in 
well-resourced areas of opportunity. How will your proposal increase access for 
underserved groups to these areas? What is the racial composition of the persons or 
households who are expected to benefit from your proposed grant activities? 
• Describe your plans to remove barriers impeding the development of affordable 
housing that would promote desegregation.  What policies or practices perpetuate 
segregation and how will your proposal address them? 
• How will you ensure that your proposal will not cause affordable housing to be 
further concentrated in low-opportunity areas or in areas that already have ample 
affordable housing?  How will your proposal increase housing choice by expanding 
the neighborhoods in which residents who need affordable housing can live?   
• How does your approach address the unique housing needs of members of 
protected class groups, including persons with disabilities, families with children, and 
underserved communities of color? 
• Does your plan address issues identified in your jurisdiction’s most recent fair 
housing plan or plans? 
• Have you considered the risk of displacement associated with your proposal? How 
will you ensure that your planned activities do not lead to the displacement of 
vulnerable residents in communities of color? Describe any anti-displacement 
measures included in your proposal (e.g., replacement of affordable units for new 
construction, or right of first refusal for tenants)? 
• How will your proposal address the housing needs of people with disabilities and 
increase their access to accessible and affordable housing? How will it support 
independent living with access to supportive services and transportation in the 
community? Please also describe your plan to ensure compliance with the Americans 



 

  Page 39 of 80 
 

with Disabilities Act (ADA) and accessibility requirements under the Fair Housing 
Act. 
• Describe the implementation and/or enforcement plan for your proposal. Describe 
how you will approach resistance (e.g. litigation, environmental review, design 
standards) to the elimination of your targeted barrier(s). 
• Describe any equity-related educational resources, tools, or public input that have 
informed your proposal. 
• Do you plan to engage and support minority-, women-, and veteran-owned 
businesses during your proposed housing production process? Do you have a 
diversity and equity plan in place or plan to create one? 
• Other equity considerations informed by your local circumstances. 
• Describe how you will evaluate the effect of your proposal on promoting 
desegregation, expanding equitable access to well-resourced areas of opportunity, 
and furthering the de-concentration of affordable housing  
• How will you track your progress and evaluate the effectiveness of your efforts to 
advance racial equity in your grant activities? 
• If the applicant proposes to use PRO Housing funds to fund housing units, the 
applicant must discuss how those benefits will be affirmatively marketed broadly 
throughout the local area and nearby areas to any demographic groups that would be 
unlikely or least likely to apply absent such efforts. 

Note that any actions taken in furtherance of this section must be consistent with 
federal nondiscrimination requirements. 

v. What are your budget and timeline proposals? (5 points)  

• Provide a budget for the proposed activities that documents all projected sources of 
funds and estimates all applicable costs. Describe how you determined the budget 
and how you will ensure that the project will be cost-effective, in line with industry 
standards, and appropriate for the scope of the project. HUD will evaluate your 
proposed project cost estimate on the extent to which projected sources, including 
PRO Housing funds and any leveraged funds, are sufficient for the scope of the 
proposed project as a whole.  
• Please describe how you would budget for and manage a successful project if HUD 
awards a different dollar amount than you are requesting. What is the minimum 
funding amount that would allow you to carry out your proposal in some form, and 
what would that proposal achieve? If you were to receive only 50% of your request, 
what would you be able to achieve? 
• Provide a schedule for completing all of the proposed activities in advance of the 
expenditure deadline at the end of FY 2029. The schedule should identify each 
significant activity and milestone required for completing the planning process as 
well as relevant sub-tasks and should list the planned start and completion dates of all 
items. The application may include additional description of the schedule in the 
narrative exhibits.  

c. CAPACITY (Maximum 10 points) 

i. What capacity do you and your Partner(s) have? What is your staffing plan? (10 
points) Describe your capacity for managing a Federal grant of this size and scope. In 



 

  Page 40 of 80 
 

evaluating this subfactor, HUD will consider the degree to which applicants demonstrate 
clear capacity, or a plan to develop capacity, in managing Federal funds; project 
management on the scale of the idea or proposal; and leadership capacity to coordinate 
among proposed partners. Rather than measuring general capacity, HUD will measure 
your specific capacity to carry out your proposal, and your responses should reflect this. 
A complete response should address the following: 

• Which specific agency or entity will lead implementation of the proposed activities? 
What is its role and management capacity? 
• Describe how the agency or entity has (or plans to obtain) the relevant project 
management, quality assurance, financial and procurement, and internal control capacity 
to quickly launch and implement a major project. 
• Describe your jurisdiction’s leadership capacity and legal authority to effectively 
implement your proposed reforms. If other government entities are necessary for 
implementation, describe how their support is secured.  
• If your proposed approach includes partners, describe each partner’s capacities and 
credentials related to its role in implementing the project. Is your capacity to design, 
plan, or remove a barrier dependent on partner capacity? If yes, describe the dependency. 
What is your plan to regain capacity if a partner drops out? 
• Describe the agency’s or entity’s experience working with and coordinating partners 
(including contractors, funders, subrecipients, community stakeholders, and other 
government agencies) in previous projects similar in scope of scale to the proposed 
activities. If you do not have such experience, how will you obtain it? 
• Who wrote this application: applicant staff, or a professional technical or grant writer in 
a consulting or contract capacity?  Please provide name(s), title(s), and organization(s).  
If the application was drafted by someone external to the applicant’s organization, 
describe how the applicant staff and decision makers were actively engaged in the 
development of this proposal and how this coordination may continue over time. 
• Do you or any partner(s) have experience working with civil rights and fair housing 
issues including, for example, working with data to analyze racial or economic 
disparities? Do you or your partner(s) have experience designing or operating programs 
that have provided tangible reductions in racial disparities? 

Provide an organizational chart that identifies names and positions of key management 
for proposed PRO Housing activities. In addition to key management, be sure to include 
a count of all full-time staff that will manage PRO Housing activities. Please also include 
a description of your existing management structure and staff roles, including any gaps, 
vacancies, or positions contingent on award. If you are applying with a partner or 
partners, provide this information for each organization. 

d. LEVERAGE (Maximum 10 points) 

i. Are you leveraging other funding or non-financial contributions? (10 points) As 
noted in Section III.C, this program does not require leveraging. Nonetheless, HUD 
views leveraged commitments as an indicator of support and commitment in the 
community. Additional funds may also increase the effectiveness of the proposed 
activities. An application will earn points in accordance with Table 1 based on the 
percentage of leveraged commitments for the proposed activities. In addition to financial 



 

  Page 41 of 80 
 

contributions, applicants may credit the dollar amounts of any non-financial contributions 
(e.g., donations of land or property, community benefit agreements, etc.) towards their 
percentage of leveraged commitments. HUD may also award points for clear and 
compelling non-quantifiable contributions to the project that significantly advance the 
project’s goals, up to the maximum of ten (10) points. 

Table 1: Scoring for Leveraged Funding 

  

Leverage commitments as percent of grant funds 
requested 

Points awarded 

50 percent and above 10 

Between 40.00 and 49.99 percent 8 

Between 30.00 and 39.99 percent 6 

Between 20.00 and 29.99 percent 4 

Between 10.00 and 19.99 percent 2 

Below 10.00 percent 0 

Applicants must follow the below requirements in compiling and documenting leverage 
for purposes of this NOFO. Otherwise, it may not be possible for HUD to count the 
commitment at the level claimed. These general requirements apply to all leverage 
resource commitments. 

• Resources must be firmly committed as of the application deadline date. “Firmly 
committed” means that the amount of the resource and its dedication to PRO 
Housing Grant activities is explicit. Endorsements or general letters of support alone 
will not count as resources and should not be included in the application. 
• Leverage documents must represent valid and accurate commitments of future 
support. They must detail the dollar amount and any terms of the commitment. They 
must also indicate that the funding is available to you for the specific activities 
proposed in your PRO Housing application. 
• Resource commitments must be written and signed by a person authorized to make 
the commitment and dated.  
• Commitment letters must be on letterhead or they will not be accepted. 
• If the commitment document is not included in the application and submitted before 
the NOFO deadline, it will not be considered. 
• Staff time of the Applicant and/or Partner(s) (if any) will be an eligible leverage 
resource if they are firmly committed and monetized. 

e. LONG-TERM EFFECT (Maximum 10 points) 

i. What permanent, long-term effects will your proposal have? What outcomes do you 
expect? (10 points) HUD seeks to ensure that funded activities enable the production and 
preservation of affordable housing units long after the grant’s period of performance. 
Describe how your approach seeks to permanently remove key barriers to producing and 



 

  Page 42 of 80 
 

preserving affordable housing and the measurable outcomes you expect to achieve. Be 
sure to address how the removal of barriers will result in more resilient housing and 
sustained production. A complete, compelling response should include the following: 

• Describe what you will have achieved upon completion of grant-funded activities, 
including the specific work product(s), deliverable(s), or completed projects you will 
produce and any implementation actions that follow. Be sure to address how these 
achievements will have a permanent, long-term effect. 
• Describe what roadblocks your proposal might be facing (e.g., the reversal of a plan 
to streamline the permitting process). What are the most likely ways in which the 
barriers might persist despite your proposed activities, and how does the proposal 
account for and counteract this? 
• Do you anticipate your proposal will result in reducing housing cost burden for 
residents without increasing other costs, such as transportation costs? Describe how 
you seek to achieve your goal of enabling the production and preservation of 
affordable housing while also considering the value of siting affordable housing near 
amenities, public services, jobs, transit, schools, and other important community 
assets and locations. 
• Describe how your proposal represents a model for other communities, including 
the manner(s) in which your jurisdiction(s) or others may scale or replicate the 
proposal. 
• Describe the community’s most significant environmental risks and how the 
proposal is aligned with them to efficiently promote community resilience. For 
example, you may wish to describe how your infrastructure and development 
activities incorporate resilient and/or energy-efficient features, such as native 
vegetation, reclaimed water, and efforts to mitigate the effects of climate change, as 
appropriate for your community. Applicants can rely on HUD’s Community 
Resilience Toolkit at https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HUD-
Community-Resilient-Toolkit.pdf. 
• What do you consider success to look like at the end of the period of performance 
or beyond? How would you anticipate the proposal to enable the production and 
preservation of affordable housing? Explain how the targeted outcomes will remedy 
the identified Need [prompt (a)]. If possible, propose metrics (the quantifiable topic 
area you will measure) and target outcomes (a quantified goal for each metric which 
you will strive to achieve) to explain how your proposed grant activities are expected 
to address the affordable housing needs and/or barriers identified in Need [prompt 
(a)] such as cost burden, overcrowding, displacement, median home prices, the 
median home price to AMI ratio, the number of residential parcels experiencing 
relief from a former land-use restriction, and/or other data in your jurisdiction(s). 
HUD will rate applicants more highly for metrics and outcomes that have an 
evidence-based connection to the proposed activities and the barriers being 
addressed. Please be aware that HUD will not score on the basis of high target 
outcomes, and HUD encourages applicants to set target outcomes that they believe to 
be realistically achievable. 
 • Describe the long-term effect of your proposal on removing barriers to affordable 
housing production that have perpetuated segregation, inhibited access to well-

https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HUD-Community-Resilient-Toolkit.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HUD-Community-Resilient-Toolkit.pdf


 

  Page 43 of 80 
 

resourced neighborhoods of opportunity for protected class groups and vulnerable 
populations and expanded access to housing opportunities for these populations. 

PRO Housing  Maximum Points: 100   
 2. Other Factors 
Preference Points 
This program does not offer any preference points.  

B. Review and Selection Process 
1. Past Performance 
In evaluating applications for funding, HUD will consider an applicant’s past performance in 
managing funds. Items HUD will consider include, but are not limited to: 

OMB-designated repositories of governmentwide data, as noted in 2 CFR 200.206(a) 

The ability to account for funds in compliance with applicable reporting and recordkeeping 
requirements 

Meeting program requirements 

The applicant's organizational capacity, including staffing structures and capabilities 

Producing positive outcomes and results 

Additional considerations are described in Section V.A.1.c of this NOFO. 

HUD may reduce scores based on the past performance review, as specified under V.A. Review 
Criteria. Whenever possible, HUD will obtain and review past performance information. If this 
review results in an adverse finding related to integrity of performance, HUD reserves the right 
to take any of the remedies provided in the Pre-Selection Review of Performance section of the 
Eligibility Requirements for Applicants of HUD Financial Assistance Programs. 

2. Assessing Applicant Risk 
In evaluating risks posed by applicants, HUD may use a risk-based approach and may consider 
any items such as the following: 

(1) Financial stability; 

(2) Quality of management systems and ability to meet the management standards prescribed 
in this part; 

(3) History of performance. The applicant's record in managing Federal awards, if it is a prior 
recipient of Federal awards, including timeliness of compliance with applicable reporting 
requirements, failing to make significant progress in a timely manner, failing to meet planned 
activities in a timely manner, conformance to the terms and conditions of previous Federal 
awards, and if applicable, the extent to which any previously awarded amounts will be 
expended prior to future awards; 

(4) Reports and findings from audits performed under Subpart F—Audit Requirements of 
this part or the reports and findings of any other available audits; and 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.206
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/fundingopps
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/fundingopps


 

  Page 44 of 80 
 

(5) The applicant's ability to effectively implement statutory, regulatory, or other 
requirements imposed on non-Federal entities. 

3. Experience Promoting Racial Equity   
In evaluating applications for funding, HUD will consider the extent to which the application 
demonstrates that the applicant has the experience and the resources to effectively address the 
needs of underserved communities, particularly Black and Brown communities. This may 
include experience successfully working directly with such groups, experience designing or 
operating programs that equitably benefit such groups, or experience successfully advancing 
racial equity in other ways. This may also include experience soliciting, obtaining, and applying 
input from such groups when designing, planning, or implementing programs and activities. 

Applicants should describe their experience promoting racial equity in the Capacity factor, 
section V.A.1.c.i. 

Additional information on Review and Selection Process  

HUD’s selection process is designed to ensure that grants are awarded to eligible applicants that 
submit the most meritorious applications. HUD will consider the information you submit by the 
application deadline date. After the application deadline date, HUD may not, consistent with its 
regulations in 24 CFR part 4, subpart B, consider any unsolicited information that you or any 
third party may want to provide. HUD may verify information provided in your application as 
needed by sending a written request for clarification. Responses to such inquiries will be 
required within 2 business days. 

4. Application Screening. 

a. HUD will screen each application to determine if the Key Eligibility Criteria in Section 
III.A are met (including screening for technical deficiencies). If they are not met, the 
application will be deemed ineligible and will not receive further review. If they are met, 
HUD will screen the application to determine if it meets the other threshold criteria listed in 
Section III.D (including screening for technical deficiencies). 

b. Corrections to Deficient Applications - Cure Period. In accordance with Section IV.D, 
corrections of technical deficiencies must be submitted within three business days of the date 
of the notification from HUD.  Examples of curable (correctable) technical deficiencies 
include, but are not limited to, inconsistencies in the funding request and failure to submit a 
signature and/or date on a certification. 

c. Applications that will not be rated or ranked. HUD will not rate or rank applications that 
are deficient at the end of the cure period or that have not met the Threshold Requirements 
described in Section III.D.  Such applications will not be eligible for funding. 

5. Preliminary Rating and Ranking.  Reviewers will rate each eligible application based 
SOLELY on the rating factors described in Section V.A and assign a preliminary score for each 
rating factor and total score. HUD will then rank applications in score order. 

6. Final Panel Review. A Final Review Panel will: 

a. Review the Preliminary Rating and Ranking documentation to ensure any inconsistencies 
between preliminary reviewers are identified and rectified and to ensure the Preliminary 
Rating and Ranking documentation accurately reflects the contents of the application. 



 

  Page 45 of 80 
 

b. Assign a final score to each application and rank them in score order; and 

c. Recommend for selection the most highly rated applications, subject to the amount of 
available funding. 

7. Tie Scores. If two or more applications have the same score and there are insufficient funds to 
select all of them, HUD will select the application(s) with the highest score for the overall Need 
Rating Factors.  If a tie remains, HUD will select the application(s) with the highest score for the 
overall Soundness of Approach Rating Factors, then overall Capacity Rating Factors. 

8. Remaining Funds. Reservations not obligated by HUD by September 30, 2026 will expire. If 
the total amount of funds requested by all applications found eligible for funding under this 
NOFO is greater than the amount of funds available from this NOFO, eligible applications will 
be funded until the amount of non-awarded funds is less than the amount required to feasibly 
fund the next eligible application. In this case, the funds that have not been awarded will be 
considered remaining funds. 

VI. AWARD ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION 
A. Award Notices 
Following the evaluation process, HUD will notify successful applicants of their selection for 
funding. HUD will also notify other applicants, whose applications were received by the 
deadline but were not chosen for award. Notifications will be sent by email to the person listed as 
the AOR in item 21 of the SF-424.  

1. Final Grant 

After HUD has made selections, HUD will finalize specific terms of the award and budget in 
consultation with the selected applicant. If HUD and the selected applicant do not finalize the 
terms and conditions of the award in a timely manner, or the selected applicant fails to provide 
requested information, an award will not be made to that applicant. In this case, HUD may select 
another eligible applicant. HUD may also impose specific conditions on an award as provided 
under 2 CFR 200.208. 

2.   Adjustments to Funding  

To ensure the fair distribution of funds and enable the purposes or requirements of a specific 
program to be met, HUD reserves the right to fund less than the amount requested in an 
application. 

a. HUD may fund no portion of an application that: 

(1) Is ineligible for funding under applicable statutory or regulatory requirements; 

(2) Fails, in whole or in part, to meet the requirements of this notice; 

(3) Duplicates activities funded by other federal awards; or 

(4) Duplicates activities funded in a prior year. 

b. HUD may adjust the funding for an application to ensure funding diversity, geographic 
diversity, and alignment with HUD administrative priorities. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.208


 

  Page 46 of 80 
 

c. If an applicant turns down an award offer, or if HUD and an applicant do not finalize the terms 
and conditions of the award in a timely manner, HUD may withdraw the award offer and make 
an offer of funding to another eligible application. 

d. If funds remain after all selections have been made, remaining funds may be made available 
within the current fiscal year for other competitions within the program area, or be held for 
future competitions (if allowable in accordance with the applicable appropriation or authorizing 
statute), or be used as otherwise provided by authorizing statute or appropriation. 

e. If, after announcement of awards made under the current NOFO, additional funds become 
available either through the current appropriations, a supplemental appropriation, other 
appropriations or recapture of funds, HUD may, in accordance with the appropriation, use the 
additional funds to provide additional funding to an applicant awarded less than the requested 
amount of funds to make the full award, and/or to fund additional applicants that were eligible to 
receive an award but for which there were no funds available. 

3. Funding Errors 

If HUD commits an error that when corrected would cause selection of an applicant during the 
funding round of a Program NOFO, HUD may select that applicant for funding, subject to the 
availability of funds. If funding is not available to award in the current fiscal year, HUD may 
make an award to this applicant during the next fiscal year, if funding is available. 

B. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements and Terms for HUD 
Applicants and Recipients of Financial Assistance Awards 
Unless otherwise specified, the following Administrative, National and Department Policy 
Requirements and Terms for HUD Financial Assistance Awards apply. Failure to comply with 
these requirements may impact your ability to receive or retain a financial assistance award from 
HUD. Read the requirements carefully as the requirements are different among HUD’s 
programs. 

1. Compliance with The Fair Housing Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-3619) and implementing regulations 
at 24 CFR part 100 et seq 
2. Compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000d-2000d-4 
(Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR 
part 1 
3. Compliance with the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101-6107) and 
implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 146 
4. Compliance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794) and 
implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 8 
5. Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq 
6. Compliance with Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) requirements, including 
those listed on HUD's Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing webpage 
7. Compliance with Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency 
(LEP) requirements, including those listed within Federal Register Notice, FR-4878-N-02 (also 
see HUD's webpage) 
8. Compliance with Accessible Technology requirements, including those listed on in HUD's 
Policy on Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act and Accessible Technology 
9. Compliance with Equal Access Requirements (see 24 CFR 5.105(a)(2) and 5.106) 

https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.hud.gov/grants
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title42/pdf/USCODE-2020-title42-chap45-subchapI-sec3601.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-B/chapter-I/part-100
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2008-title42/pdf/USCODE-2008-title42-chap21-subchapV.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-1
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2013-title42/pdf/USCODE-2013-title42-chap76.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-B/chapter-I/part-146
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2020-title29/pdf/USCODE-2020-title29-chap16-subchapV-sec794.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-8
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2009-title42/html/USCODE-2009-title42-chap126.htm
https://www.hud.gov/AFFH
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2007/01/22/07-217/final-guidance-to-federal-financial-assistance-recipients-regarding-title-vi-prohibition-against
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/limited_english_proficiency_0
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCIO/documents/s508103017.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/OCIO/documents/s508103017.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-5/subpart-A/section-5.105
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-5/subpart-A/section-5.106


 

  Page 47 of 80 
 

10. Compliance with Energy Efficient, Sustainable, Accessible, and Free from Discrimination by 
Design 
11. Compliance with Participation in HUD-Sponsored Program Evaluation (see Federal Register 
Notice, FR-6278-N-01) 
12. Compliance with Drug-Free Workplace requirements (see 2 CFR part 2429, which is HUD's 
implementation of 41 U.S.C. 701, et seq.) 
13. Compliance with the requirements related to safeguarding resident/client files 
14. Compliance with the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (2 CFR 
part 170) (FFATA), as amended 
15. Compliance with Eminent Domain 
16. Compliance with Accessibility for Persons with Disabilities requirements on HUD's 
Disability Overview webpage 
17. Compliance with the Build America, Buy America (BABA) Act procurement requirements 
and implementing guidance available on HUD's dedicated webpage 
18. Compliance with System for Award Management and Universal Identifier Requirements at 2 
CFR part 25 
19. Compliance with section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), 
as amended (22 USC 7104(g)) and implementing regulations at 2 CFR part 175 (Award Term for 
Trafficking in Persons) 
20. Compliance with Suspension and Debarment (see 2 CFR part 2424 and 2 CFR part 180) 
21. Compliance with environmental justice requirements under Executive Orders 12898 and 
14008, and OMB Memorandum M-21-28, which implements the Justice40 Initiative, section 223 
of Executive Order 14008. 
22. Compliance with Eliminating Barriers That May Unnecessarily Prevent Individuals with 
Criminal Histories from Participation in HUD Programs (see HUD Secretary Fudge's April 12, 
2022 memorandum) 
23. Compliance with equity requirements, which include compliance with racial equity and 
underserved communities and LGBTQ+ requirements under Executive Orders 13985 and 13988 
24. Compliance with waste, fraud, and abuse requirements, including whistleblower protections 
(see HUD's webpage) 
 

Compliance with 41 U.S.C. § 4712, which includes informing your employees in writing 
of their rights and remedies, in the predominant native language of the workforce. Under 
41 U.S.C. § 4712, employees of a contractor, subcontractor, grantee, subgrantee, and 
personal services contractor may not be discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated 
against as a reprisal for disclosing information that the employee reasonably believes is 
evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal contract or grant, a gross waste of Federal 
funds, an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or grant, a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or regulation related 
to a Federal contract (including the competition for or negotiation of a contract) or grant.  
(See Federal Contractor or Grantee Protections | Office of Inspector General, Department 
of Housing and Urban Development (hudoig.gov) 

  

 Environmental Review 
Compliance with environmental requirements, including regulations at 24 CFR part 50 or 58: 

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/08/13/2021-17339/hud-program-evaluation-policy-policy-statement
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/08/13/2021-17339/hud-program-evaluation-policy-policy-statement
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-B/chapter-XXIV/part-2429
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2009-title41/html/USCODE-2009-title41-chap10.htm
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/disability_overview
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/disability_overview
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/GC/documents/Build%20America,%20Buy%20America%20Act%20Provisions.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/general_counsel/BABA
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-25
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-25
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2010-title22/pdf/USCODE-2010-title22-chap78-sec7104.pdf
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/USCODE-2010-title22/pdf/USCODE-2010-title22-chap78-sec7104.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-175
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-B/chapter-XXIV/part-2424
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-B/chapter-XXIV/part-2424
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/SPM/documents/EO12898FederalActionstoAddressEnvironmentalJustice.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/SPM/documents/EO14008TacklingtheClimateCrisis.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/M-21-28.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/SPM/documents/EO14008TacklingtheClimateCrisis.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/Main/documents/Memo_on_Criminal_Records.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/Main/documents/Memo_on_Criminal_Records.pdf
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/25/2021-01753/advancing-racial-equity-and-support-for-underserved-communities-through-the-federal-government
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/25/2021-01761/preventing-and-combating-discrimination-on-the-basis-of-gender-identity-or-sexual-orientation
https://www.hudoig.gov/fraud/whistleblower-rights/federal-employee-applicant-protections
https://www.hudoig.gov/fraud/whistleblower-rights/federal-contractor-grantee-protections
https://www.hudoig.gov/fraud/whistleblower-rights/federal-contractor-grantee-protections
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50?toc=1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-58?toc=1


 

  Page 48 of 80 
 

Environmental review requirements can be found under Section IV.G.2.c of this NOFO. 

 Prohibition on Surveillance 
Compliance with 2 CFR 200.216, Prohibition on Certain Telecommunication and Video 
Surveillance Services or Equipment is required. 

Remedies for Noncompliance 
HUD may terminate a Federal award, in whole or in part, for any of the reasons specified in 2 
CFR 200.340, Termination. 

Corrective and remedial actions. To ensure compliance with the requirements of the 
Appropriations Act and to effectively administer the PRO Housing program, HUD is waiving 42 
U.S.C. 5304(e) of the HCD Act to the extent necessary to impose the following alternative 
requirement: HUD may undertake corrective and remedial actions for States in accordance with 
the authorities applicable to entitlement grantees in subpart O (including corrective and remedial 
actions in 24 CFR 570.910, 570.911, and 570.913) or under subpart I of the CDBG regulations at 
24 CFR part 570. Before determining appropriate corrective actions, HUD will notify the grantee 
of the procedures applicable to its review. As in the annual CDBG program, in accordance with 
24 CFR 570.300, the policies and procedures set forth in subpart O will apply to local 
governments receiving direct grants from HUD. 

Reduction, withdrawal, or adjustment of a grant or other appropriate action. Prior to a 
reduction, withdrawal, or adjustment of a grant or other appropriate action taken pursuant to this 
section, the recipient shall be notified of such proposed action and given an opportunity within a 
prescribed time period for an informal consultation. Consistent with the procedures described in 
this NOFO, the Secretary may adjust, reduce, or withdraw the grant or take other actions as 
appropriate, except that funds already expended on eligible approved activities shall not be 
recaptured. 

Lead-Based Paint Requirements 

When providing housing assistance funding for purchase, lease, support services, operation, or 
work that may disturb painted surfaces, of pre-1978 housing, you must comply with the lead-
based paint evaluation and hazard reduction requirements of HUD’s lead- based paint rules 
(Lead Disclosure; and Lead Safe Housing (24 CFR part 35)); and EPA’s lead- based paint rules 
(e.g., Repair, Renovation and Painting; Pre-Renovation Education; and Lead Training and 
Certification (40 CFR part 745)). 

C. Reporting 
HUD requires recipients to submit performance and financial reports under OMB guidance and 
program instructions. 
  
1. Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters 
You should be aware that if the total Federal share of your federal award includes more than 
$500,000 over the period of performance, the award will be subject to post award reporting 
requirements reflected in Appendix XII to 2 CFR part 200, Award Terms and Conditions for 
Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters. 
2. Race, Ethnicity and Other Data Reporting 
HUD requires recipients that provide HUD-funded program benefits to individuals or families to 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.216
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-C/section-200.216
http://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.340
http://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/subpart-D/subject-group-ECFR86b76dde0e1e9dc/section-200.340
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-35?toc=1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-40/chapter-I/subchapter-R/part-745?toc=1
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20XII%20to%20Part%20200


 

  Page 49 of 80 
 

report data on the race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, and family 
characteristics of persons and households who are applicants for, participants in, or beneficiaries 
or potential beneficiaries of HUD programs in order to carry out the Department’s 
responsibilities under the Fair Housing Act, Executive Order 11063, Title VI of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, and Section 562 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1987. These 
authorities prohibit discrimination in housing and in programs receiving financial assistance 
from the Department and direct the Secretary to administer the Department's programs and 
activities in a manner affirmatively to further these policies and to collect certain data to assess 
the extent of compliance with these policies. Each recipient shall keep such records and submit 
to the Department timely, complete, and accurate compliance reports at such times, and in such 
form and containing such information, as the Department may determine to be necessary to 
enable it to ascertain whether the recipient has complied or is complying with 24 CFR parts 1 
and 121. In general, recipients should have available for the Department data showing the 
demographics of beneficiaries of federally-assisted programs. 

3. Compliance with the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 
(Pub. L. 109-282) as amended (FFATA) 
FFATA requires information on federal awards be made available to the public via a single, 
searchable website, which is www.USASpending.gov. Accordingly, each award HUD makes 
under this NOFO will be subject to the requirements provided by the Award Term in Appendix 
A to 2 CFR part 170, “REPORTING SUBAWARD AND EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
INFORMATION,” unless the Federal funding for the award (including funding that may be 
added through amendments) is not expected to equal or exceed $30,000. Requirements under this 
Award Term include filing subaward information in the Federal Funding Accountability and 
Transparency Act (FFATA) Sub-award Reporting System (FSRS.gov) by the end of the month 
following the month in which the recipient awards any sub-grant equal to or greater than 
$30,000. 

4. Program-Specific Reporting Requirements 

Grantees will be required to submit a progress report on an annual basis throughout the grant 
term through HUD-provided templates and HUD’s Disaster Recovery Grant Reporting (DRGR) 
System. 

D. Debriefing 
For a period of at least 120 calendar days, beginning 30 calendar days after the public 
announcement of awards under this NOFO, HUD will provide a debriefing related to their 
application to requesting applicants. A request for debriefing must be made in writing or by 
email by the AOR whose signature appears on the SF-424 or by his or her successor in office and 
be submitted to the POC in Section VII Agency Contact(s) of this NOFO. Information provided 
during a debriefing may include the final score the applicant received for each rating factor, final 
evaluator comments for each rating factor, and the final assessment indicating the basis upon 
which funding was approved or denied. 

E. PRO Housing Post-Award Program Requirements 

This section contains the post-award requirements applicable to Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) funds made available by the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023 (Public Law 

http://www.usaspending.gov/
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-I/part-170


 

  Page 50 of 80 
 

117-328, approved December 29, 2022) (Appropriations Act) and awarded as Pathways to 
Removing Obstacles to Housing (PRO Housing) grants. 

The Appropriations Act provides that funds shall be awarded directly to State and local 
governments, metropolitan planning organizations, and multijurisdictional entities. A recipient of 
a PRO Housing grant is a “grantee.” Other capitalized terms in this Section are defined in the 
NOFO. 

1. Use of Funds  
a. General 

The Appropriations Act made funds available for the identification and removal of barriers to 
affordable housing production and preservation. The Appropriations Act requires that eligible 
uses of such grants include activities to further develop, evaluate, and implement housing policy 
plans, improve housing strategies, and facilitate affordable housing production and preservation. 

b. Applicable Statutory and Regulatory Requirements 

All recipients of PRO Housing grants are subject to: (1) the requirements of the Appropriations 
Act; (2) this Fiscal Year (FY) 2023 Notice of Funding Opportunity for the PRO Housing Grant 
Program (PRO Housing NOFO), including all appendices; and (3) applicable regulations 
governing the CDBG program at 24 CFR part 570, unless modified by waivers and alternative 
requirements published by HUD in this NOFO or other applicable Federal Register Notice. 

Multijurisdictional entities and metropolitan planning organizations will be subject to CDBG 
regulations applicable to entitlement communities, unless otherwise noted. Additionally, 
references to entitlement communities within this Section also include multijurisdictional entities 
and metropolitan planning organizations. 

The PRO Housing grant program is intended to address the problem of barriers to affordable 
housing. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023, and the PRO Housing NOFO establish the 
purpose and define the eligible uses of PRO Housing funds. Because PRO Housing is a 
competitive program, HUD is treating a grantee’s use of its PRO Housing grant independently of 
the consolidated plan and annual action plan process. Treating PRO Housing independently from 
the regular CDBG submission requirements implements the Appropriations Act direction to 
award funds competitively and facilitates the distribution of PRO Housing funds, while ensuring 
public participation on the specific use of the funds. However, for any PRO Applicant that is a 
recipient of funding under Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 
(including any member(s) of a multijurisdictional entity), the entity(ies) shall certify that the 
housing activities to be undertaken with PRO Housing funds are consistent with the strategic 
plan in the State’s or local jurisdiction’s consolidated plan.  In addition, HUD is waiving the 
consolidated plan regulations to the extent necessary to adjust reporting to fit the requirements of 
the Appropriations Act, the PRO Housing competition, and the use of the Disaster Recovery 
Grant Reporting (DRGR) system. For metropolitan planning organizations and 
multijurisdictional entities that are not recipients of other HUD funding, as identified above, the 
consolidated plan requirements at 24 CFR 91 are not applicable, including the certification of 
consistency with the consolidated plan. 

The waivers and alternative requirements apply only to PRO Housing funds and not to the use of 
annual formula allocations of CDBG funds or other HUD Community Planning and 



 

  Page 51 of 80 
 

Development funds, even if they are used in conjunction with PRO Housing funds for a project. 
They provide expedited program implementation and implement statutory requirements unique 
to this appropriation. 

c. PRO Housing Action Plan and Amendments 

Applicants will submit an application, as described in this NOFO, detailing the proposed use of 
funds and how the use of these funds will identify and remove barriers to affordable housing 
production and preservation. Once an Applicant receives a PRO Housing award, the grantee’s 
application (or approved components of a grantee’s application) will become the basis for its 
PRO Housing Action Plan. Once the grantee has received DRGR system access, the grantee will 
enter in DRGR the approved activities and narrative information and HUD will ensure that the 
information is consistent with the application and HUD’s approval. This information is the 
grantee’s PRO Housing Action Plan. The grantee shall publish the PRO Housing Action Plan on 
its official website(s). Such publications shall be in an accessible format and ensure access for 
individuals with disabilities. 

A grantee may request to make substantial amendments to its PRO Housing Action Plan. Before 
making any request for a substantial amendment to the PRO Housing Action Plan, a grantee 
must follow the same public participation requirements required by this NOFO for the 
preparation and submission of an Application. HUD must review and approve any request for a 
substantial amendment for the amendment to take effect. HUD’s review will confirm whether the 
substantially amended Application would still score in the fundable range for the competition. 

The following modifications constitute a substantial amendment requiring HUD approval: any 
change to the Application that would result in a change of more than 5 points in the score for 
need or soundness of approach factors, any change in program benefit, beneficiaries, or 
eligibility criteria, the allocation or re-allocation of more than ten percent of the award, or the 
addition or deletion of an eligible activity. Amendments to the PRO Housing Action Plan that do 
not fall within the definition of a substantial amendment are “non-substantial amendments.” 
These are discussed in section VI.E.5.a below. 

HUD can help determine whether the amendment would constitute a substantial amendment and 
help ensure the proposed change complies with this NOFO and all applicable requirements. 
Questions regarding specific program requirements for this NOFO should be directed to the POC 
listed in this NOFO. As indicated in this NOFO, if a grantee makes or proposes to make a 
substantial amendment to its project, HUD reserves the right to amend the grantee’s award and 
reduce the grant amount or recapture the grant consistent with section IV.F.4 of this NOFO. 
Additional information about substantial amendments can be found in section VI.E.5.a.3 below. 

A grantee is required under this NOFO to show evidence that firmly committed leverage 
resources were actually received and used for their intended purposes through annual reports as 
the project proceeds. Sources of leverage funds may be substituted after grant award, as long as 
the dollar amount of leverage is equal to or greater than the total amount of leverage identified as 
firmly committed in the application submissions to HUD. Substitution of a leverage source in the 
same amount committed in the Application is not a substantial amendment. Section VI.E.5.a 
describes additional leverage reporting requirements in DRGR. 

Applicants should note that some activities that can be carried out to identify and remove barriers 
to affordable housing production may contain unallowable costs pursuant to 2 CFR 200.444.  



 

  Page 52 of 80 
 

Any activity to carry out the regular responsibilities of the unit of general local government or 
for building or portions thereof used for the general conduct of government is unallowable. 
Applicants should plan their approaches accordingly to ensure that PRO Housing award funds 
are not used for such costs. However, grantees may use leverage funding for such unallowable 
costs. 

2. Timely Expenditure of Funds 

The Appropriations Act requires that HUD obligate all funds on or before September 30, 2026.  
A grantee must expend funds in a manner that meets all PRO Housing program requirements, 
including reporting, by the end of the period of the performance of the PRO Housing grant, 
which is the end of FY 2029. 

Grantees must comply with 2 CFR 200.305, as may be amended, and therefore may not draw 
down funds in advance of need. 

Pursuant to 24 CFR 570.200(k) (entitlements, multijurisdictional entities, and metropolitan 
planning organizations) and 570.480(h) (states), any unexpended funds in a grantee’s account 
will cancel on September 30, 2031. 

3.  Authority to Grant Waivers 

The Appropriations Act authorizes the Secretary to waive or specify alternative requirements for 
any provision of title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 (HCD Act), as 
amended, except for requirements related to fair housing, nondiscrimination, labor standards, the 
environment, and requirements that activities benefit persons of low- and moderate-income upon 
a finding that any such waivers or alternative requirements are necessary to expedite or facilitate 
the use of funds authorized for the identification and removal of barriers to affordable housing 
production and preservation. Regulatory waiver authority is also provided by 24 CFR 5.110, 
91.600, and 570.5. 

4.  Overview of Grant Process 

To begin expenditure of PRO Housing funds, the following steps are necessary: 

• Applicant conducts public participation in accordance with the requirements of this 
NOFO, including at least one public hearing and at least 15 days for public comment; 

• Applicant responds to public comment and submits its application and certifications; 
• HUD reviews applications in accordance with this NOFO and selects highest scoring 

Applicants for awards; and 
• If the application is selected for award, HUD sends an award letter selection letter to 

awardee outlining next steps. 

5. Applicable Rules, Statutes, Waivers, and Alternative Requirements 

This section describes requirements imposed by the Appropriations Act, applicable waivers, and 
alternative requirements. For each statutory waiver and alternative requirement described in the 
NOFO, the Secretary has determined that such waiver is necessary to expedite or facilitate the 
use of PRO Housing funds and for regulatory waivers, the Secretary has determined good cause 
exists, and/or the action is not inconsistent with the overall purpose of the HCD Act. 



 

  Page 53 of 80 
 

The waivers and alternative requirements provide additional flexibility in program design and 
implementation to identify and remove barriers to affordable housing production and 
preservation, while meeting the unique requirements of the Appropriations Act. The following 
requirements apply only to the PRO Housing funds awarded under this NOFO, and not to funds 
provided under any other component of the CDBG program, such as the annual formula 
Entitlement or State CDBG programs, Section 108 Loan Guarantee Program, the Neighborhood 
Stabilization Program, or any other award under the Appropriations Act. 

Grantees may request additional waivers and alternative requirements from the Department as 
needed to address specific needs related to their activities (for waiver request instructions, see 
Appendix A). Except where noted, waivers and alternative requirements described below apply 
to all grantees under this NOFO. 

Except as described in this NOFO, statutory and regulatory provisions governing the State 
CDBG program shall apply to any State government receiving an award under this NOFO, while 
statutory and regulatory provisions governing the Entitlement CDBG program shall apply to  
local governments, multijurisdictional entities, and metropolitan planning organizations. 
Applicable statutory provisions can be found under title I of the Housing and Community 
Development Act of 1974, as amended (42 U.S.C. 5301 et seq.). Applicable State and 
Entitlement regulations can be found at 24 CFR part 570. Consolidated plan and public 
participation requirements are found at 24 CFR part 91. 

All references in this NOFO pertaining to timelines and/or deadlines are in terms of calendar 
days unless otherwise noted. The “date of this NOFO” shall mean the publication date of the 
PRO Housing NOFO unless otherwise noted. 

a. Grant Administration. 

i. PRO Housing Action Plan and general requirements. The requirements for CDBG actions 
plans, located at 42 U.S.C. 5304(a)(1), 42 U.S.C. 5304(m), 42 U.S.C. 5306(d)(2)(C)(iii), 24 CFR 
91.220, and 91.320, are waived for funds provided under this NOFO. Instead, each grantee must 
submit to HUD an application for PRO Housing. HUD will monitor the grantee’s activities and 
use of funds for consistency with its PRO Housing Action Plan and all other requirements, 
including performance and timeliness. 

a. Application-related requirements. The Application must meet the criteria of this 
NOFO and must identify the proposed use(s) of the grantee’s award, including criteria for 
eligibility, and how the uses identify and remove barriers to affordable housing 
production and preservation. Because HUD may not obligate PRO Housing funds after 
September 30, 2026, the last date that grantees may submit an amendment that would 
involve obligation of awarded funds by HUD is June 1, 2026. 

b. Funds awarded to a State government. For each program or activity that will be carried 
out by the State government, the application as entered into the PRO Housing Action 
Plan must describe: (1) the projected use of the PRO Housing funds, including the 
entity(ies) administering the program/activity, budget, and geographic area; (2) proposed 
start and end dates; and (3) how the projected use will meet CDBG eligibility criteria and 
a national objective; and (4) estimated performance outcomes (i.e., a performance 
measure) as identified in the Section V.A.1.e.i. of this NOFO or as otherwise determined 
and approved by HUD upon award of PRO Housing funds. 



 

  Page 54 of 80 
 

If a State government chooses to use a method of distribution to allocate funds to local 
governments, it must describe in its Application all criteria used to determine the 
distribution, including the relative importance of each criterion. Upon making awards, a 
State government must enter the information into the PRO Housing Action Plan as 
described above. 

c. Funds awarded directly to a local government, multijurisdictional entity, or 
metropolitan planning organization. The local government, multijurisdictional entity, or 
metropolitan planning organization’s Application, as entered into the PRO Housing 
Action Plan, shall describe: (1) the projected use of the PRO Housing funds, including 
the entity(ies) administering the program/activity, budget, and geographic area; (2) 
proposed start and end dates; (3) how the projected use will meet CDBG eligibility 
criteria and a national objective; and (4) estimated performance outcomes (i.e., a 
performance measure) as identified in the Section V.A.1.e.i. of this NOFO. 

d. General grant oversight 

1. The grantee must maintain adequate capacity of its administering agency(ies) or 
entity(ies), and the capacity of any local government or other organization or Partner 
expected to carry out PRO Housing projects or activities. The grantee will plan and 
provide for increasing the capacity of subrecipients as needed and where capacity 
deficiencies (e.g., outstanding Office of Inspector General audit findings) have been 
identified. Grantees are responsible for providing adequate technical assistance to 
Partners, subrecipients, or subgrantees to ensure the timely, compliant, and effective 
use of funds. Although local governments or other organizations may carry out 
programs and projects, each grantee under this NOFO remains legally and financially 
accountable for the use of all funds and may not delegate or contract to any other 
party any inherently governmental responsibilities related to management of the 
funds, such as oversight (also see paragraph a.ix under section 5), policy 
development, and financial management; and 
2. The grantee will manage program income (e.g., including in agreements whether 
subrecipients may retain it), and the purpose(s) for which it may be used. Waivers 
and alternative requirements related to program income can be found in this NOFO at 
paragraphs a.ii and a.xvi of this section. 

e. Obligation and expenditure of funds. HUD will issue a grant agreement obligating the 
funds to the grantee. Only the funds described by the grantee in its application and 
approved by HUD will be obligated. In addition, HUD will establish the line of credit and 
the grantee will receive DRGR system access (if it does not have access already). The 
grantee must also enter its approved application activities in the PRO Housing Action 
Plan before it may draw funds as described in paragraph A.2, below. 

f. Each activity must meet the applicable environmental requirements. After the 
Responsible Entity completes an environmental review(s) pursuant to 24 CFR part 58, as 
applicable (and paragraph a.xviii, as applicable), and receives from HUD or the State an 
approved Request for Release of Funds and certification (as applicable), or HUD has 
performed an environmental review under 24 CFR part 50 and the recipient has received 
HUD approval of the project, the grantee may draw down funds from the line of credit 
for the activity. 



 

  Page 55 of 80 
 

g. Anticipated outcomes and expenditure plan. Each grantee must include in its PRO 
Housing Action Plan projected expenditures and anticipated outcomes. Additional 
information on compliance with this requirement is available in Section VI.E.1.c. 

h. PRO Housing Action Plan Amendments and Submission to HUD. As the grantee 
proposes to amend its application, each proposed amendment must be highlighted, or 
otherwise identified, within the context of the entire application and be submitted to 
HUD. For substantial amendments, grantees must complete public participation 
requirements of this NOFO and section V.A.3. of this Section before HUD can approve 
the Amendment. HUD will only approve a substantial amendment if the new score is still 
within the competitive range. The beginning of every amendment must include a section 
that identifies exactly what content is being added, deleted, or changed. This section must 
also include a chart or table that clearly illustrates where funds are coming from and 
where they are moving. The amendment must include a revised budget allocation table 
that reflects the entirety of all funds, as amended. A grantee’s most recent version of its 
application must be accessible for viewing as a single document at any given point in 
time, rather than the public or HUD having to view and cross-reference changes among 
multiple amendments. Every amendment to the application (substantial and non-
substantial) must be numbered sequentially and posted on the grantee’s website. HUD 
may seek additional information from the grantee to determine whether a proposed 
amendment is a substantial amendment. 

ii. HUD performance review authorities and grantee reporting requirements in the DRGR 
System. 

a. Performance review authorities. 42 U.S.C. 5304(e) requires that the Secretary shall, at 
least on an annual basis, make such reviews and audits as may be necessary or 
appropriate to determine whether the grantee has carried out its activities in a timely 
manner, whether the grantee’s activities and certifications are carried out in accordance 
with the requirements and the primary objectives of the HCD Act and other applicable 
laws, and whether the grantee has the continuing capacity to carry out those activities in a 
timely manner. This NOFO waives the requirements for submission of a performance 
report, pursuant to 24 CFR 91.520. In the alternative, and to ensure consistency between 
grants awarded under the Appropriations Act, HUD is requiring that grantees enter 
information in the DRGR system in sufficient detail to permit the Department’s review of 
grantee performance on an annual basis and to enable remote review of grantee data to 
allow HUD to assess compliance and risk. 

b. PRO Housing Action Plan. Once an Applicant receives a PRO Housing award, the 
grantee’s application (or approved components of a grantee’s application) will become 
the basis for its PRO Housing Action Plan. Each grantee must enter its PRO Housing 
Action Plan into DRGR, including performance measures. As more detailed information 
about uses of funds is identified by the grantee, the grantee must enter this information 
into the DRGR system at a level of detail that is sufficient to serve as the basis for 
acceptable performance reports, permits HUD review of compliance requirements, and 
allows public understanding of progress. The information must also be entered into the 
DRGR system so that the grantee is able to draw its PRO Housing funds from the line of 
credit. To enter an activity into the DRGR system, the grantee must know the activity 



 

  Page 56 of 80 
 

type, national objective, activity budget, proposed performance outcomes, and the 
organization that will be responsible for the activity. In addition, a Universal Entity 
Identifier (UEI) number must be entered into the system for any entity carrying out a 
PRO Housing funded activity, including the grantee, recipient(s) and subrecipient(s), 
contractor(s), and developers. 

c. Tracking oversight activities in the DRGR system; use of DRGR data for HUD review 
and dissemination. HUD will use data entered into the DRGR PRO Housing Action Plan 
and the Annual Performance Report (APR), transactional data from the DRGR system, 
and other information provided by the grantee to provide reports to Congress and the 
public, as well as to (1) monitor for anomalies or performance problems; (2) reconcile 
budgets, obligations, funding draws, and expenditures; (3) calculate expenditures to 
determine compliance with program caps and the overall percentage of funds that benefit 
low- and moderate-income persons; and (4) analyze the risk of grantee programs to 
determine priorities for the Department’s monitoring. 

d. Tracking program income in the DRGR system. Grantees must use the DRGR system 
to draw grant funds for each activity. Grantees must also use the DRGR system to track 
program income receipts, disbursements, and revolving loan funds. If a grantee permits 
local governments or subrecipients to retain program income, the grantee must establish 
program income accounts in the DRGR system. The DRGR system requires grantees to 
use program income before drawing additional grant funds and ensures that program 
income retained by one organization will not affect grant draw requests for other 
organizations. 

e. DRGR System Annual Performance Report (APR). Each grantee must submit an APR 
through the DRGR system no later than 30 days following the end of the fiscal year. 
Within 3 days of submission to HUD, each APR must be posted on the grantee’s official 
website. HUD will also post the reports via the DRGR Public website. The grantee’s first 
APR is due no later than 30 days following the end of the fiscal year in which the grant 
award is made. For example, a grant award made in April requires an APR to be 
submitted by October 30. APRs must be submitted on an annual basis until the grant 
program is completed and meets the criteria for closeout. During the grant closeout 
process, a final APR will be required to ensure complete reporting. 

Each APR will include information about the uses of funds in activities identified in the 
DRGR system PRO Housing Action Plan during the applicable year. This includes, but is 
not limited to, the: project name, activity, location, and national objective; funds 
budgeted, obligated, drawn down, and expended; the funding source and total amount of 
any non-CDBG funds to be expended on each activity; beginning and actual completion 
dates of completed activities; achieved performance outcomes, such as number of 
housing units complete or number of low-and moderate-income persons benefiting; and 
the race and ethnicity of persons assisted under direct-benefit activities. The DRGR 
system will automatically display the amount of program income receipted, the amount 
of program income reported as disbursed, and the amount of grant funds disbursed. In 
addition, leveraged funds shall be identified for each activity, as applicable, in the DRGR 
system, and use of leverage funds committed in the grantee’s PRO Housing Action Plan 
shall be included in the grantee’s APR. 



 

  Page 57 of 80 
 

iii. Public participation waiver and alternative requirement. To permit a more streamlined 
process and to ensure PRO Housing grants are awarded in a timely manner, provisions of 42 
U.S.C. 5304(a)(2) and (3), 24 CFR 570.486, 91.105(b) and (c), and 91.115(b) and (c), with 
respect to public participation requirements, are waived and replaced by the requirements below. 

Note that the public participation process is distinct from stakeholder engagement scoring 
criterion found in this NOFO. The streamlined requirements mandate at least one public hearing 
at the Applicant’s level of government for the application and for each substantial amendment 
and require providing a reasonable notice (at least 15 days) and opportunity for public comment 
and ongoing public access to information about the use of grant funds. 

The streamlined public participation requirements for the PRO Housing program are: 

a. Publication of the PRO Housing application and Action Plan: Before the Applicant 
submits the Application submissions for this NOFO, or a substantial amendment to the 
PRO Housing Action Plan, the Applicant must publish the PRO Housing application or 
Action Plan amendment in its entirety for public comment. 

The manner of publication must include prominent posting on the Applicant’s official 
Website(s) and must afford the public, affected local governments, and other interested 
parties a reasonable opportunity to examine the plan or amendment’s contents. The topic 
of PRO Housing must be navigable by the public from the Applicant’s homepage. 
Applicants are required to hold at least one public hearing to solicit public comments on 
the Application submission and one hearing before submitting a substantial amendment 
request. 

Applicants are also encouraged to notify affected parties through electronic mailings, 
press releases, statements by public officials, media advertisements, public service 
announcements, and/or contacts with organizations located in or serving the target area or 
neighborhood. 

Applicants are responsible for ensuring that the public has equal access to information 
about the programs, including persons with disabilities and limited English proficiency 
(LEP). Each Applicant must ensure that program information is available in the 
appropriate languages for the geographic area served by the jurisdiction and in accessible 
formats for persons with disabilities. 

For assistance in ensuring that this information is available to LEP populations, recipients 
should consult the Final Guidance to Federal Financial Assistance Recipients Regarding 
Title VI, Prohibition Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English 
Proficient Persons published on January 22, 2007, in the Federal Register (72 FR 2732). 

Subsequent to publication of any Application submission, the Applicant must provide a 
reasonable time frame and method(s) (including electronic submission) for receiving 
comments on the submission. A summary by topic of all comments or views received on 
the Application or substantial amendment to the PRO Housing Action Plan, a list of 
commenters by name or organization, and a summary of any comments or views not 
accepted and the reasons why must be submitted to HUD along with the submission. 
Such a summary submitted with the submission will not count against the application 
page limits specified in this NOFO. 



 

  Page 58 of 80 
 

Substantial amendments are changes that affect the responses to the rating factors and 
include but are not limited to a change in program benefit, beneficiaries, or eligibility 
criteria; the allocation or re-allocation of more than ten percent of the award; or the 
addition or deletion of an activity. Subsequent to award, a grantee may substantially 
amend the Application if it follows the same public participation requirements in this 
NOFO for the preparation and submission of an Application, and HUD agrees in writing 
that the amended Application would still score in the fundable range for the competition. 

b. Non-substantial amendment. The grantee is not required to undertake public comment 
when it makes any plan amendment that is not substantial. Similar to substantial 
amendments, non-substantial amendments require HUD acceptance in the DRGR system 
prior to taking effect. 

c. Physical Accessibility. Note that all meetings must be held in facilities that are 
physically accessible to persons with disabilities. Where physical accessibility is not 
achievable, Applicants and Partners must give priority to alternative methods of product 
or information delivery that offer programs and activities to qualified individuals with 
disabilities in the most integrated setting appropriate in accordance with HUD’s 
implementing regulations for section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C.§ 
794) at 24 CFR part 8 and all applicable laws and regulations. In addition, all notices of 
and communications during all training sessions and public meetings shall be provided in 
a manner that ensures effective communication for persons with hearing, visual, and 
other communication or speech-related disabilities or provide other means of 
accommodation for persons with disabilities. See Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973 and HUD’s section 504 regulations, 24 CFR 8.6. 

d. Post-award requirements. A CDBG grantee must update its public participation plan to 
reflect the requirements of this NOFO. The purpose of this plan is to serve as a notice of 
the public complaint process and the grantee’s response policy, the methods through 
which the public can learn about the grant and activity status, and the process the grantee 
will use to amend the PRO Housing Action Plan. The plan must satisfy the requirements 
of 24 CFR 91.105 or 91.115, as applicable (except as provided for in this NOFO and in 
notices providing waivers and alternative requirements for this grant). 

1. Website. The PRO Housing application and grant award information must be 
navigable by communities on the grantee (or relevant agency) homepage. Grantees 
are also encouraged to notify affected communities through electronic mailings, press 
releases, statements by public officials, media advertisements, public service 
announcements, and/or contacts with neighborhood organizations. 
2. Availability and accessibility of the Application. The grantee must make the 
Application, any amendments, and all performance reports available to the public on 
its website(s) and on request. In addition, the grantee must make these documents 
available on its website in a form accessible to persons with disabilities and non-
English-speaking persons. During the term of the grant, the grantee will provide the 
public, affected local governments, and other interested parties with reasonable and 
timely access to information and records relating to the Application and to the 
grantee’s use of grant funds. 
3. Public complaints. The grantee will provide a timely written response to every 



 

  Page 59 of 80 
 

public complaint. As required by law, the grantee will provide a response within 15 
working days of the receipt of the complaint, where practicable. 

iv. Direct grant administration and means of carrying out eligible activities. 

a. Requirements applicable to State grantees. Requirements at 42 U.S.C. 5306 are 
waived, to the extent necessary, to allow a State to directly carry out PRO Housing 
activities eligible under this NOFO, rather than distribute all funds to local governments. 
Pursuant to this waiver, the standard at section 570.480(c) and the provisions at 42 U.S.C. 
5304(e)(2) will also include activities that the State carries out directly. In addition, 
activities eligible under this NOFO may be carried out, subject to State law, by the State 
through its employees, through procurement contracts, or through assistance provided 
under agreements with subrecipients or recipients in all geographic areas within its 
jurisdiction, including entitlement areas and tribal areas, so long as the State is consistent 
with its PRO Housing Action Plan, including description of capacity and commitments to 
work with partners. Notwithstanding this waiver, State grantees continue to be 
responsible for civil rights, labor standards, and environmental protection requirements 
contained in the HCD Act and 24 CFR part 570, as well as ensuring such compliance by 
subgrantees. 

b. Requirements for all grantees – direct administration and assistance to neighborhood 
organizations described in 42 U.S.C 5305(a)(15) of the HCD Act. Activities made 
eligible at 42 U.S.C. 5305(a)(15) may only be undertaken by the eligible entities 
described in that section, whether the assistance is provided to such an entity from the 
State or from a local government. 

v. Requirement for stakeholder engagement during plan preparation. Currently, the HCDA and 
regulations require States to consult with affected units of local government in non-entitlement 
areas of the State in determining the State’s proposed method of distribution. HUD is waiving 42 
U.S.C. 5306(d)(2)(C)(iv), 42 U.S.C. 5306(d)(2)(D), 24 CFR 91.325(b), and 91.110, to the extent 
necessary to comply with the stakeholder engagement requirements in this NOFO. 

vi. Use of the “upper quartile” or “exception criteria” for low- and moderate-income area 
benefit activities. Per the requirements at 42 U.S.C. 5305(c)(2)(A), certain communities are 
allowed to use a percentage less than 51 percent to qualify activities under the low- and 
moderate-income area benefit category. This exception is referred to as the “exception criteria” 
or the “upper quartile.” For entitlement communities that meet the regulatory exception criteria, 
the community may apply the criteria if it receives funds from a State PRO Housing grantee and 
the State grantee permits the use. 

vii. Use of “uncapped” income limits. The Quality Housing and Work Responsibility Act of 
1998 (Title V of Public Law 105-276) enacted a provision that directed the Department to grant 
exceptions to at least 10 jurisdictions that are currently “capped’ under HUD’s low and 
moderate-income limits. Under this exception, a number of CDBG entitlement grantees may use 
“uncapped” income limits that reflect 80 percent of the actual median income for the area. Each 
year, HUD publishes guidance on its website identifying which grantees may use uncapped 
limits. The uncapped limits apply to activities funded pursuant to this NOFO in jurisdictions 
covered by the uncapped limits. 

viii. Grant administration responsibilities and general administration cap. 



 

  Page 60 of 80 
 

a. Grantee responsibilities. Per the Appropriations Act, each grantee shall administer its 
award in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Each grantee shall be 
financially accountable for the use of all funds provided in this NOFO and may contract 
for administrative support, but grantees may not delegate or contract to any other party 
any inherently governmental responsibilities related to management of the funds, such as 
oversight, policy approval or adoption, and financial management. 

b. General administration cap. Since HUD expects many grantees intend to use PRO 
Housing funding entirely for planning activities that identify and remove barriers to 
affordable housing productions and preservation, HUD is waiving caps for general 
administration, planning, and technical assistance that apply to CDBG grantees. HUD 
reminds grantees that these waivers and alternative requirements do not relieve grantees 
from expending funds for such activities as they identified in their applications. 

1. For State CDBG grantees under this NOFO, the provisions of 42 U.S.C. 5306(d) 
of the HCD Act and the regulation at 24 CFR 570.489(a)(1)(i), (ii), and (iii), and 
(3)(ii) and (iii) are waived to the extent that they cap administrative and technical 
assistance costs at three percent of an award, limit a State’s ability to charge a 
nominal application fee for grant applications for activities the State carries out 
directly, and require a dollar-for-dollar match of State funds for administrative costs 
exceeding $100,000. 42 U.S.C. 5306(d)(5) and (6) are waived and replaced with the 
alternative requirement that grantees may use up to ten percent of the award for 
general administrative costs and technical assistance. Additionally, a nonfederal 
match for administrative costs is not required. 
2. For Entitlement CDBG grantees under this NOFO, the provisions of 24 CFR 
570.200(g)(1) and (2) and 570.509(a)(5) are waived to the extent that they place a 
limit on planning and administrative costs of no greater than 20 percent of the PRO 
Housing grant and are replaced with the alternative requirement that grantees may 
use up to ten percent of the award for general administrative costs and technical 
assistance. There is no limit on the amount of PRO Housing funds non-state grantees 
may use for planning activities. 

ix. Planning-only activities – applicable to State grantees only. The annual State CDBG program 
requires that local government grant recipients for planning-only grants must document that the 
use of funds meets a national objective. In the State CDBG program, these planning grants are 
typically used for individual project plans. By contrast, planning activities carried out by 
entitlement communities are more likely to include non-project specific plans such as functional 
land-use plans, master plans, historic preservation plans, comprehensive plans, community 
recovery plans, development of housing codes, zoning ordinances, and neighborhood plans. 
These plans may guide long-term community development efforts comprising multiple activities 
funded by multiple sources. In the entitlement program, these general planning activities are 
presumed to meet a national objective under the requirements at 24 CFR 570.208(d)(4). 
Therefore, for State grantees receiving an award under this NOFO, the Department is removing 
the eligibility requirements at 24 CFR 570.483(b)(5) or (c)(3). Instead, States must comply with 
570.208(d)(4) when funding PRO Housing planning-only activities, or directly administering 
planning activities in accordance with the Appropriations Act. In addition, the types of planning 
activities that States may fund or administer are expanded to be consistent with those of 



 

  Page 61 of 80 
 

entitlement communities identified at 24 CFR 570.205. There is no restriction on the percentage 
of a PRO Housing award that grantees may spend on eligible planning activities.  

x. Waiver and alternative requirement for distribution to CDBG metropolitan cities and urban 
counties – applicable to State grantees only. Section 5302(a)(7) of title 42, U.S.C. (definition of 
“nonentitlement area”) and provisions of 24 CFR part 570 that would prohibit or restrict a State 
from distributing CDBG funds to entitlement communities and Indian tribes under the CDBG 
program, are waived, including 24 CFR 570.480(a) and 570.486(c). Instead, the State may 
distribute funds to local governments, including entitlement communities, and Indian tribes. 

xi. Waiver and alternative requirement for activities located in entitlement jurisdictions – 
applicable to State grantees only. Pursuant to 24 CFR part 570.486(c), any activity carried out in 
entitlement jurisdictions must significantly benefit residents of the non-entitlement UGLG 
carrying out the activity, and the state must determine that activity is meeting its needs in 
accordance with 42 U.S.C. 5306(d)(2)(D). The provisions of 24 CFR 570.486(c) are waived to 
the extent necessary to allow states, either directly or through units of general local government, 
to use funds for activities located in entitlement areas without contribution from the entitlement 
jurisdiction, consistent with the waiver and alternative requirements in Section V.A.4.a. of this 
Section. HUD is granting this waiver to facilitate and expedite the use of PRO Housing funds. 

xii. Use of subrecipients—applicable to State grantees only. The State CDBG program rule does 
not make specific provision for the treatment of entities that the CDBG Entitlement program 
calls “subrecipients.” The waiver allowing the State to directly carry out activities creates a 
situation in which the State may use subrecipients to carry out activities in a manner similar to an 
entitlement community. Therefore, for States taking advantage of the waiver to carry out 
activities directly, the requirements at 24 CFR 570.502, 570.503, and 570.500(c) apply, except 
the requirements that specific references to 24 CFR part 200 must be included in subrecipient 
agreements. Pursuant to 24 CFR 570.489(n) and 570.502, State grantees must ensure that its 
costs and those of its state recipients and subrecipients are in conformance with 2 CFR 200 
subpart E, as may be amended and incorporated in HUD regulations, whether carrying out 
activities directly or through the use of a subrecipient. 

xiii. Recordkeeping 

a. State governments. When a State carries out activities directly, the requirements at 24 
CFR 570.490(b) are waived and the following alternative provision shall apply: the State 
shall establish and maintain such records as may be necessary to facilitate review and 
audit by HUD of the State’s administration of PRO Housing funds under 24 CFR 
570.493. Consistent with applicable statutes, regulations, waivers and alternative 
requirements, and other Federal requirements, the content of records maintained by the 
State shall be sufficient to: enable HUD to make the applicable determinations described 
at 24 CFR 570.493; make compliance determinations for activities carried out directly by 
the State; compliance with requirements of this NOFO and any other Notice governing 
the use of PRO Housing grants; and show how activities funded are consistent with the 
descriptions of activities proposed for funding in the PRO Housing Action Plan and 
DRGR system. For fair housing and equal opportunity purposes, and as applicable, such 
records shall include data on the racial, ethnic, and gender characteristics of persons who 
are Applicants for, participants in, or beneficiaries of the program. 



 

  Page 62 of 80 
 

b. Local government, MPO, and multijurisdictional entities. Non-state grantees are 
subject to the recordkeeping requirements of 24 CFR 570.506. 

xiv. Change of use of real property – applicable to State grantees only. This waiver conforms to 
the change of use of real property requirement for States carrying out activities directly. For 
purposes of this program, all references to “unit of general local government” in 24 CFR 
570.489(j), shall be read as “unit of general local government or State.” 

xv. Responsibility for review and handling of noncompliance – applicable to State grantees only. 
This change is in conformance with the waiver allowing the State to carry out activities directly. 
24 CFR 570.492 is waived and the following alternative requirement applies for any State 
receiving a direct award under this NOFO: the State shall make reviews and audits, including 
onsite reviews of any subrecipients, designated public agencies, and local governments, as may 
be necessary or appropriate to meet the requirements of 42 U.S.C. 5304(e)(2), as amended, and 
as modified by this NOFO. In the case of noncompliance with these requirements, the State shall 
take such actions as may be appropriate to prevent a continuance of the deficiency, mitigate any 
adverse effects or consequences, and prevent a recurrence. The State shall establish remedies for 
noncompliance by any designated subrecipients, public agencies, or local governments. 

xvi. Program income alternative requirement. The Department is waiving applicable program 
income rules at 42 U.S.C. 5304(j), 24 CFR 570.500(a) and (b), 570.504, and 570.489(e) to the 
extent necessary to provide additional flexibility as described under this NOFO. The alternative 
requirements provide guidance regarding the use of program income received before and after 
grant closeout and address revolving loan funds. 

a. Definition of program income. 

For the purposes of this subpart, “program income” is defined as gross income generated 
from the use of PRO Housing funds and received by a State, local government, or tribe, 
or a subrecipient of a State, local government, or tribe, unless excluded from the 
definition as described in paragraph 17.a.(2) and paragraph 17.d. below. When income is 
generated by an activity that is only partially assisted with PRO Housing funds, the 
program income to the PRO Housing grant shall be prorated to reflect the percentage of 
PRO Housing funds used (e.g., a single loan supported by PRO Housing funds and other 
funds; a single parcel of land purchased with PRO Housing funds and other funds). 
Program income includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real property purchased 
or improved with PRO Housing funds; 
2. Proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with PRO Housing funds; 
3. Gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired with 
PRO Housing funds by a State, local government, or tribe, or subrecipient of a State, 
local government, or tribe, less costs incidental to generation of the income (i.e., net 
income); 
4. Net income from the use or rental of real property owned by a State, local 
government, or tribe or subrecipient of a State, local government, or tribe, that was 
constructed or improved with PRO Housing funds; 
5. Payments of principal and interest on loans made using PRO Housing funds; 
6. Proceeds from the sale of loans made with PRO Housing funds; 



 

  Page 63 of 80 
 

7. Proceeds from the sale of obligations secured by loans made with PRO Housing 
funds; 
8. Interest earned on program income pending disposition of the income, but 
excluding interest earned on funds held in a revolving fund account; 
9. Funds collected through special assessments made against properties owned and 
occupied by households not of low- and moderate-income, where the special 
assessments are used to recover all or part of the PRO Housing portion of a public 
improvement; and 
10. Gross income paid to a State, local government, tribe, or paid to a subrecipient 
thereof from the ownership interest in a for-profit entity in which the income is in 
return for the provision of PRO Housing assistance. 

“Program income” does not include the following: 

1. The total amount of funds which is less than $25,000 received in a single year and 
retained by a State, local government, tribe, or retained by a subrecipient thereof; or 
2. Amounts generated by activities both eligible and carried out by an entity under 
the authority of section 105(a)(15) of the HCD Act. 

b. Retention of program income. Per 24 CFR 570.504(c), a local government receiving a 
direct award under this NOFO may permit a subrecipient to retain program income. State 
grantees may permit a local government or tribe, which receives or will receive program 
income, to retain the program income, but are not required to do so. 

c. Program income – use, closeout, and transfer. 

1. Program income received (and retained, if applicable) before or after closeout of 
the grant that generated the program income, and used to continue activities, is 
treated as additional PRO Housing grant funds subject to the requirements of this 
NOFO and must be used in accordance with the grantee’s PRO Housing Action Plan. 
To the maximum extent feasible, program income shall be used or distributed before 
additional withdrawals from the U.S. Treasury are made, except as provided in 
subparagraph d of this paragraph. 
2. In addition to the regulations dealing with program income found at 24 CFR 
570.489(e) and 570.504, except as modified by this NOFO, the following rules 
apply: A grantee may transfer program income before closeout of the PRO Housing 
grant that generated the program income to its annual CDBG program. In addition, a 
State grantee may transfer program income before closeout to any annual CDBG-
funded activities carried out by a local government or Indian tribe within the State, 
including a local government that is an Entitlement CDBG grantee if that Entitlement 
grantee received PRO Housing funding from the State or from HUD. 

Program income received by a grantee, or received and retained by a subgrantee, after 
closeout of the grant that generated the program income, may also be transferred to a 
grantee’s annual CDBG award. In all cases, any program income received, and not used 
to continue PRO Housing activities, will not be subject to the waivers and alternative 
requirements of this NOFO. Rather, those funds will be subject to the applicable formula 
CDBG program rules. 



 

  Page 64 of 80 
 

d. Revolving loan funds. Local government grantees, State grantees, and local 
governments or tribes (as permitted by a State grantee) may establish revolving funds to 
carry out specific, identified activities. A revolving fund, for this purpose, is a separate 
fund (with a set of accounts that are independent of other program accounts) established 
to carry out specific activities. These activities generate payments, which will be used to 
support similar activities going forward. These payments to the revolving fund are 
program income and must be substantially disbursed from the revolving fund before 
additional grant funds are drawn from the U.S. Treasury for payments which could be 
funded from the revolving fund. Such program income is not required to be disbursed for 
non-revolving fund activities. 

State grantees may also establish a revolving fund to distribute funds to local 
governments or tribes to carry out specific, identified activities. The same requirements, 
outlined above, apply to this type of revolving loan fund. Last, note that no revolving 
fund, established per this NOFO, shall be directly funded or capitalized with an advance 
of PRO Housing grant funds. 

xvii. Reimbursement of expenses. The provisions of 24 CFR 570.489(b) are applied to permit a 
State to reimburse itself for otherwise allowable application-related costs incurred by itself or its 
subrecipients on or after the NOFO preview publication on HUD.gov. An entitlement grantee is 
subject to the provisions of 24 CFR 570.200(h) but may reimburse itself or its subrecipients for 
otherwise allowable costs incurred on or after the NOFO preview publication date. 24 CFR 
570.200(h)(1)(i) will not apply to the extent that it requires pre-agreement activities to be 
included in a consolidated plan. The Department expects all grantees to include all pre-
agreement activities in their applications. The provisions at 24 CFR 570.200(h) and 570.489(b) 
apply to grantees reimbursing costs incurred by itself or its recipients or subrecipients prior to the 
execution of a grant agreement with HUD. 

xviii. Environmental requirements. 

a. Clarifying note on the process for environmental release of funds when a State carries 
out activities directly. In the CDBG program, a State distributes CDBG funds to local 
governments and takes on HUD’s role in receiving environmental certifications from the 
grant recipients and approving releases of funds. For State grantees under this PRO 
Housing NOFO, HUD allows the State to carry out activities directly, in addition to 
distributing funds to subrecipients and/or subgrantees. Thus, per 24 CFR 58.4, when a 
State carries out activities directly, the State must submit the certification and request for 
release of funds to HUD for approval. 

b. Historic preservation reviews. To facilitate expedited historic preservation reviews 
under Section 106 of the of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (54 U.S.C. § 
306108), HUD strongly encourages grantees to allocate general administration funds to 
support the capacity of the State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO)/Tribal Historic 
Preservation Officer (THPO) to review PRO Housing projects. 

xix. Procurement. 

a. State grantees. Per 24 CFR 570.489(d), a State must have fiscal and administrative 
requirements for expending and accounting for all funds. Furthermore, per 570.489(g), a 
State shall establish requirements for procurement policies and procedures for local 



 

  Page 65 of 80 
 

governments based on full and open competition. All local governments receiving funds 
from a State through a method of distribution (also called state recipients, subgrantees, or 
local governments) are subject to the procurement policies and procedures required by 
the State. 

A State may meet the above requirements by electing to follow 2 CFR part 200, as may 
be amended. If a State has adopted part 200 in full, it must follow the same policies and 
procedures it uses when procuring property and services with its non-Federal funds. 
However, the State must ensure that every purchase order or other contract includes any 
clauses required by Federal statutes and executive orders and their implementing 
regulations per 2 CFR 200.317. 

b. Direct grants to local governments. Local governments receiving a direct grant from 
HUD will be subject to the procurement requirements of 4 CFR 200.318 through 
200.327, as may be amended. 

xx. Public website. A grantee shall maintain a public website which provides information 
accounting for how all grant funds are used and managed/administered, including details of all 
contracts and ongoing procurement policies. To meet this requirement, each grantee must make 
the PRO Housing Action Plan (including all amendments) and each APR (as created using the 
DRGR system) available on its website(s). 

xxi. Timely distribution of funds. The provisions at 24 CFR 570.494 and 24 CFR 570.902 
regarding timely distribution of funds are waived under this NOFO. HUD expects each grantee 
to expeditiously obligate and expend all funds, including any recaptured funds or program 
income, and to carry out activities in a timely manner. 

To track grantees’ progress, HUD will evaluate timeliness in relation to each grantee’s 
established expenditure plan. The Department will, absent substantial evidence to the contrary, 
deem a grantee to be carrying out its programs and activities in a timely manner if the schedule 
for carrying out its activities is substantially met. In determining the appropriate corrective action 
pursuant to this section, HUD will take into account the extent to which unexpended funds have 
been obligated by the grantee and its subrecipients for specific activities at the time the finding is 
made and other relevant information. 

xxii. Review of continuing capacity to carry out CDBG-funded activities in a timely manner. If 
HUD determines at any time that the grantee has not carried out its PRO Housing activities and 
certifications in accordance with the requirements and criteria described in this NOFO, HUD will 
undertake a further review to determine whether the grantee has the continuing capacity to carry 
out its activities in a timely manner. In making the determination, the Department will consider 
the following alternative requirements to provisions under 42 U.S.C. 5304(e): the nature and 
extent of the grantee’s performance deficiencies, types of corrective actions the grantee has 
undertaken, and the success or likely success of such actions. 

xxiii. Corrective and remedial actions. To ensure compliance with the requirements of the 
Appropriations Act and to effectively administer the PRO Housing program, HUD is waiving 42 
U.S.C. 5304(e) of the HCD Act to the extent necessary to impose the following alternative 
requirement: HUD may undertake corrective and remedial actions for States in accordance with 
the authorities applicable to entitlement grantees in subpart O (including corrective and remedial 
actions in 24 CFR 570.910, 570.911, and 570.913) or under subpart I of the CDBG regulations at 



 

  Page 66 of 80 
 

24 CFR part 570. Before determining appropriate corrective actions, HUD will notify the grantee 
of the procedures applicable to its review. As in the annual CDBG program, in accordance with 
24 CFR 570.300, the policies and procedures set forth in subpart O will apply to local 
governments receiving direct grants from HUD. 

xxiv. Reduction, withdrawal, or adjustment of a grant or other appropriate action. Prior to a 
reduction, withdrawal, or adjustment of a grant or other appropriate action taken pursuant to this 
section, the recipient shall be notified of such proposed action and given an opportunity within a 
prescribed time period for an informal consultation. Consistent with the procedures described in 
this NOFO, the Secretary may adjust, reduce, or withdraw the grant or take other actions as 
appropriate, except that funds already expended on eligible approved activities shall not be 
recaptured. 

xxv. Use of CDBG PRO-Housing funds as Match. As provided by the HCD Act, PRO Housing 
funds may be used as a matching requirement, share, or contribution for any other Federal 
program when used to carry out an eligible PRO Housing activity. 

xxxvi. URA and section 104(d) Requirements. As a reminder to all applicants, in addition to the 
URA requirements detailed elsewhere in this NOFO, PRO housing funds are subject to section 
104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, and its 
implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 42, Displacement, Relocation Assistance and Real 
Property Acquisition for HUD and HUD-Assisted Programs.  Section 104(d) applies to the 
demolition or conversion of lower-income dwelling units in connection with Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) program assisted activities. In addition, should HOME 
Investment Partnerships (HOME) funding comprise a funding source for a PRO Housing project 
activity, HOME funding is also subject to section 104(d) requirements. 

b. Certifications waiver and alternative requirement. Sections 91.325 and 91.225 of title 24 
of the Code of Federal Regulations are waived. Each State or local government applying for an 
award under this NOFO must make the certifications required by Appendix B and submit the 
certifications with its Application. 

6.  Duration of Funding 

The Appropriations Act requires that HUD obligate all funds provided under the Community 
Development Fund heading not later than September 30, 2026. All PRO Housing funds must be 
expended before September 30, 2029. 

7.  Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance 

The primary Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number for the grants under this 
NOFO is 14.023. Additional supporting CFDAs are: 14.218; 14.228. 

VII. AGENCY CONTACT(S) 
HUD staff will be available to provide clarification on the content of this NOFO. 
Questions regarding specific program requirements for this NOFO should be directed to the POC 
listed below. 
Name: 
Jessie Handforth Kome 
Phone: 



 

  Page 67 of 80 
 

202-708-3587 
Email: 
CDBG-PROHousing@hud.gov 
Individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing, or who have speech and other communication 
disabilities may use a relay service to reach the agency contact. To learn more about how to 
make an accessible telephone call, visit the webpage for the Federal Communications 
Commission. Note that HUD staff cannot assist applicants in preparing their applications. 

VIII. OTHER INFORMATION 
1. Compliance of this NOFO with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 
 A Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) with respect to the environment has been made for 
this NOFO in accordance with HUD regulations at 24 CFR part 50, which implement section 
102(2)(C) of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. 
4332(2)(C)). The FONSI is available for inspection at HUD’s Funding Opportunities web page. 
  

2. Web Resources. 

• Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 
• Assistance Listing (formerly CFDA) 
• Climate Action Plan 
• Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool (CEJST) 
• Code of Conduct Requirements and E-Library 
• Environmental Review 
• Equal Participation of Faith-Based Organizations 
• Fair Housing Rights and Obligations 
• Federal Awardee Performance and Integrity Information System 
• Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) Subaward 

Reporting System 
• Grants.gov 
• Healthy Homes Strategic Plan 
• Healthy Housing Reference Manual 
• Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs) 
• HUD’s Strategic Plan 
• HUD Grants 
• HUD Reform Act 
• HUD Reform Act: HUD Implementing Regulations 
• Limited English Proficiency (LEP) 
• NOFO Webcasts 
• Procurement of Recovered Materials 
• Promise Zones 
• Section 3 Business Registry 
• State Point of Contact List 
• System for Award Management (SAM) 

https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
https://www.fcc.gov/consumers/guides/telecommunications-relay-service-trs
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-50
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/fundingopps
https://www.hud.gov/affh
https://sam.gov/content/home
https://www.hud.gov/climate
https://screeningtool.geoplatform.gov/en/#3/33.47/-97.5
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/conductgrants
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/environment_energy/regulations
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/retrieveECFR?gp=1&SID=d67b2c9e097a45629d959d63e5e4f297&ty=HTML&h=L&mc=true&r=SECTION&n=se24.1.5_1109
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/fair_housing_rights_and_obligations
https://www.fapiis.gov/fapiis/%23/home
https://www.fsrs.gov/
https://www.fsrs.gov/
https://grants.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/DOC_13701.PDF
https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/publications/books/housing/housing_ref_manual_2012.pdf
https://www.hud.gov/programdescription/hbcu
https://www.hud.gov/HUD-FY22-26-Strategic-Plan-Focus-Areas
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/42/3537a
http://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-24/subtitle-A/part-4
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/limited_english_proficiency_0
https://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/press/multimedia
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=91f378a1992b84880fbe5823086278fc&mc=true&node=pt2.1.200&rgn=div5&se2.1.200_1322
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/field_policy_mgt/fieldpolicymgtpz
https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/What
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/SPOC-4-13-20.pdf
https://www.sam.gov/SAM/


 

  Page 68 of 80 
 

• Real Estate Acquisition and Relocation 
• Unique Entity Identifier 
• USA Spending 

3. Program Relevant Web Resources 

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/pro_housing 

APPENDIX 
Appendix A: Waiver Requests 

Introduction 

This attachment provides instructions for seeking waivers of the program requirements 
applicable to funds under Public Law 117-328 and described in the Notice of Funding 
Opportunity (NOFO) for HUD’s Pathways to Removing Obstacles to Affordable Housing (PRO 
Housing). 

Waiver requests necessary to carry out an activity described in an application must be submitted 
with that application. When submitting an application, applicants should submit requests for any 
waivers anticipated to be necessary at the time of submission for any activity referenced in the 
application.  However, HUD understands that actions needed to identify and remove barriers to 
affordable housing productions and preservation can be addressed through more than one CDBG 
eligible activity.  Changes to a project’s funding structure or design may require a change in the 
proposed CDBG-eligible activity or a modification to a waiver or alternative requirement 
previously requested.  Therefore, applicants may submit waiver requests, and if necessary, 
requests to modify previous waiver requests. 

HUD may, during review of an application or during the post-review negotiation process, 
determine that the Applicant would require an additional waiver for the proposed project, or find 
that additional information is needed to make a determination regarding a submitted waiver 
request.  In these cases, HUD may contact any Applicant at any time prior to award 
announcement to explain the issue and request that the Applicant submit a waiver request for 
consideration or additional information to support a previous request. 

Waiver and Alternative Requirement Categories 

Public Law 117-328 authorizes the Secretary of HUD to “waive or specify alternative 
requirements for any provision of such title I of the [Housing and Community Development Act 
of 1974, as amended] except for requirements related to fair housing, nondiscrimination, labor 
standards, the environment, and requirements that activities benefit persons of low- and 
moderate-income” if the Secretary finds that such waivers or alternative requirements “are 
necessary to expedite or facilitate the use” of PRO Housing funds.  

Grantees are cautioned that all waiver requests may not be approved, and that HUD may impose 
additional alternative requirements when granting a waiver.  Additional instructions for 
submitting waivers are included below.  Waiver requests shall be submitted to HUD at the 
following e-mail address: CDBG-PROHousing@hud.gov, with Waiver Request on the subject 
line of the email. 

Eligibility and Administrative Waivers 

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/relocation
https://sam.gov/content/duns-uei
https://www.usaspending.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/pro_housing


 

  Page 69 of 80 
 

All applicants must demonstrate that PRO Housing funds will be used for a CDBG-eligible 
activity (for States, the activities described at 42 U.S.C. § 5305(a); for entitlement CDBG 
grantees, multijurisdictional entities, and metropolitan planning organizations, the activities 
described in 24 CFR part 570, subpart C) or an activity eligible under a waiver and alternative 
requirement.  When necessary to expedite or facilitate the use of funds, the Secretary may grant 
waivers to add a new eligible activity or to modify existing eligible activities. Waivers to add 
new eligible activities are rare, generally because the list of existing eligible activities is 
extensive and able to accommodate proposals to identify and remove barriers to affordable 
housing productions and preservation. 

Grantees may also request a waiver of other regulations that the Secretary administers in 
connection with the obligation by the Secretary or the use by the recipient of these funds (except 
for statutory requirements related to fair housing, nondiscrimination, labor standards, the 
environment, and the low- and moderate-income national objective). For example, a grantee may 
request a modification of the definition of subrecipient. 

To request a waiver of eligibility or administrative requirements, applicants must submit a 
written request that includes: the requirement to be waived, and if applicable, alternative 
requirement to be added (meaning how the current requirement should be altered); a detailed 
statement of how the request is necessary to identify and remove barriers to affordable housing 
production and preservation; the demographics of the population to be assisted; and a statement 
of alternative approaches considered to eliminate the need for a waiver. 

National Objective Waivers 

All PRO Housing activities are required to meet a national objective.  HUD will not consider 
waiver requests that seek to waive a national objective entirely.  Although exceedingly rare, 
HUD may consider a regulatory waiver request to impose an alternative requirement modifying 
an existing national objective requirement. 

For example, 24 CFR 570.208(a)(1)(i) requires that for activities that serve all the residents in a 
particular area, at least 51 percent of whom are low- and moderate-income persons, an area that 
is not primarily residential in character shall not qualify.  Most activities that meet this 
requirement are smaller activities with focused geographic service areas that are easy to 
document as “primarily residential.” However, HUD anticipates that many applications for PRO 
Housing activities will include or consist entirely of planning activities that may affect all areas 
of an applicant’s jurisdiction.  For large cities, urban counties, and states, documenting that the 
entire jurisdiction is “primarily residential” is difficult or impossible. Therefore, applicants may 
request that HUD waive the requirement that the service area be “primarily residential” in order 
for the applicant to carry out an activity that benefits its entire jurisdiction.  Note that such a 
waiver would not remove the requirement that the jurisdiction contain at least 51 percent low- 
and moderate-income persons. 

To request a national objective waiver, applicants must submit a written request that includes: 
the requirement to be waived, and if applicable, alternative requirement to be added; a detailed 
statement of how the existing requirement is necessary to identify and remove barriers to 
affordable housing production and preservation; the demographics of population to be assisted; 
and a statement of alternatives approaches considered to eliminate the need for a waiver. 

  



 

  Page 70 of 80 
 

Appendix B -- Certifications 

Applicants to the PRO Housing program must use this Appendix to certify their compliance 
with various requirements. Applicants should complete the certifications relevant to them and 
submit them with their application. Please note that all applicants must complete the lobbying 
certification. 

PRO HOUSING CERTIFICATIONS FOR ENTITLEMENT LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
APPLICANTS 

In accordance with the applicable statutes and the regulations governing the consolidated plan 
regulations, the jurisdiction certifies that: 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing --The jurisdiction will affirmatively further fair housing. 

Uniform Relocation Act and Anti-displacement and Relocation Plan -- It will comply with 
the acquisition and relocation requirements of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real 
Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 4601-4655) and 
implementing regulations at 49 CFR Part 24. It has in effect and is following a residential anti-
displacement and relocation assistance plan required under 24 CFR Part 42 in connection with 
any activity assisted with funding under the Community Development Block Grant or HOME 
programs. 

Anti-Lobbying --To the best of the jurisdiction's knowledge and belief: 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 
Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement; 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, it will complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and 

3. It will require that the language of paragraph 1 and 2 of this anti-lobbying certification be 
included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all 
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

Authority of Jurisdiction -- The submission of the PRO Housing application is authorized 
under State and local law (as applicable) and the jurisdiction possesses the legal authority to 
carry out the programs for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD 
regulations. 

Consistency with plan --The housing activities to be undertaken with PRO Housing funds are 
consistent with the strategic plan in the jurisdiction’s consolidated plan. 



 

  Page 71 of 80 
 

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 
(12 U.S.C. 1701u) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 75. 

Build America, Buy America (BABA) – It will comply with Title IX, Subpart A of the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 (41 U.S.C. 8301 et seq.). 

Public Participation – It is in full compliance with the PRO Housing streamlined public 
participation requirements found in Section VI.E of the PRO Housing NOFO. 

Community Development Plan -- Its consolidated plan identifies community development and 
housing needs and specifies both short-term and long-term community development objectives 
that have been developed in accordance with the primary objective of the CDBG program (i.e., 
the development of viable urban communities, by providing decent housing and expanding 
economic opportunities, primarily for persons of low and moderate income) and requirements of 
24 CFR parts 91 and 570. 

Following a Plan -- It is following a current consolidated plan that has been approved by HUD. 

Use of Funds -- It has complied with the following criteria: 

1. Maximum Feasible Priority. With respect to activities expected to be assisted with PRO 
Housing funds, it has developed its proposal so as to give maximum feasible priority to 
activities which benefit low- and moderate-income families or aid in the prevention or 
elimination of slums or blight. The proposal may also include activities which the grantee 
certifies are designed to meet other community development needs having particular 
urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or 
welfare of the community, and other financial resources are not available (see Optional 
PRO Housing Certification). 

2. Overall Benefit. The aggregate use of PRO Housing funds shall principally benefit 
persons of low and moderate income in a manner that ensures that at least 70 percent of 
the amount is expended for activities that benefit such persons. 

3. Special Assessments. It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public 
improvements assisted with PRO Housing funds by assessing any amount against 
properties owned and occupied by persons of low and moderate income, including any 
fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public 
improvements. 

However, if PRO Housing funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or assessment that 
relates to the capital costs of public improvements (assisted in part with PRO Housing funds) 
financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may be made against the 
property with respect to the public improvements financed by a source other than PRO 
Housing funds. 

In addition, in the case of properties owned and occupied by moderate-income (not low-
income) families, an assessment or charge may be made against the property for public 
improvements financed by a source other than PRO Housing funds if the jurisdiction certifies 
that it lacks PRO Housing funds to cover the assessment. 

Excessive Force -- It has adopted and is enforcing: 



 

  Page 72 of 80 
 

1. A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its 
jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in non-violent civil rights demonstrations; 
and 

2. A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance 
to or exit from a facility or location which is the subject of such non-violent civil rights 
demonstrations within its jurisdiction. 

Compliance with Anti-discrimination laws -- The grant will be conducted and administered in 
conformity with title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d) and the Fair Housing 
Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-3619) and implementing regulations. 

Lead-Based Paint -- Its activities concerning lead-based paint will comply with the 
requirements of 24 CFR part 35, subparts A, B, J, K and R; and EPA's lead-based paint rules 
(e.g., Repair, Renovation and Painting; Pre-Renovation Education; and Lead Training and 
Certification (40 CFR part 745)). 

Compliance with RFRA -- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with the 
requirements of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (42 U.S.C. 2000bb) and 24 CFR 5.109, 
allowing the full and fair participation of faith-based entities. 

Environmental Review -- It will comply with environmental review procedures and 
requirements at 24 CFR parts 50 and 58. 

Compliance with Laws -- It will comply with applicable laws. 

  

__________________________________                                       _______________  

Signature of Authorized Official                                                       Date 

__________________________________  

Title 

  

PRO HOUSING CERTIFICATIONS FOR STATE APPLICANTS 

In accordance with the applicable statutes and the regulations governing the consolidated plan 
regulations, the State certifies that: 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing -- The State will affirmatively further fair housing. 

The Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended 
(URA), and Residential Anti-displacement and Relocation Assistance Plan (RARAP) -- It 
will comply with the acquisition and relocation requirements of the URA (42 U.S.C. 4601-4655) 
and implementing regulations at 49 CFR Part 24. It has in effect and is following a RARAP as 
required under 24 CFR Part 42 in connection with any activity assisted with funding under either 
the Community Development Block Grant or HOME programs.. 

Anti-Lobbying --To the best of the State's knowledge and belief: 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 



 

  Page 73 of 80 
 

Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 
Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement; 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, it will complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and 

3. It will require that the language of paragraphs 1 and 2 of this certification be included in 
the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall 
certify and disclose accordingly. 

Authority of State -- The submission of the PRO Housing application is authorized under State 
law and the State possesses the legal authority to carry out the programs under the consolidated 
plan for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD regulations. 

Consistency with plan -- The housing activities to be undertaken PRO Housing funds are 
consistent with the strategic plan in the State’s consolidated plan. 

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 
(12 U.S.C. 1701u) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 75. 

Build America, Buy America (BABA) – It will comply with Title IX, Subpart A of the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 (41 U.S.C. 8301 et seq.). 

Public Participation -- It is in full compliance with the PRO Housing streamlined public 
participation requirements found in Section VI.E of the PRO Housing NOFO and each unit of 
general local government that receives assistance from the State is in full compliance with the 
same. 

Consultation with Local Governments -- 

1. It has consulted with affected units of local government in the non-entitlement area of the 
State in determining the method of distribution of funding, if applicable; 

2. It engages in or will engage in planning for community development activities; 
3. It provides or will provide technical assistance to units of local government in connection 

with community development programs; and 
4. It will not refuse to distribute funds to any unit of general local government on the basis of 

the particular eligible activity selected by the unit of general local government to meet its 
community development needs, except that a State is not prevented from establishing 
priorities in distributing funding on the basis of the activities selected. 

Local Needs Identification – It will require each unit of general local government to be funded 
to identify its community development and housing needs, including the needs of low-income 
and moderate-income families, and the activities to be undertaken to meet these needs. 



 

  Page 74 of 80 
 

Community Development Plan -- Its consolidated plan identifies community development and 
housing needs and specifies both short-term and long-term community development objectives 
that have been developed in accordance with the primary objective of the CDBG program (i.e., 
the development of viable urban communities, by providing decent housing and expanding 
economic opportunities, primarily for persons of low and moderate income) and requirements of 
24 CFR parts 91 and 570. 

Use of Funds -- It has complied with the following criteria: 

1. Maximum Feasible Priority. With respect to activities expected to be assisted with PRO 
Housing funds, it has developed its proposal so as to give maximum feasible priority to 
activities which benefit low- and moderate-income families or aid in the prevention or 
elimination of slums or blight. The proposal may also include activities which the grantee 
certifies are designed to meet other community development needs having particular 
urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or 
welfare of the community, and other financial resources are not available (see Optional 
PRO Housing Certification). 

2. Overall Benefit. The aggregate use of PRO Housing funds shall principally benefit 
persons of low and moderate income in a manner that ensures that at least 70 percent of 
the amount is expended for activities that benefit such persons. 

3. Special Assessments. It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public 
improvements assisted with PRO Housing funds by assessing any amount against 
properties owned and occupied by persons of low and moderate income, including any 
fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public 
improvements. However, if PRO Housing funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or 
assessment that relates to the capital costs of public improvements (assisted in part with 
PRO Housing funds) financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may 
be made against the property with respect to the public improvements financed by a 
source other than PRO Housing funds. In addition, in the case of properties owned and 
occupied by moderate-income (not low-income) families, an assessment or charge may 
be made against the property for public improvements financed by a source other than 
PRO Housing funds if the jurisdiction certifies that it lacks PRO Housing funds to cover 
the assessment. 

Excessive Force -- It will require units of general local government that receive CDBG funds to 
certify that they have adopted and are enforcing: 

1. A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its 
jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in non-violent civil rights demonstrations; 
and 

2. A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance 
to or exit from a facility or location which is the subject of such non-violent civil rights 
demonstrations within its jurisdiction. 

Compliance with Anti-discrimination laws -- The grant will be conducted and administered in 
conformity with title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d) and the Fair Housing 
Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-3619) and implementing regulations. 



 

  Page 75 of 80 
 

Lead-Based Paint -- Its activities concerning lead-based paint will comply with the 
requirements of 24 CFR part 35, subparts A, B, J, K and R; and EPA's lead-based paint rules 
(e.g., Repair, Renovation and Painting; Pre-Renovation Education; and Lead Training and 
Certification (40 CFR part 745)). 

Compliance with RFRA -- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with 
the requirements of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (42 U.S.C. 2000bb) and 24 CFR 
5.109, allowing the full and fair participation of faith-based entities. 

Environmental Review -- It will comply with environmental review procedures and 
requirements at 24 CFR parts 50 and 58. 

Compliance with Laws -- It will comply with applicable laws. 

  

__________________________________                                  _______________  

Signature of Authorized Official                                                       Date 

__________________________________  

Title 

  

PRO HOUSING CERTIFICATIONS FOR METROPOLITAN PLANNING 
ORGANIZATION (MPO) APPLICANTS AND NON-ENTITLEMENT LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT APPLICANTS 

 The applicant certifies that: 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing -- The MPO will affirmatively further fair housing. 

The Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended 
(URA) -- It will comply with the acquisition and relocation requirements of the URA (42 U.S.C. 
4601-4655) and implementing regulations at 49 CFR Part 24. 

Anti-Lobbying --To the best of the jurisdiction's knowledge and belief: 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 
Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement; 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, it will complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and 



 

  Page 76 of 80 
 

3. It will require that the language of paragraph 1 and 2 of this anti-lobbying certification be 
included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all 
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

Authority of MPO – The submission of the PRO Housing application is authorized under State 
and local law (as applicable) and the MPO possesses the legal authority to carry out the programs 
for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD regulations. 

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 
(12 U.S.C. 1701u) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 75. 

Build America, Buy America (BABA) – It will comply with Title IX, Subpart A of the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 (41 U.S.C. 8301 et seq.). 

Public Participation -- It is in full compliance with the PRO Housing streamlined public 
participation requirements found in Section VI.E of the PRO Housing NOFO. 

Use of Funds -- It has complied with the following criteria: 

1. Maximum Feasible Priority. With respect to activities expected to be assisted with PRO 
Housing funds, it has developed its PRO Housing proposal so as to give maximum 
feasible priority to activities which benefit low- and moderate-income families or aid in 
the prevention or elimination of slums or blight. The PRO Housing proposal may also 
include PRO Housing-assisted activities which the grantee certifies are designed to meet 
other community development needs having particular urgency because existing 
conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or welfare of the community, 
and other financial resources are not available (see Optional PRO Housing Certification). 

2. Overall Benefit. PRO Housing funds shall principally benefit persons of low and 
moderate income in a manner that ensures that at least 70 percent of the amount is 
expended for activities that benefit such persons. 

3. Special Assessments. It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public 
improvements assisted with PRO Housing funds by assessing any amount against 
properties owned and occupied by persons of low and moderate income, including any 
fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public 
improvements. However, if PRO Housing funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or 
assessment that relates to the capital costs of public improvements (assisted in part with 
PRO Housing funds) financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may 
be made against the property with respect to the public improvements financed by a 
source other than PRO Housing funds. In addition, in the case of properties owned and 
occupied by moderate-income (not low-income) families, an assessment or charge may 
be made against the property for public improvements financed by a source other than 
PRO Housing funds if the jurisdiction certifies that it lacks PRO Housing funds to cover 
the assessment. 

Excessive Force – Each member State or local government has adopted and is enforcing: 

1. A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its 
jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in non-violent civil rights demonstrations; 
and 



 

  Page 77 of 80 
 

2. A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance 
to or exit from a facility or location which is the subject of such non-violent civil rights 
demonstrations within its jurisdiction. 

Compliance with Anti-discrimination laws -- The grant will be conducted and administered in 
conformity with title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d) and the Fair Housing 
Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-3619) and implementing regulations. 

Lead-Based Paint -- Its activities concerning lead-based paint will comply with the 
requirements of 24 CFR part 35, subparts A, B, J, K and R; and EPA's lead-based paint rules 
(e.g., Repair, Renovation and Painting; Pre-Renovation Education; and Lead Training and 
Certification (40 CFR part 745)). 

Compliance with RFRA -- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with 
the requirements of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (42 U.S.C. 2000bb) and 24 CFR 
5.109, allowing the full and fair participation of faith-based entities. 

Compliance with Laws -- It will comply with applicable laws. 

  

____________________________________                                  _______________  

Signature of Authorized Official                                                       Date 

__________________________________  

Title 

  

PRO HOUSING CERTIFICATIONS FOR MULTIJURISDICTIONAL ENTITY 
APPLICANTS 

The multijurisdictional entity applicant(s) certifies that: 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing -- The jurisdiction(s) will affirmatively further fair 
housing. 

The Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended 
(URA) -- It will comply with the acquisition and relocation requirements of the Uniform 
Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, (42 
U.S.C. 4601-4655) and implementing regulations at 49 CFR Part 24. 

Anti-Lobbying --To the best of the jurisdictions’ knowledge and belief: 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 
Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement; 



 

  Page 78 of 80 
 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 
agreement, it will complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report 
Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and 

3. It will require that the language of paragraph 1 and 2 of this anti-lobbying certification be 
included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all 
subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

Authority of Jurisdiction(s) -- The submission of the PRO Housing application is authorized 
under State and local law (as applicable) and the jurisdiction(s) possesses the legal authority to 
carry out the programs for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD 
regulations. 

Consistency with plan – If any member(s) of the multijurisdictional entity applicant is a 
recipient of funding under Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, the 
entity certifies that the housing activities to be undertaken with PRO Housing funds are 
consistent with the strategic plan in the jurisdictions’ consolidated plan. 

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 
(12 U.S.C. 1701u) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 75. 

Build America, Buy America (BABA) – It will comply with Title IX, Subpart A of the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021 (41 U.S.C. 8301 et seq.). 

Public Participation – It is in full compliance with the PRO Housing streamlined public 
participation requirements found in Section VI.E of the PRO Housing NOFO. 

Community Development Plan -- If any member(s) of the multijurisdictional entity applicant is 
a recipient of funding under Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, 
the entity certifies that its consolidated plan identifies community development and housing 
needs and specifies both short-term and long-term community development objectives that have 
been developed in accordance with the primary objective of the CDBG program (i.e., the 
development of viable urban communities, by providing decent housing and expanding 
economic opportunities, primarily for persons of low and moderate income) and requirements of 
24 CFR parts 91 and 570. 

Use of Funds -- It has complied with the following criteria: 

1. Maximum Feasible Priority. With respect to activities expected to be assisted with PRO 
Housing funds, it has developed its proposal so as to give maximum feasible priority to 
activities which benefit low- and moderate-income families or aid in the prevention or 
elimination of slums or blight. The proposal may also include activities which the grantee 
certifies are designed to meet other community development needs having particular 
urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or 
welfare of the community, and other financial resources are not available (see Optional 
PRO Housing Certification). 



 

  Page 79 of 80 
 

2. Overall Benefit. The aggregate use of PRO Housing funds shall principally benefit 
persons of low and moderate income in a manner that ensures that at least 70 percent of 
the amount is expended for activities that benefit such persons. 

3. Special Assessments. It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public 
improvements assisted with PRO Housing funds by assessing any amount against 
properties owned and occupied by persons of low and moderate income, including any 
fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public 
improvements. 

However, if PRO Housing funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or assessment 
that relates to the capital costs of public improvements (assisted in part with PRO 
Housing funds) financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may be 
made against the property with respect to the public improvements financed by a source 
other than PRO Housing funds. 

In addition, in the case of properties owned and occupied by moderate-income (not low-
income) families, an assessment or charge may be made against the property for public 
improvements financed by a source other than PRO Housing funds if the jurisdiction 
certifies that it lacks PRO Housing funds to cover the assessment. 

Excessive Force -- Each member State or local government has adopted and is enforcing: 

1. A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its 
jurisdiction against any individuals engaged in non-violent civil rights demonstrations; 
and 

2. A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance 
to or exit from a facility or location which is the subject of such non-violent civil rights 
demonstrations within its jurisdiction. 

Compliance with Anti-discrimination laws -- The grant will be conducted and administered in 
conformity with title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d) and the Fair Housing 
Act (42 U.S.C. 3601-3619) and implementing regulations. 

Lead-Based Paint -- Its activities concerning lead-based paint will comply with the 
requirements of 24 CFR part 35, subparts A, B, J, K and R; and EPA's lead-based paint rules 
(e.g., Repair, Renovation and Painting; Pre-Renovation Education; and Lead Training and 
Certification (40 CFR part 745)). 

Compliance with RFRA -- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with 
the requirements of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (42 U.S.C. 2000bb) and 24 CFR 
5.109, allowing the full and fair participation of faith-based entities. 

Compliance with Laws -- It will comply with applicable laws. 

  

____________________________________                                  _______________  

Signature of Authorized Official                                                       Date 

__________________________________  

Title 



 

  Page 80 of 80 
 

  

OPTIONAL PRO HOUSING URGENT NEED CERTIFICATION 

Submit the following certification only when one or more of the activities in the PRO Housing 
proposal are designed to meet other community development needs having particular urgency as 
specified in 24 CFR 570.208(c): 

The grantee hereby certifies that the PRO Housing proposal includes one or more specifically 
identified PRO Housing-assisted activities which are designed to meet other community 
development needs having particular urgency because existing conditions pose a serious and 
immediate threat to the health or welfare of the community and other financial resources are not 
available to meet such needs. 

____________________________________                                  _______________  

Signature of Authorized Official                                                       Date 

__________________________________  

Title 

 



 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-120 

 

A RESOLUTION TO RATIFY THE SUBMISSION OF THE APPLICATION 

TO HUD FOR THE PRO HOUSING GRANT.; AND PROVIDING THAT 

THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER 

ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Community Development Department requests the approval to submit a 

grant application to HUD for the PRO Housing Grant. HUD will provide PRO Housing grants to 

identify and remove barriers to affordable housing production and preservation. Grantees may 

use awards to further develop, evaluate, and implement housing policy plans, improve housing 

strategies, and facilitate affordable housing production and preservation. Eligible applicants are 

local and state governments, metropolitan planning organizations (MPOs), and 

multijurisdictional entities. 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

 SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, approves the 

submission of this application on behalf the City of Texas City to further the City's mission to 

provide decent and affordable housing to low and moderate-income citizens. 

 
 SECTION 2:  That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 
and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor    

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (f)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
2025 International 14 Yard Dump Truck
Submitted For: Mike McKinley, Public Works  Submitted By: Mike McKinley, Public

Works
Department: Public Works

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve the purchase of 2025 International 14 yard dump truck from Santex Truck Center,
LTD in San Antonio, Texas through the HGACBuy Cooperative Purchasing Program for the
total contract price of $140,381.00.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
This truck is to replace a 2002 dump truck and will be purchased through HGACBuy contract
# HT06-20 for the total contract price of $140,381.00 and it will be a model year 2025. Funds
are made available in the 2024 City of Texas City Budget through the Capital Equipment
Replacement Fund - Public Works Department.

The HGACBuy work sheet is attached for your review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Public Works Department to award the purchase of this
equipment from Santex Truck Center, LTD. through the H-GAC Cooperative Purchasing
Program for the total contract price of $140,381.00.

Thank you.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Exhibit A 
Resolution 





 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-121 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE AND DELIVERY OF ONE 

(1) 2025 INTERNATIONAL 14-YARD DUMP TRUCK FROM 

SANTEX TRUCK CENTER, LTD IN SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS THROUGH 

THE HGACBUY COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM; AND 

PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, funds are made available in the 2024 City of Texas City Budget through the 

Capital Equipment Replacement Fund - Public Works Department for the purchase of a 2025 

International 4300 4x2 Dump Truck; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the expenditure of $140,381.00 through HGACBuy Contract No. HT06-20, as set out on Exhibit 

“A”, attached hereto, for one (1) 2025 International 14-yard dump truck to be utilized by the Public 

Works Department. 

 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor    

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (g)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Purchase of Tymco Model 600 Street Sweeper
Submitted For: Mike McKinley, Public Works  Submitted By: Mike McKinley, Public

Works
Department: Public Works

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve the purchase of a Tymco model 600 sweeper.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
Purchase of the Tymco Street Sweeper is to replace one of the City's current, older models.
The purchase will from Tymco, Inc. in Fort Worth Texas, through BuyBoard purchasing
cooperative contract number 685-22. The total cost for this machine will be $358,948.20 and
funds for this are made available in the Capitol Equipment Replacement Fund section of the
City of Texas City's 2023/2024 budget.

A copy of the BuyBoard Worksheet is attached for you review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Public Works Department to award the purchase of this
equipment from Tymco, Inc. through BuyBoard purchasing cooperative for the total contract
amount of $358,948.20.

Thank you.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Exhibit A 
Resolution 







 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-122 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE AND DELIVERY OF ONE 

(1) TYMCO STREET SWEEPER THROUGH BUYBOARD PURCHASING 

COOPERATIVE CONTRACT NUMBER 685-22; AND PROVIDING THAT 

THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER 

ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, funds are made available in the Capitol Equipment Replacement Fund section 

of the City of Texas City's 2023/2024 budget for the purchase of a Tymco Street Sweeper. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the expenditure of $358,948.20  through BuyBoard purchasing cooperative contract number 685-22, 

as set out on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, for one (1) 2024 Tymco Street Sweeper to be utilized by 

the Public Works Department. 

 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor    

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (h)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Purchase of Ford F350 With Utility Bed and Crane
Submitted For: Mike McKinley, Public Works  Submitted By: Mike McKinley, Public

Works
Department: Public Works

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Approve the purchase of a new 2024 F350 truck with utility bed and crane, for the Traffic
Department from Chastang Ford in Houston Texas via BuyBoard - Local Government
Purchasing Cooperative contract # 601-19

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The Public Works Traffic Department is requesting approval to purchase an F350 truck with
utility bed and crane from Chastang Ford, via BuyBoard contract 601-19, for the total price
$68,296.00. Funds are made available through the 2023/2024 City of Texas City
Annual Budget.

The BuyBoard quote is attached for your review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Public Works and Utilities departments to approve the
purchase of a new F350 truck with utility bed and crane from Chastang Ford
via BuyBoard contract # 601-19 for the total contract price of $68,296.00

Thank you.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Exhibit A 
Resolution 











 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-123 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE AND DELIVERY OF ONE 

(1) F350 TRUCK WITH UTILITY BED AND CRANE FROM CHASTANG 

FORD, HOUSTON, TEXAS, VIA BUYBOARD CONTRACT 601-19; AND 

PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, funds are made through the 2023/2024 City of Texas City Annual Budget. for 

the purchase of an F350 truck with utility bed and crane. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the expenditure of $68,296.00 through BuyBoard contract 601-19 as set out on Exhibit “A”, 

attached hereto, for one (1) 2024 F350 truck with utility bed and crane to be utilized by the Public 

Works Traffic Department. 

 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor   

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (i)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted For: Dennis J Harris, Recreation and Tourism 
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action Resolution No. 2023-124, approving the purchase, delivery and
installation of a Covered Outdoor Commercial Adult Fitness Station for Carver Park from
Playpower LT Farmington, Inc through buyboard (contract # 679-22) – local government
purchasing cooperative.
 

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
Over the year the Parks, Recreation & Tourism Department has established
re-vitalization programs to all parks and playgrounds to offer new and different
amenities. This Little tykes 10 plus feature – covered outdoor commercial adult fitness
station will be a new addition and amenity to Caver Park.  On October 4, 2023, a
proposal was submitted to the Parks, Recreation & Tourism Department Parks
Superintendent.
A copy of this proposal is attached for your review.

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Parks, Recreation & Tourism Department to award the
purchase, delivery and installation of the covered outdoor commercial adult fitness
station to Playpower LT Farmington, Inc. through buyboard (contract # 679-22) in the
amount of $112,073.00, funds are available in the FY 2023-24 budget.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 
attachment 



 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-124 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING PURCHASE, DELIVERY, AND 

INSTALLATION OF A COVERED OUTDOOR COMMERCIAL ADULT 

FITNESS STATION FOR CARVER PARK FROM PLAYPOWER LT 

FARMINGTON, INC THROUGH BUYBOARD CONTRACT NO. 679-22 – 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PURCHASING COOPERATIVE; AND 

PROVIDING THAT THIS RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE 

FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, funds are made through the 2023/2024 City of Texas City Annual Budget for 

the purchase of a 2024 F350 truck with utility bed and crane. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the expenditure of $68,296.00 through BuyBoard Contract No. 601-19 as set out on Exhibit “A”, 

attached hereto, for one (1) 2024 F350 truck with utility bed and crane to be utilized by the Public 

Works Traffic Department. 

 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor   

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 























   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (6) (j)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on Resolution No. 2023-125 approving the purchase of construction
services for Godard Park Buildings from Generocity Services, Inc (contract #23/016MR-17 ) -
local government purchasing cooperative.

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
The Parks, Recreation & Tourism Department contacted Generocity Services Inc.  on
October 2, 2023, for Construction Services at Godard Park. On October 17, 2023, a
proposal was submitted to the Recreation & Tourism Department Parks
Superintendent. This proposal covers tasks such as painting 8 buildings, refurbishing the
batting cage structure, and addressing essential roof and soffit repairs for the Pony Colt
concession building. 
Attached is a copy of the proposal for your review. 

RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the Parks, Recreation & Tourism Department to approve the
purchase of construction services for Godard Park buildings from Generocity Services,
Inc. through choice partners (contract #23/016MR-17) -local government purchasing
cooperative for a total amount of $59,732.05. Funds are available in the Rec and Tour
FY 2023-23 budget.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
attachment 
Resolution 

















 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2023-125 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CONSTRUCTION 

SERVICES FOR GODARD PARK BUILDINGS FROM GENEROCITY 

SERVICES, INC. CONTRACT NO. 23/016MR-17 - LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

PURCHASING COOPERATIVE; AND PROVIDING THAT THIS 

RESOLUTION SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND AFTER ITS 

PASSAGE AND ADOPTION.  

 

WHEREAS, funds are made through the 2023/2024 City of Texas City Annual Budget for 

the purchase of construction services for Godard Park Buildings from Generocity Services, Inc. 

(Contract No. 23/016MR-17), local government purchasing cooperative. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1: That the City Commission of the City of Texas City, Texas, hereby approves 

the expenditure of $59,732.00 from Generocity Services, Inc (Contract No. 23/016MR-17), local 

government purchasing cooperative as set out on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, Godard Park 

buildings from Generocity Services, Inc.. 

 

SECTION 2: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr. Mayor   

      City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

                                                        _____________________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 
 

 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (a)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
amending Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV “Land Usage,” Chp 151: Electricity; Section
151.080
Submitted For: Kyle Dickson, City Attorney Office 
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on the third and final reading of Ordinance No. 2023-37, amending
the Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 151: Electricity;
Section 151.080 Entitled “National Electrical Code Adopted: Conflicting Regulations."
(Legal/Building Official)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 



Page 1 of 4 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-37 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS, TEXAS 

AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV ENTITLED “LAND USAGE”, 

CHAPTER 151: ELECTRICITY; SECTION 151.080 ENTITLED “NATIONAL 

ELECTRICAL CODE ADOPTED: CONFLICTING REGULATIONS” AND PROVIDING 

FOR PUBLICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES 

IN CONFLICT WITH THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; AND 

PROVIDING THAT THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM AND 

AFTER ITS PASSAGE AND ADOPTION. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas is authorized to regulate ordinances pursuant 

to Texas Local Government Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the city of Texas City, Texas needs to amend the 

Code of Ordinance Title XV Entitled “Land Usage”, Chapter 151 – Electricity to adopt the most 

current National Electric Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City utilizes the code council “Family of Models Building 

Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to TEX. LOCAL GOV’T. CODE § 214.211 et seq., and TEX. HEALTH 

& SAFTY CODE § 388.003 et seq. the city of Texas City, Texas is authorized to adopt standard 

building codes for residential, commercial and industrial construction; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission determines that amending Title XV, Section 151, will 

promote the health, safety and welfare of the City; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are 

incorporated herein as findings of fact. The City Commission hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions, and requirements of this ordinance are 

reasonable and necessary to protect the public health, safety, and quality of life. The City of Texas 

City’s Code of Ordinances, Section 151.080 (entitled “National Electrical Code Adopted; 

Conflicting Regulations”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 

in Section 151.080(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 151.080(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the city an electrical code 

known as the National Electrical Code (NEC), 2023 edition, with appendices and 

amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the National Fire Protection 

Association and approved by the American National Standards Institute, which 

code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated in this section 

and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code is filed of 

record in the office of the City Secretary. Such code is hereby adopted as the 



Page 2 of 4 

minimum standard for the installation of all electrical wiring, devices and 

equipment in the city, except as otherwise specifically provided in this chapter. 

Adoption of subsequent amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic 

upon publication by American National Standards Institute.  

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be cumulative of all provisions of the City of Texas 

City, Texas, except where the provisions of this Ordinance are in direct conflict with the provisions 

of such Ordinances, in which event the more restrictive provision shall apply. 

 

Section 3.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Commission of the City 

of Texas City that the phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Commission without incorporation in this Ordinance of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, 

sentence, paragraph or section. 

 

Section 4. All rights and privileges of the City of Texas City are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any Ordinances affecting land use or development, which 

have accrued at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations 

and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

Ordinances, same shall not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 

disposition by the courts. 

 

 Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be read on three (3) separate days and shall 

become effective upon its final reading, passage, and adoption. 

 

Section 6. That this Ordinance shall be finally passed upon the date of its introduction 

and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption and publication by caption only 

in the official newspaper of the City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 PASSED ON FIRST READING this 4th day of October 2023. 

 

 

 

 ________________________ 

 Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

 City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

   



Page 3 of 4 

 

  



Page 4 of 4 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND READING this 18th day of October 2023. 

 

 

 

 ________________________ 

 Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

 City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

 

 

  PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

 

 ________________________ 

 Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

 City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_______________________    _______________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (b)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-39, amending the
Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 150: Building
Regulations; Construction" to adopt the most current International Building
Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 



Page 1 of 5 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-39 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS, TEXAS, 

AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV ENTITLED “LAND USAGE”, 

CHAPTER 150 ENTITLED “BUILDING REGULATIONS; CONSTRUCTION”; AND 

PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas is authorized to regulate ordinances pursuant 

to Texas Local Government Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the city of Texas City, Texas needs to amend the 

Code of Ordinance Title XV Entitled “Land Usage”, Chapter 150 – Building Regulations; 

Construction to adopt the most current International Building Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City utilizes the code council “Family of Models Building 

Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to TEX. LOCAL GOV’T. CODE § 214.211 et seq., and TEX. HEALTH 

& SAFTY CODE § 388.003 et seq. the city of Texas City, Texas is authorized to adopt standard 

building codes for residential, commercial and industrial construction; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission determines that amending Title XV, Chapter 150, will 

promote the health, safety and welfare of the City; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are 

incorporated herein as findings of fact. The City Commission hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions, and requirements of this ordinance are 

reasonable and necessary to protect the public health, safety, and quality of life. The City of Texas 

City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 - Entitled “Building Regulations; Construction” is hereby 

amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language in Section 150.050(A) and replacing 

it with the following: 

 

Sec. 151.050(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Building Code, 2021 edition, with appendices and 

amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code Council, 

Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated 

in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code 

is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of subsequent 

amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon publication by the 

International Code Council, Inc.  

 

The City of Texas City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 (Entitled “150 – Building 

Regulations; Construction”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 



Page 2 of 5 

in Section 150.065(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 154.065(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Amusement Device Code, 2021 edition, with 

appendices and amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International 

Code Council, Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, 

incorporated in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy 

of such code is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of 

subsequent amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon 

publication by the International Code Council, Inc.  

 

The City of Texas City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 (Entitled “150 – Building 

Regulations; Construction”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 

in Section 150.066(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 154.066(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Property Maintenance Code, 2021 edition, with 

appendices and amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International 

Code Council, Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, 

incorporated in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy 

of such code is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of 

subsequent amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon 

publication by the International Code Council, Inc.  

 

The City of Texas City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 (Entitled “150 – Building 

Regulations; Construction”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 

in Section 150.067(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 154.067(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Energy Conservation Code, 2021 edition, with 

appendices and amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International 

Code Council, Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, 

incorporated in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy 

of such code is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of 

subsequent amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon 

publication by the International Code Council, Inc.  

 

 The City of Texas City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 (Entitled “150 – Building 

Regulations; Construction”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 

in Section 150.070(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 151.070(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Existing Building Code, 2021 edition, with appendices 

and amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code 

Council, Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, 

incorporated in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy 



Page 3 of 5 

of such code is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of 

subsequent amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon 

publication by the International Code Council, Inc.  

 

The City of Texas City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 150 (Entitled “150 – Building 

Regulations; Construction”) is hereby amended by deleting in its entirety all the existing language 

in Section 150.071(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 151.071(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Housing Code, 2021 edition, with appendices and 

amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code Council, 

Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated 

in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code 

is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of subsequent 

amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon publication by the 

International Code Council, Inc.  

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be cumulative of all provisions of the City of Texas 

City, Texas, except where the provisions of this Ordinance are in direct conflict with the provisions 

of such Ordinances, in which event the more restrictive provision shall apply. 

 

Section 3.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Commission of the City 

of Texas City that the phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Commission without incorporation in this Ordinance of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, 

sentence, paragraph or section. 

 

Section 4. All rights and privileges of the City of Texas City are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any Ordinances affecting land use or development, which 

have accrued at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations 

and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

Ordinances, same shall not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 

disposition by the courts. 

 

 Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be read on three (3) separate days and shall 

become effective upon its final reading, passage, and adoption. 

 

Section 6. That this Ordinance shall be finally passed upon the date of its introduction 

and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption and publication by caption only 

in the official newspaper of the City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 PASSED ON FIRST READING this 16th day of October 2023. 

 



Page 4 of 5 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

   

 

  



Page 5 of 5 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND READING this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

 

 

  PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED this 15th day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_______________________    _______________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (c)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-40, amending the
Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 152: Gas," to adopt
the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 



Page 1 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-40 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS, TEXAS 

AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV ENTITLED “LAND USAGE”, 

CHAPTER 152 ENTITLED “GAS”; AND PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas is authorized to regulate ordinances pursuant 

to Texas Local Government Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the city of Texas City, Texas needs to amend the 

Code of Ordinance Title XV Entitled “Land Usage”, Chapter 152 – Gas to adopt the most current 

International Building Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City utilizes the code council “Family of Models Building 

Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to TEX. LOCAL GOV’T. CODE § 214.211 et seq., and TEX. HEALTH 

& SAFTY CODE § 388.003 et seq. the city of Texas City, Texas is authorized to adopt standard 

building codes for residential, commercial and industrial construction; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission determines that amending Title XV, Chapter 152, will 

promote the health, safety and welfare of the City; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are 

incorporated herein as findings of fact. The City Commission hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions, and requirements of this ordinance are 

reasonable and necessary to protect the public health, safety, and quality of life. The City of Texas 

City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 152 - Entitled “Gas” is hereby amended by deleting in its 

entirety all the existing language in Section 152.04(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 152.04(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code known 

as the International Fuel Gas Code, 2021 edition, with appendices and amendments 

thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code Council, Inc., which 

code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated in this section 

and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code is filed of 

record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of subsequent amendments, 

supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon publication by the International 

Code Council, Inc.  

 

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be cumulative of all provisions of the City of Texas 

City, Texas, except where the provisions of this Ordinance are in direct conflict with the provisions 



Page 2 of 3 

of such Ordinances, in which event the more restrictive provision shall apply. 

 

Section 3.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Commission of the City 

of Texas City that the phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Commission without incorporation in this Ordinance of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, 

sentence, paragraph or section. 

 

Section 4. All rights and privileges of the City of Texas City are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any Ordinances affecting land use or development, which 

have accrued at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations 

and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

Ordinances, same shall not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 

disposition by the courts. 

 

 Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be read on three (3) separate days and shall 

become effective upon its final reading, passage, and adoption. 

 

Section 6. That this Ordinance shall be finally passed upon the date of its introduction 

and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption and publication by caption only 

in the official newspaper of the City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 PASSED ON FIRST READING this 16th day of October 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

   

 

  



Page 3 of 3 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND READING this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

 

 

  PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED this 15th day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_______________________    _______________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (d)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-41, amending the
Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 153: Mechanical
Regulations," to adopt the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 



Page 1 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-41 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS, TEXAS 

AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV ENTITLED “LAND USAGE”, 

CHAPTER 153 ENTITLED “MECHANICAL REGULATIONS”; AND PROVIDING FOR 

PUBLICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas is authorized to regulate ordinances pursuant 

to Texas Local Government Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the city of Texas City, Texas needs to amend the 

Code of Ordinance Title XV Entitled “Land Usage”, Chapter 153 – Mechanical Regulations to 

adopt the most current International Building Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City utilizes the code council “Family of Models Building 

Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to TEX. LOCAL GOV’T. CODE § 214.211 et seq., and TEX. HEALTH 

& SAFTY CODE § 388.003 et seq. the city of Texas City, Texas is authorized to adopt standard 

building codes for residential, commercial and industrial construction; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission determines that amending Title XV, Chapter 153, will 

promote the health, safety and welfare of the City; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are 

incorporated herein as findings of fact. The City Commission hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions, and requirements of this ordinance are 

reasonable and necessary to protect the public health, safety, and quality of life. The City of Texas 

City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 153 - Entitled “Mechanical” is hereby amended by deleting 

in its entirety all the existing language in Section 153.01(A) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 153.01(A) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code known 

as the International Mechanical Code, 2021 edition, with appendices and 

amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code Council, 

Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated 

in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code 

is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of subsequent 

amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon publication by the 

International Code Council, Inc.  

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be cumulative of all provisions of the City of Texas 

City, Texas, except where the provisions of this Ordinance are in direct conflict with the provisions 

of such Ordinances, in which event the more restrictive provision shall apply. 



Page 2 of 3 

 

Section 3.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Commission of the City 

of Texas City that the phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Commission without incorporation in this Ordinance of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, 

sentence, paragraph or section. 

 

Section 4. All rights and privileges of the City of Texas City are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any Ordinances affecting land use or development, which 

have accrued at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations 

and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

Ordinances, same shall not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 

disposition by the courts. 

 

 Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be read on three (3) separate days and shall 

become effective upon its final reading, passage, and adoption. 

 

Section 6. That this Ordinance shall be finally passed upon the date of its introduction 

and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption and publication by caption only 

in the official newspaper of the City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 PASSED ON FIRST READING this 16th day of October 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

   

 

  



Page 3 of 3 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND READING this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

 

 

  PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED this 15th day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_______________________    _______________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MTG (7) (e)        
Meeting Date: 11/01/2023  
Submitted By: Rhomari Leigh, City Secretary
Department: City Secretary

Information
ACTION REQUEST
Consider and take action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 2023-42, amending the
Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV Entitled “Land Usage,” Chapter 154: Plumbing," to
adopt the most current International Building Codes. (Legal/Building Official)

BACKGROUND (Brief Summary)
RECOMMENDATION

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 



Page 1 of 3 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-42 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF TEXAS, TEXAS 

AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV ENTITLED “LAND USAGE”, 

CHAPTER 154 ENTITLED “PLUMBING”; AND PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City, Texas is authorized to regulate ordinances pursuant 

to Texas Local Government Code;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission of the city of Texas City, Texas needs to amend the 

Code of Ordinance Title XV Entitled “Land Usage”, Chapter 154 – Plumbing to adopt the most 

current International Building Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Texas City utilizes the code council “Family of Models Building 

Codes;  

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to TEX. LOCAL GOV’T. CODE § 214.211 et seq., and TEX. HEALTH 

& SAFTY CODE § 388.003 et seq. the city of Texas City, Texas is authorized to adopt standard 

building codes for residential, commercial and industrial construction; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission determines that amending Title XV, Chapter 154, will 

promote the health, safety and welfare of the City; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY 

OF TEXAS CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 Section 1. The above and foregoing recitals are hereby found to be true and correct and are 

incorporated herein as findings of fact. The City Commission hereby further finds and determines 

that the rules, regulations, terms, conditions, provisions, and requirements of this ordinance are 

reasonable and necessary to protect the public health, safety, and quality of life. The City of Texas 

City’s Code of Ordinances, Chapter 154 - Entitled “Plumbing” is hereby amended by deleting in 

its entirety all the existing language in Section 154.05(A)(1) and replacing it with the following: 

 

Sec. 154.05(A)(1) - There is hereby adopted for and by the City a standard code 

known as the International Plumbing Code, 2021 edition, with appendices and 

amendments thereto, passed and recommended by the International Code Council, 

Inc., which code is published in book form and which is referred to, incorporated 

in this section and made a part of this section for all purposes. A copy of such code 

is filed of record in the office of the City Secretary. Adoption of subsequent 

amendments, supplement or new edition(s) is automatic upon publication by the 

International Code Council, Inc.  

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall be cumulative of all provisions of the City of Texas 

City, Texas, except where the provisions of this Ordinance are in direct conflict with the provisions 

of such Ordinances, in which event the more restrictive provision shall apply. 



Page 2 of 3 

 

Section 3.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Commission of the City 

of Texas City that the phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs, and sections of this Ordinance are 

severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance should be 

declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City 

Commission without incorporation in this Ordinance of any such unconstitutional phrase, clause, 

sentence, paragraph or section. 

 

Section 4. All rights and privileges of the City of Texas City are expressly saved as to 

any and all violations of the provisions of any Ordinances affecting land use or development, which 

have accrued at the time of the effective date of this Ordinance; and, as to such accrued violations 

and all pending litigation, both civil and criminal, whether pending in court or not, under such 

Ordinances, same shall not be affected by this Ordinance but may be prosecuted until final 

disposition by the courts. 

 

 Section 5. That this Ordinance shall be read on three (3) separate days and shall 

become effective upon its final reading, passage, and adoption. 

 

Section 6. That this Ordinance shall be finally passed upon the date of its introduction 

and shall become effective from and after its passage and adoption and publication by caption only 

in the official newspaper of the City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 PASSED ON FIRST READING this 16th day of October 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

   

 

  



Page 3 of 3 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND READING this 1st day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

ATTEST:  

 

_______________________________ 

Rhomari D. Leigh 

City Secretary 

 

 

  PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED this 15th day of November 2023. 

 

 

________________________ 

Dedrick D. Johnson, Sr., Mayor  

City of Texas City, Texas 

 

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_______________________    _______________________   

Rhomari D. Leigh     Kyle L. Dickson 

City Secretary      City Attorney 


	Agenda
	AI 70287028
	       ATT_Staff Report
	       ATT_attachment
	AI 7010 Finance Quarterly Report
	       ATT_Staff Report
	AI 70117011
	       ATT_Minutes
	AI 6998 GLO Contract No. 22-1199-003-D373 ARKK Engineers Purchase Order Change Orders
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7013 Ambulance Supplemental Pay Program
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Exhibit B
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7014 2023 Employee Christmas Gift Cards
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7015 Ratify submission of PRO Housing Grant Application to HUD
	       ATT_Notice of Funding Opportunity
	OVERVIEW
	I. FUNDING OPPORTUNITY DESCRIPTION
	A. Program Description
	B. Authority
	II. AWARD INFORMATION
	A. Available Funds
	B. Number of Awards
	C. Minimum/Maximum Award Information
	D. Period of Performance
	E. Type of Funding Instrument
	III. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION
	A. Eligible Applicants
	B. Ineligible Applicants
	C. Cost Sharing or Matching
	D. Threshold Eligibility Requirements
	E. Statutory and Regulatory Requirements Affecting Eligibility
	F. Program-Specific Requirements
	G. Criteria for Beneficiaries.
	IV. APPLICATION AND SUBMISSION INFORMATION
	A. Obtain an Application Package
	B. Content and Form of Application Submission
	C.  System for Award Management (SAM) and Unique Entity Identifier (UEI)
	D. Application Submission Dates and Times
	E. Intergovernmental Review
	F. Funding Restrictions
	G. Other Submission Requirements
	V. APPLICATION REVIEW INFORMATION
	A. Review Criteria
	B. Review and Selection Process
	VI. AWARD ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION
	A. Award Notices
	B. Administrative, National and Departmental Policy Requirements and Terms for HUD Applicants and Recipients of Financial Assistance Awards
	C. Reporting
	D. Debriefing
	VII. AGENCY CONTACT(S)
	VIII. OTHER INFORMATION
	APPENDIX

	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7016 2025 International 14 Yard Dump Truck
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7017 Purchase of Tymco Model 600 Street Sweeper
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7018 Purchase of Ford F350 With Utility Bed and Crane
	       ATT_Exhibit A
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 70257025
	       ATT_Resolution
	       ATT_attachment
	AI 70267026
	       ATT_attachment
	       ATT_Resolution
	AI 7019 amending Texas City Code of Ordinances Title XV “Land Usage,” Chp 151: Electricity; Section 151.080
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI 70217021
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI 70227022
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI 70237023
	       ATT_Ordinance
	AI 70247024
	       ATT_Ordinance

